
TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, AUGUST 20, 2013 
      Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
08/20/2013 
 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, August 20, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
 

   
 
Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)             Town Manager Mark Kutney 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)            Town Clerk Susan A. Eichhorn 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)             Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo,Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 
 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE/AGENDA 
 

1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 
b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 
 

 
 
2. CONSENT AGENDA   
 

 
a.  Minutes for Approval:  Revised Minutes of July 16, 2013 
 

Tentative  

Subject to Revision 

 
 

1 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, AUGUST 20, 2013 
      Page 2 of 3  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
08/20/2013 
 

 
3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
4.  PRESENTATIONS - None 
 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS - None 
 
 
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS (Ordinances 2nd Reading) –  
 
 
7.  ORDINANCES  (1st Reading)  - None 
 

a.  Public Hearing:   
 

 
8.   RESOLUTIONS  
 
 
 9.  ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE – Town Manager Kutney 
 
 
10.  OLD BUSINESS    

 
 a. Town Council Discussion and Direction to Staff Regarding Use of Golf Carts and 
  Dune Buggies on Town Roads 
 
 b. Transmission (email) from Tim Hart Woods   
 
  
11. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 a. Clarification of Valley Crest Development Matter 
 
 b. Solid Waste Collection Agreement 
  
  
 

 
 

2 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, AUGUST 20, 2013 
      Page 3 of 3  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
08/20/2013 
 

  
 
 
 
 
12.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 
b. Town Attorney   
 
c. Town Council Members 
 
 

 
13.  ADJOURNMENT 
 

The next Town Council Meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, September 3, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 
A Special Town Council Meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, September 10, 2013 at 5:05 p.m.-  

Public Hearing for the Solid Waste Assessment 
 
 

 
Comment Cards: Anyone from the public wishing to address the Town Council must complete a Comment Card before speaking. This must 
be filled out completely with your full name and address and given to the Town Clerk. During the meeting, before public comments, you may 
only address the item on the agenda in which is being discussed at the time of your comment. During public comments, you may address any 
item you desire. Please remember that there is a three (3) minute time limit on all public comment. Any person who decides to appeal any 
decision of the Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purpose, may 
need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made which included testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
Persons with disabilities requiring accommodations in order to participate should contact the Town Clerk’s Office (561-793-2418), at least 48 
hours in advance to request such accommodation. 

 
 

3 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 

 

 

 

 2.   CONSENT AGENDA 

a.  Minutes for Approval 

 
 

4 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 at 7:00p.m. 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
 

 
 
Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)   Town Manager Mark Kutney 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)   Town Clerk Susan A. Eichhorn 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)   Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo,Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 
 
 

MINUTES 
 

1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 

 
Mayor Browning called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. Present were Mayor David Browning, 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel, and Councilmen Tom Goltzené, Ryan Liang, and Jim Rockett.  
Also present were Bill Underwood, Managing Partner Underwood Management Services Group 
(UMSG), Town Manager Mark Kutney, Town Clerk Susan Eichhorn, Town Attorney Michael 
D. Cirullo, Jr., and Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann. 

 
 
b. Pledge of Allegiance  &  Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 

 
 

5 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



c. Approval of Agenda 
 

Vice Mayor Jarriel requested an addition to the Agenda, under Old Business, Item a.:  Compton 
Road Repair. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the Agenda, as amended.  
The motion was seconded by Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 5/0. 
 

 
 
2. CONSENT AGENDA  
 

 
a. Minutes for Approval:  Revised June 18, 2013; July 2, 2013 Budget Workshop; July 2, 

2013 Regular Town Council Meeting 
 

Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  The 
motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 5/0. 

 
 

3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
Penny Riccio on behalf of Sirdar Trucking, Inc., addressed the Town Council regarding the 
terms of the contract for mowing and vegetation with Sirdar Trucking, Inc.  
 
 
Copies of a document provided by Penny Riccio weredistributed to the Town Council, the Town 
Manager and Town Attorney. 
 
Ms. Riccio addressed the Town Council as follows: 
Mayor Browning and distinguished board members, thank you for allowing me to speak this 
evening.  Sirdar Trucking and Tractor Company is a woman owned, minority owned small 
business enterprise designated business.  It most assuredly is the pleasure of the company and 
Mr. and Mrs. Sirdar to serve in the capacity of mower and vegetative removal service for the 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  Before you we have provided a progress report in which we have 
established a very methodical, efficient, and effective way of providing the Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves with top quality service.  In our capacity as experts, we are asking at the 
pleasure of the Town Council to establish a cyclical mowing schedule of mowing sixty miles of 

 
 

6 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Town roads.  You designated thirty miles, but when we mow, we mow up one side and down the 
other, thereby making it sixty miles of Town roads, every forty-five days, with a list of roadways 
provided to us so kindly by your Town Manager, Mark Kutney.  The reason for the request is 
two fold:  One, the current state of Town roads was found, upon close inspection, to be 
overgrown and in rather disarray with various forms of vegetation, including, but not limited to 
leaves, vines, trees, and shrubs.  In order to maintain the standards to which we have landscaped 
your roads, we would need to have constant and consistent access to your roads on a forty five 
day revolving basis, repeating the mowing of the same main roads, as provided by your Town 
Manager, who we thank very much for his consideration and respect, every forty five days.  To 
go outside of that pattern would lead to the same problems that you have currently in place.  
Second, the vegetation has grown on the canal base, along the Town roadway easements, to the 
canal base, thereby blocking maintenance of Town canals, which directly affects the concerns 
that FEMA has about the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, as well as the Town Council.  FEMA 
has designated several western communities, including the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, as a 
flood zone. We would like to partner with the Town to help you address the problem of 
accessing your canals in order for you to get control of the flooding, and resolve the situation to 
everyone’s satisfaction.  Lastly, our services have been well received overwhelmingly from your 
residents and your community, and we do thank them so much.  They come out of their homes to 
greet us and to thank us so much for the service, and the first question they ask is did the Town 
send you, and we tell them yes, we have a contract with the Town, and they are just very, very, 
pleased.  As we all know, good customer care is the heart and soul of all businesses.  If you have 
any questions, I would be happy to answer them.  Again, thank you so much for choosing us. 
 
***End of Transcript*** 
 
 
Town Manager Kutney replied that he was very sad that this has come up because he believed 
that Sirdar Trucking, Inc. has done a great job on the Notice to Proceed, however it seemed from 
Ms. Riccio’s comments that an open purchase order is being requested.  He referred to contract 
items 2.3 and 2.4 wherein the terms of the contract were stated, and advised that they would need 
to live within the confines of the contract, and that he did not appreciate the vendor coming in 
and trying to change those terms.  He stated that he would speak with Ms. Riccio and the vendor.  
 
Mayor Browning read a public comment into the record: 
 
Linda Cowart, 4156 161st Terrace North:  Commented regarding appreciation for the trimming 
job done by Sirdar Trucking, Inc.  Also commented regarding a danger existing at the 90 degree 
turn on the south west beginning of 161st Terrace North, and recommended a blind drive mirror 
is  installed, or the property owner remove vegetation.  

 
 

7 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 
4.  PRESENTATIONS - None 
 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS - None 
 
 
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS (Ordinances 2nd Reading) 
 
 
7.  ORDINANCES  (1st Reading)  - 
 
a.  Public Hearing: 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2013-04 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, UPDATING THE FIVE-YEAR 
SCHEDULE OF IMPROVEMENTS FOR THE CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PURSUANT TO STATE STATUTE; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read Ordinance No. 2013-04 by title as printed above. 
 
Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann reported that Ordinance No. 2013-04 is an update to 
the capital improvements in the capital improvements element (CIE) of the Comprehensive Plan.  
The schedule of improvements was being updated first, and the updates to the text would be 
brought next month. He referred to the staff report which indicated that the Town would come 
into compliance with F.S. Section 336.25(b)3, which required the CIE of the Town’s 
Comprehensive Plan to identify projects to be funded with 5 cent gas tax revenues.  The 
Comprehensive Plan requires that an update be done once a year.  Thus two requirements were 
being met with this Ordinance.    We do have the ability to make changes in the 5 year schedule 
in-between first and second reading, and staff intends to include several projects approved by the 

 
 

8 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District (LGWCD) at their last meeting, and incorporate 
them into the second reading of the ordinance. 
 
Discussion took place, and it was the consensus of the Town Council to address Ordinance 
No. 2013-04 after Item 8.a., which related to budget decisions that needed to be made. 
 
Clerk’s Note:  All items discussed below were included with approval of Ordinance No. 2013-04.  
 
 
8.   RESOLUTIONS  
 
 
a. Budgetary Decisions Related to Resolutions No. 2013-06 and 2013-07 
 
Reference was made to the Memorandum from Underwood Management Services, LLC, dated 
July 8, 2013, (included in the back up Agenda Packet) regarding inclusions or exclusions to the 
2014 budget.  
 
Motion:  Councilman Goltzené made a motion to appropriate $300,000 in the budget to 
pave “D” Road with typical pavement to the bridge, then OGEM from the bridge to 
Collecting Canal, with the LGWCD agreeing, and that the Town receive whatever was 
needed to obtain proprietary.  The motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The 
motion passed 5/0.  
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained that anytime the Town Council identified a project, staff would 
engage in conversations on the process for those roads with the LGWCD. 
 
Public Comments: 
 
Ken Johnson, Collecting Canal Rd.:   Commented regarding what would happen to Tangerine 
with this concept.  Councilman Goltzené replied that it would stay as a legitimate intersection. 
 
Motion: Councilman Goltzené made a motion to approve the Capital Improvement 
budget funding for OGEMing Tangerine from “D Road west to back entry into the plaza.  
The motion died for lack of a second.  That project was therefore removed from 
consideration in the budget. 
 

 
 

9 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Motion: Motion by Councilman Rockett to eliminate the Town Hall Alternative 
funding at $50,000.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 
5/0. 
 
Motion: Motion by Councilman Liang to approve the capital improvement funding 
for trails and development of linear park from “A” Road to Folsom, funded at $80,000 in 
FY 2014; $100,000 in FY 2015; and $100,000 in FY 2016; included in the motion was that 
Town Attorney Cirullo is directed to work with the LGWCD on getting the trails opened 
up on “A” Road to Folsom.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Goltzené.  The 
motion passed 5/0. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion for the budget amounts of $100,000 for 
FY2015 and FY2016 to be put under a line item entitled “trails” in general.  The motion 
was seconded by Councilman Goltzené.  The motion passed 5/0. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve funding at $250,000 for a 
cable/wire signal at the intersection of “D” Road and Okeechobee.  The motion was 
seconded by Councilman Liang.  
 
Discussion took place. 
 
The motion passed 3/2, with Mayor Browning and Councilman Goltzené dissenting. 
 
Regarding LGWCD roads being transferred to the Town before October, 2013, per Town 
Attorney Mike Cirullo, and providing funding as a grant from the General Fund for previously 
OGEMed roads at $28,934 per year after transfer, or provide a capital acquisition of the 
OGEMed roads through the Transportation Fund: 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to include funding in the amount of 
$28,934 per year in the budget, as a capital improvement project, for the next five years 
starting in 2014, with the understanding that every capital expenditure will be considered 
for approval by the Town Council each year, as it comes up.  The motion was seconded by 
Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 5/0. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion that the last 5 motions, relative to the 
Capital Improvement fund will be incorporated, as a first reading change into Ordinance 
2013-04, which is now approved on first reading, as amended.  The motion was seconded 
by Councilman Goltzené.  The motion passed 5/0.   
 

 
 

10 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Mr. Underwood explained that upon determination of the millage rate and solid waste collection 
rate, staff could prepare the budget for presentation and adoption, at two scheduled public 
hearings. 
 
Discussion took place. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to set the millage at 1.500 and set the 
solid waste assessment at 344.37 per residential unit.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 4/1, with Councilman Goltzené dissenting. 
 
 
 
******A break was taken at 8:30 p.m.  The meeting was resumed at 8:40 p.m.******  
 
 
b. RESOLUTION NO. 2013-06 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE 
PROVISION OF RESIDENTIAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION 
SERVICES AND FACILITIES AND PROGRAMS ("SOLID WASTE 
COLLECTION SERVICES") IN THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA; PROVIDING FOR PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR LEGISLATIVE DETERMINATIONS; 
ESTABLISHING THE ESTIMATED RATE FOR THE SOLID WASTE 
COLLECTION SERVICES ASSESSMENT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2013; DIRECTING THE PREPARATION OF 
AN ASSESSMENT ROLL; AUTHORIZING A PUBLIC HEARING AND 
DIRECTING THE PROVISION OF NOTICE THEREOF; PROVIDING 
FOR CONFLICT, SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read Resolution No. 2013-06 reads by title. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that the previous motion indicated that the solid waste 
assessment per residential unit was $344.37; Town Manager Kutney advised that the 

 
 

11 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



estimated solid waste assessment total for the Fiscal Year commencing October 1, 2013, 
was $427,784. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained that because the rates were being raised from last year, 
a first class mail notice would need to be sent out to residents, so that they could be 
noticed that the Town Council was considering this preliminary rate.  He stressed that the 
rate set tonight was only preliminary.   A public hearing date would also need to be set. 
 
Motion:  Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion to set the public hearing meeting date 
for adoption of the solid assessment Resolution for Tuesday, September 10, at 5:05 
p.m.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 5/0.  
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to adopt Resolution No. 2013-06.  The 
motion was seconded by Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 5/0.  
 
 
 
c. RESOLUTION NO. 2013-07 
 
 A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA ADOPTING A PROPOSED OPERATING 
MILLAGE RATE OF 1.500 FOR GENERAL OPERATING BUDGET PURPOSES 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2013/14; APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 
TRANSMITTAL OF THE FORM DR 420 TO THE PROPERTY APPRAISER; 
PROVIDING FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AND SETTING FORTH THE 
DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF THE PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE 
FISCAL YEAR2013/14PROPOSED MILLAGE RATE AND TENTATIVE 
BUDGET; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Town Attorney Cirullo read Resolution No. 2013-07 by title, as printed above. 
 
Town Attorney announced that the first public hearing was scheduled for September 3 at 7:00 
p.m. 
 
Mr. Underwood presented the rolled-back millage rate of 1.2845 mills.  
 

 
 

12 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to adopt Resolution No. 2013-07.  The 
motion was seconded by Councilman Goltzené.  The motion passed 5/0. 
 
 
 
 
 
d. RESOLUTION NO. 2013-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ADOPTING A BUDGET AMENMENT 
FOR THE TOWN’S BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING 
OCTOBER 1, 2012 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2013; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABIITY, COFLICTS, AND AN EFECTIVE DATE. 
 

Town Attorney Cirullo read Resolution No. 2013-08 by title, as printed above. 
 
Motion:  Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion to adopt Resolution No. 2013-08.  The motion 
was seconded by Councilman Rockett.  The motion passed 5/0.  
 
 
9.  ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE – Town Manager Kutney 
 
Town Manager Kutney provided an update on the following issues: 
 

• The residential enterprise ordinance would be reviewed and further information would be 
presented at the August 6, 2013, Town Council meeting. 

• Progress being made by Sirdar Trucking, Inc. with mowing and vegetative trimming. 
• Provided an updated prioritized business initiatives list, identifying 37 projects.  He noted 

that the list does not include the one time occurrences, nor the daily staff projects.   
• Town engineering vendors would review the FEMA maps, and the traffic engineering 

vendor would be reviewing the traffic signal situation. 
• Councilman Rockett referred to the weekly significant issues report, and questioned the 

item concerning Callery-Judge.  Town Manager Kutney explained that he had met 
informally with developers that were working with Callery-Judge, and that he had 
indicated the Town’s concerns relative to Okeechobee Blvd.  

 
 

 
 

13 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
10.  OLD BUSINESS - None 
 

a.  Compton Road potholes 
 

Vice Mayor Jarriel explained that the potholes on Compton Road were too big, and that he had 
spoken with LGWCD, and would like the Town Council to direct management to fill the holes 
with road rock material.  That would bring the safety factor back to where the road was safe to 
ride on.  

 
Motion:   Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion to put road rock material on Compton Road.  
The motion was seconded by Councilman Rockett.  
 
Town Manager Kutney confirmed that he would check to see if it could be done as a road repair, 
if it could not be done under road rock material.   
 
After further discussion, the motion passed 4/1 with Councilman Goltzené dissenting. 
 

 
  
11. NEW BUSINESS 
 

a. Annual Management Team Evaluation (Councilman Rockett) 
 

Councilman Rockett explained that his emailed note to Town Manager Kutney was simply a 
reminder for the Town Manager that performance criteria and evaluation shall be reviewed 
annually, and suggested that the Town Council have a report through June prepared  for use as 
criteria for evaluation. 
  
Town Manager Kutney responded that he was ready to discuss the evaluation tonight, if so 
desired. 
 
There was no further action taken. 
 
Councilman Rockett:  In this package is, I believe, that my note is included.  The note is simply a 
reminder to the Town Manager, that according to the copy of the contract that we have with the 
Town Management team, that performance criteria and evaluation contract for Town 
Management services shall be reviewed annually.  This annual review will be comprised of 
performance and evaluation criteria established with management and  town Council based upon 

 
 

14 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



the duties contained in the contract, along with the Town management report through June of the 
current year prepared by the Town Manager.  This annual review of the contract of Town 
Management Services shall occur no later than August 1st of each year, and the Town Manager is 
responsible for placing this annual review on the Town Council Agenda.  All I did is send a note 
to the Town Manager saying I don’t recall having this done and August 1st is upon us, and if we 
don’t do it this next meeting, we will miss it.  So, it was written up as  I requested the item on the 
Agenda      So, since I am on the agenda as the requestor, I guess I have the flexibility to take it 
off.  But my point is, we should have had it this meeting – we should have had the discussion. 
The town manager is responsible for that, not me.  If we put it off, we can put it at another time.  
If he doesn’t hold it by August 1st, we don’t fire him, so I guess it’s okay.  But I would suggest 
that he put it on an appropriate schedule for the Town Council; but first thing, it’s kind of ironic, 
we are talking about the Town Manager schedules his own performance review – that’s our 
contract.  One of the things that has to be presented is a report through June of the current year.   
We don’t have that.  That is one of the criteria.  We don’t have that, so we can’t have a review.   
So I am suggesting to the Town Council that we postpone this until we can have a report through 
June prepared for us to be included as one of the criteria we have to use in the evaluation, but I 
underscore the fact that this is not something that we should have to bring up, and if the Town 
Manager misses his own performance criteria deadline that tells me a little something right there, 
butI suggest we take it off the agenda and postpone it until such time as the Town Manager is 
prepared to give us all of the information we need, and not in the too distant future. 
 
Town Manager Kutney:  Mayor, we have two items at play here.  Councilman Rockett did 
mention the fact that the evaluation is due and he is correct. We put it on; we are ready to discuss 
it tonight.  There are two issues – you are talking about a review of the Town Management 
Company, based upon the contract, and then what Councilman Rockett is referring to is one of 
the responsibilities of the Town Manager is a report that is due at the end of June.  We provided 
that in terms of the budget we provided you at the end of June.  We did meet that requirement, 
plus I give you a significant events email every week, plus we give you all the financials and the 
FAAC Report. So I suppose if the Councilman is asking for another report to do another work 
item, I will be happy to do that, but I think we cover everything.   If there are any questions that 
you have about what is going on, we can do that.  I did look back at the previous management 
company—what they did, and they did the same thing.  They did basically a report to you, line 
items, where the budget was, and that’s it.  We are ready to go line item by line item if 
Councilman Rockett likes.  We can talk about how we are meeting the contract.  But, I hope he is 
not trying to make this personal, because really we should be reviewing the Management 
Company, and not the Town Manager, we work as a Management Company.  With that I would 
be happy to address it any way you want. 
 
Mayor Browning:   Let’s take it off the agenda. 

 
 

15 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
Councilman Rockett:  The report is not only financial.  The other point to be made the agenda 
items we were given – we were given two and a half pages in the agenda for items to be used for 
performance evaluation—two and a half pages out of seven and a half that were in the contract; 
one page is for town manager; in fact, there is six and a half pages in the contract that describe 
town manager responsibilities.  We were not even given enough to look at to remind you what is 
the criteria we are giving an evaluation on.  So from the management report through June about 
financial only and the documentation that you need -- we probably need to set the contract out so 
that all of the items are included.  One of the items that was not included was the document I 
read from that performance criteria and evaluation was his responsibility to include it on the 
calendar.   So, we need better input to us.  So some day in the future --  
 
Town Manager Kutney:  Your honor, as I indicated, we are ready to go through every item in the 
contract tonight.  I thought that is what he wanted to do.  You know, I didn’t put a copy of the 
contract in. I suppose I could have done that. We did that last year, and last year we didn’t even 
talk about it, so I did not think it was necessary.   But I’ve got it right here.  I have it right here, 
and if you would like to, we can go through it line item by line item. 
 
Councilman Rockett:  The Council cannot look at something now and give an evaluation. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo:  So, there is no action on that one. 
 
***End of transcript***  

 
 
 
b.  Approval of Engineering Contracts with Keshavarz for General Engineering 

Services; Simmons & White for Traffic Engineering, A & B Engineering, Inc.for 
surveying 

 
Town Manager Kutney reported that all three Engineering Contracts were ready for approval. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Goltzené made a motion to approve the contract for Keshavarz & 
Associates, Inc., for general engineering.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Liang.  
The motion passed 5/0.   
 

 
 

16 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Motion:   Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the contract for Simmons and 
White, Inc., for traffic engineering.  The motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.   The 
motion passed 5/0. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the contract for A & B 
Engineering, Inc., for land surveying.  The motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  
The motion passed 5/0. 

 
c. Discussion of Land Use Policy for Southern Boulevard Corridor (Councilman 

Goltzené) 
 

Councilman Goltzené suggested that an additional workshop is held for input on the Southern 
Blvd. corridor.    
 
Discussion took place on having the workshop take place directly before a Town Council 
meeting, having another workshop on the Okeechobee Blvd. corridor, and contacting people in 
the area affected to see which dates work best for them. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Todd McLendon, 3481 D Rd.: Commented that many people who live here do not want 
government in their lives, and therefore do not come to the meetings; that people who live on 
Tangerine do not want commercial there; suggested that people come to a workshop and have 
some input. 

 
It was the consensus of the Town Council to direct staff to contact property owners and 
residents, and let them know of a proposed workshop on the Southern Blvd. corridor, and 
ask for acceptable dates for a workshop. 

 
 
 
d. Discussion of Roadway, Equestrian Trails and Greenway Advisory Committee 

(RETGAC) Proposal to Allow Golf Carts and Side-by-Side UTVs on Town 
Roads  (Councilman Goltzené) 

 
Councilman Goltzené requested that Town Attorney Cirullo is directed to research golf cart and  
side-by-sides laws and report back to the Town Council 

 
 

17 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
Vice Mayor Jarriel suggested that Town Manager Kutney could express to Lt. Combs that those 
riding golf carts and side-by-sides are not ticketed, but are stopped to ask what they are doing, 
and checked for license and registration. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Ken Johnson, Collecting Canal Rd.:  Commented that the police should be allowed to do their 
job, and the town should just go by State regulations. 
 
Frank Schiola, 13434 Marcella Blvd.:  Commented regarding the need to have regulations.  
 
Nina Corning, 2834 E Rd.:  Commented regarding keeping motorized vehicles off of the 
greenways.  
 
Virginia Standish, 15410 North Rd.:   Commented regarding using common sense with 
regulations, and keeping motorized vehicles off the greenways.  
 
It was the consensus of the Town Council to allow Town Attorney Cirullo to do the 
research on golf cart and side-by-sides, and report back to the Town Council. 

 
12.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 

Virginia Standish, 15410 North Rd.:  Commented regarding dangerous areas of erosion on 
District Roads, and bringing it to the attention of the Intergovernmental Coordination 
Committee. 
  
John Ryan, 3508 A Rd.:  Commented regarding obtaining an acknowledgement from Palm 
Beach State College that they will not claim an exemption for assessments from the District.  
 

b. Town Attorney 
 
c. Town Council Members 

 
Councilman Goltzené:  Thanked everyone for coming and thanked the Town Council for 
considering his concerns. 

 
 

18 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
Vice Mayor Jarriel:  Requested consensus from the Town Council for support on a Petition for a 
red light at D Rd. and Okeechobee Blvd., imprinted with the Town logo.  It was the consensus 
of the Town Council to support the Petition and the use of the Town logo.  Vice Mayor 
Jarriel read into the record a letter to Town Manager Kutney from the Florida Forest Service in 
support of installing a traffic light at D Rd. and Southern Blvd. 
 
Councilman Liang:  Thanked everyone. 
  
Councilman Rockett:  Thank everyone. 
 
Mayor Browning: Reported that potholes on D Road, on the east side, are causing a wash out 
between Alton and Okeechobee Blvd.  Somebody needs to get some rock in there to fill them up 
until they can be repaired.  Thanked everyone. 
 
 
13.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the Town Council Meeting of July 16, 2013, was adjourned at 10:25 
p.m. 
 
 
________________________________  _______________________________ 
Susan Eichhorn, Town Clerk    David Browning, Mayor 
 
(SEAL) 
 

These minutes were approved by the Town Council on August 6, 2013 
 

 
 

19 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 

 

 

 

 10.  OLD BUSINESS 

a.  Town Council Discussion and Direction to Staff Regarding Use of 
Golf Carts and Dune Buggies on Town Roads 

 
 

20 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

 

INTER-OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 

  

MEMORANDUM NO. 2013-23 

 

 

TO: Mayor David Browning 

 Members of the Town Council 

 Mark Kutney, Town Manager  

 Susan Eichhorn, Town Clerk 

 

FROM: Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney MDC 

 

RE: Town of Loxahatchee Groves (“Town”) / Golf Cart and Other Vehicle Operation 

on Town Roads  

 

DATE: August 6, 2013 

 

 

At its July 16, 2013, meeting, the Town Council requested legal review on the legality of 

operating golf carts, UTVs and similar vehicles on Town Roads.  This Memorandum is intended 

to provide guidance on these issues. 

 

Initially, Chapter 316, Fla. Stat., is known as the “Florida Uniform Traffic Control Law.”  

Section 316.007, Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part: “The provisions of this chapter shall 

be applicable and uniform throughout this state and in all political subdivisions and 

municipalities therein, and no local authority shall enact or enforce any ordinance on a matter 

covered by this chapter unless expressly authorized.”  §316.007, Fla. Stat.  Another statute, 

§316.008, Fla. Stat., lists the areas in which local jurisdictions have authority over the regulation 

of roads and streets.  The legality of operating golf carts and similar vehicles on local roads is not 

listed in §316.008, so the regulation of those vehicles is guided by other statutes and the Town is 

not authorized to deviate from such. 

Golf Carts    

The operation of golf carts on local roads is governed by §316.212, Fla. Stat.  Subsection (1) of 

this statute provides: 

 

A golf cart may be operated only upon a county road that has been designated by 

a county, or a municipal street that has been designated by a municipality, for use 

by golf carts. Prior to making such a designation, the responsible local 

governmental entity must first determine that golf carts may safely travel on or 

cross the public road or street, considering factors including the speed, volume, 

and character of motor vehicle traffic using the road or street. Upon a 

determination that golf carts may be safely operated on a designated road or 

 
 

21 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 2 

___________________________   
 
 

street, the responsible governmental entity shall post appropriate signs to indicate 

that such operation is allowed. 

§316.212, Fla. Stat. Ann. 

 

Thus, in order for golf carts to be legally operated on public roads within the Town, the Town 

Council would need to designate the public roads within the Town on which they may be 

operated.  However, prior to making the designation, the Town Council would need to make a 

determination that “golf carts may safely travel on or cross the public road or street, considering 

factors including the speed, volume, and character of motor vehicle traffic using the road or 

street.”  Subsequent to the designation, the Town would need to erect signage to indicate that the 

operation of golf carts is permitted on the designated roads. 

 

The following steps are recommended should the Town Council wish to permit golf carts to be 

operated on public roads within the Town: 

 

1. Identify the roadways which the Town Council would like reviewed in order for the 

Town Council to make the statutorily required determination that golf carts may safely 

travel on such road. 

2. Direct staff to review the roadways to confirm that golf carts can be safely operated on 

such roads. 

3. Upon receipt of the completed review of the identified roadways, adopt an ordinance to 

designate the roadways upon which golf carts may be operated; and,  

4. Install signage on such roadways to provide notice that golf carts may be operated on 

such roadways. 

 

Note that the statute provides the following regulations upon the operation of golf carts on public 

roads designated for such: 

 

 The golf cart may only be operated on the public roads between sunrise and sunset.  If the 

Town Council wants to permit operation between sunset and sunrise, the Town can 

provide for such in the ordinance identifying the roadways, but the golf carts must be 

equipped with headlights, brake lights, turn signals and a windshield in order to be 

operated during those hours. §316.212(5), Fla. Stat. 

 

 Golf carts operating at any time on public roadways must be equipped with “efficient 

brakes, reliable steering apparatus, safe tires, a rearview mirror, and red reflectorized 

warning devices in both the front and rear.”  §316.212(6), Fla. Stat. 

 

 The minimum age to operate a golf cart on public roads is 14 years old.  §316.212(7), 

Fla. Stat. 

 

 
 

22 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 3 

___________________________   
 
 
The Town Council can place more restrictions on the operation of golf carts on public roads 

within the Town by ordinance.  If it did so, signage must advise of the additional restrictions. 

§316.212(8), Fla. Stat.  The Town Council cannot waive or reduce restrictions imposed by State 

law. 

 

Low-Speed Vehicles and Mini-Trucks 

 

Florida Statutes defines a “low-speed vehicle” as “any four-wheeled vehicle whose top speed is 

greater than 20 miles per hour but not greater than 25 miles per hour, including, but not limited 

to, neighborhood electric vehicles.” §320.01(41), Fla. Stat. 

Florida Statutes defines “mini truck” as “any four-wheeled, reduced-dimension truck that does 

not have a National Highway Traffic Safety Administration truck classification, with a top speed 

of 55 miles per hour, and which is equipped with headlamps, stop lamps, turn signal lamps, 

taillamps, reflex reflectors, parking brakes, rearview mirrors, windshields, and seat belts.”   

§320.01(44), Fla. Stat. 

The operation of low speed vehicles and mini-trucks is governed by §316.2122, Fla. Stat.  These 

vehicles are permitted to operate on public roads within the Town, unless the Town Council 

determines that such should be prohibited “in the interest of safety.” §316.2122(5), Fla. Stat.  

However, the statute does provide restrictions on such operation: 

 They can be operated only on roads with a posted speed limit of 35 miles per hour or 

less. 

 

 They must be equipped with headlights, stop lamps, turn signal lamps, taillamps, reflex 

reflectors, parking brakes, rearview mirrors, windshields, seat belts and vehicle 

identification numbers.   

 

 The vehicles must be registered with the state 

 

 The person operating the vehicle must have their driver license in their possession. 

All-terrain vehicles 

Florida Statutes defines All-terrain vehicle as “any motorized off-highway vehicle 50 inches or 

less in width, having a dry weight of 1,200 pounds or less, designed to travel on three or more 

nonhighway tires, having a seat designed to be straddled by the operator and handlebars for 

steering control, and intended for use by a single operator with no passenger.  For the purposes 

of this section, ‘all-terrain vehicle’ also includes any ‘two-rider ATV’ as defined in s. 317.0003.”  

§316.2074, Fla. Stat.  A “two-rider ATV” is defined as “any ATV that is specifically designed by 

the manufacturer for a single operator and one passenger.” §317.0003(10), Fla. Stat. Ann. 

 
 

23 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 4 

___________________________   
 
 
§316.2074(5), Fla. Stat. prohibits the operation of all-terrain vehicles on public roads “except as 

otherwise permitted by the managing state or federal agency.”  The operation of all-terrain 

vehicles on public roads is preempted to the state.  Attorney General Opinion 2004-39 (July 14, 

2004).
1
   

Utility Vehicles 

Florida Statutes defines a “utility vehicle” as “a motor vehicle designed and manufactured for 

general maintenance, security, and landscaping purposes, but the term does not include any 

vehicle designed or used primarily for the transportation of persons or property on a street or 

highway, or a golf cart, or an all-terrain vehicle as defined in s. 316.2074.”  §320.01, Fla. Stat. 

Florida Statutes permits municipalities to operate utility vehicles on roads within the 

municipality, but solely by municipal employees and for a municipal purpose.  §316.2126(1), 

Fla. Stat.  There is no provision for the operation of utility vehicles on public roads by the 

general public.  As with all-terrain vehicles, the Town Council could take no action to permit 

such on public roads since the subject matter is preempted by state law.     

Swamp buggies 

 

Florida Statutes defines “swamp buggy” as “a motorized off-road vehicle that is designed or 

modified to travel over swampy or varied terrain and that may use large tires or tracks operated 

from an elevated platform. The term does not include any vehicle defined in chapter 261 or 

otherwise defined or classified in this chapter.”  §320.01(45), Fla. Stat.  

The operation of swamp buggies on public roads is governed by §316.2129, Fla. Stat.  In order 

for swamp buggies to be permitted on Town Roads, the Town Council would need to designate 

the roads on which they may be safely operated.  Thereafter, the Town would need to post 

appropriate signage on such roads. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Low-speed vehicles and mini-trucks are permitted on Town Roads without the need for any 

Town Council action.  However, the operation of these vehicles must be consistent with 

§316.2122, Florida Statutes. 

 

Golf carts and swamp buggies are not permitted to be operated on Town Roads unless the Town 

Council takes action to designate the public roads on which they may be operated, and then posts 

appropriate signage.  In both cases, the Town Council must determine that these types of 

vehicles may be operated safely on the designated roads.  Florida Statutes also provides 

                                                           
1
  Note that Florida Statutes permits law enforcement agencies to use all-terrain vehicles, golf carts, low-

speed vehicles, and utility vehicles on public roads for law enforcement purposes.  §316.21265, Fla. Stat.   

 
 

24 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 5 

___________________________   
 
 
restrictions on the operation of golf carts on public roads.  §316.212, Fla. Stat.  The Town may 

place additional restrictions (but not waive or eliminate those in the statutes) by ordinance. 

 

All-terrain vehicles and utility vehicles are prohibited by state law from being operated on public 

roads, except by law enforcement or, for utility vehicles, by a municipality for municipal 

purposes.  The state has preempted this matter, so the Town Council cannot take any action to 

permit all-terrain vehicles or utility vehicles to be operated on Town Roads.   

 

Upon your review, please advise of any questions or concerns.   

 

MDC:clb 

Enclosure  

 
 

H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\MEMOS 2013\2013-23 (golf cart and other vehicles-Town Rds).docx 

 

 

 
 

25 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 

 

 

 

 10.  OLD BUSINESS 

b.  Transmission (e-mail) from Tim Hart Woods 

 
 

26 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



  TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:                   Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:            Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:             August 15, 2013  
 
SUBJECT:      Transmission (email) from Tim Hart Woods   
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
Attached please find an email that was sent from Mr. Woods to the Town Manager. The 
Management Company has decided to provide this document to you for discussion and potential 
action. The issue deals with vehicular access in the Palms West Plaza that leads onto West 
Tangerine or “D” Road (please see Palm Beach County Resolution No. R-88-1546, Condition 
No. 15 pertaining to this issue and also attached).   
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
Staff will provide a verbal discussion at the August 20, 2013 Town Council Meeting. 
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

No fiscal impact other than potential liability concerns. 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

August 13, 2013 email from Tim Hart Woods to Mark Kutney. 

Palm Beach County Resolution No. R-88-1546 – Approving Zoning Petition No. 79-240(A) 
Special Exception Petition of Eugene Conte, Trustee, for American Real Estate Trading, Inc. and 
William C. Hammond, Trustee 

 

 
 

27 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
V. REQUESTED ACTION 
 
Discussion at Town Council Meeting. 
 

 
 

28 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



From: Tim Hart-Woods [mailto:tim@thebritishfeedcompany.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, August 13, 2013 6:44 PM 
To: Mark Kutney 
Subject: Mark Kutney, Town Manager 

 

Request From: Tim Hart-Woods 
Email: tim@thebritishfeedcompany.com 
Source IP:      50.143.77.72 
 
Address:         
City:    
State:   
Zip:     
Phone:   
Organization:    
 
Mark, 
 
Good evening. 
You will see there is now a gate which can close the barrier when 
not in use, principally at night. I understand you have strongly 
suggested to Kan Yee it be put there and he has passed on your 
sentiment to me. As I am always keen to work in the interests of 
good all round public relations, I did as you/he requested. 
Equally, also in the interests of positive PR, I have taken a 
sounding as to the feeling of the people of the town as to 
whether closing the gate at night would be a good thing. The 
feeling is very strongly otherwise. Safety, convenience and 
simple peoples rights have all been given as reasons not to close 
it. Some feelings are very strong indeed. Before I close it at 
night, I must tell you that I am concerned that there may be a 
seriously adverse reaction to the doing of that. So much so that 
I am concerned for the security of whomever does it. So, before 
it's done, two things, first, given what I just told you, do you 
still want it closed at night? Second, if your answer is yes, be 
advised that I reserve the right to act in the best interest of 
my company and put a sign on it directing any angered residents 
to you. In short, if there are any bricks to be thrown through 
windows, I'd rather it was yours than mine! Let me know soonest. 
e-mail would be fine, phone or even walk  
  
 across the road. You'd be most welcome in The British Feed 
Company store. It'd be good to see The Town Manager visiting 
local businesses, supporting them, encouraging the creation of 
employment and the generation of tax dollars. Hope to see you 
soon. 
 
Kind regards, 
 
Tim. 

 
 

29 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

30 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

31 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

32 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

33 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

34 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 

 

 

 

 11.  NEW BUSINESS 

a.  Clarification of Valley Crest Development Matter 

 
 

35 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



  TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:                   Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:            Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:             August 14, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:      Valley Crest Request to waive Cost Recovery Expenses 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
On March 5, 2013 the Town Council approved a site plan for Valley Crest (Resolution 2013-02). 
This action was necessitated due to code enforcement issues relative to the operation of a 
landscaped maintenance business by Valley Crest. Resolution 2013-02 included several 
conditions of approval including General Condition 5 which required the applicant to file (within 
6 months) a site plan amendment application requesting that the Wholesale Nursery Principal   
Use and the Landscape Nursery Accessory Use be deleted and replaced by a Landscape Service 
Principal Use. The requirement per General Condition 5 was accomplished by the approval of a 
Site Plan Amendment (Resolution 2013-05) on July 2, 2013. Valley Crest has paid a total of  
$16,000.00 in cost recovery fees to address this matter. At the time that Town Council applied 
General Condition 5, Valley Crest’s cost recovery account was still in the black and Town 
Management took the position that since General Condition 5 required Valley Crest to incur 
more costs as a result of Town Council direction, Valley Crest would not be required to pay any 
further cost recovery fees.     
 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
The additional costs to process the site plan amendment have resulted in Valley Crest being in 
arrears within their cost recovery account by $4,944.09 after all final invoices and costs were 
assessed. At the July 22, 2013 Finance Advisory & Audit Committee Meeting (FAAC), the 
Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2013 reflected that Valley Crest was in arrears by $1,942.38 
(obviously all costs were not yet posted at that time) and the Committee felt that Valley Crest 
should pay these costs despite the fact that Town Council had directed the additional site plan 
amendment filing. Since the FAAC did not agree with the Town Management Staff position, the 

 
 

36 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



matter is being brought to Town Council for their deposition of the matter. Additionally, 
Attorney David Coviello on behalf of Valley Crest has provided a letter requesting a waiver of 
the additional cost and provides justification and rationale for the request (please note his letter 
states the costs were approximately $3,000.00 which was the end of July and still did not 
represent all invoices and costs being tallied).  
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

Waiver of the cost recovery arrearages would translate into the Town covering the $4,944.09 in 
order to bring the account into balance. 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

August 2, 2013 letter from David Coviello to the Mayor and Town Council. 

 
V. REQUESTED ACTION 
 
Motion by Town Council to approve the waiver of the arrearages associated with Valley Crest 
Cost Recovery Account. 
 
 

 
 

37 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

38 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

39 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 

 

 

 

 11.  NEW BUSINESS 

b.  Solid Waste Collection Agreement 

 
 

40 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



   TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

Revised August 14, 2013 
 
TO:                   Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:            Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:              July 1, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:       Bid No. 2013- 002 Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services/Approval of 
                           Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Agreement        
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
In July, 2008 the Town entered into a Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Franchise 
Agreement with Waste Pro of Florida. The term of the agreement ran from October 1, 2008 and 
expires September 30, 2013. Due to the term of the agreement ending this fiscal year, it was 
incumbent upon Town Management to implement the process of procuring Solid Waste and 
Recycling Collection Services. 
 
The aforementioned ITB was prepared and noticed on the Town’s website on June 3, 2013 and 
published in the Palm Beach Post on June 3 and June 6, 2013. The ITB was also available at the 
Onvia website. The bidders were required to attend a mandatory bid conference on June 12, 2013 
and the Town issued Addendum No. 1 on June 18, 2013 which requested all bidders submit to 
variations on three different service options. The due date for bidders to submit their bid 
transmittals was June 26, 2013 and the Town received three (3) bids. The bids were opened at 
2:30 p.m. at Central Palm Beach County Chamber of Commerce (Attached is a copy of the Town 
Bid Summary Sheet). In order to assist Town Management in the review of the bid submittals, a 
working group was convened to review the bid submissions and rank them accordingly. The 
working group consisted of   Cheryl Miller, a member of the Town Finance Advisory and Audit 
Committee (FAAC); Frank Schiola, the Town’s Public Works/ Solid Waste Monitor, Perla 
Underwood of UMSG and the Town Manager. The working group met on Friday, June 28, 2013 
to review the bid submissions. Town Management Staff discussed the bid with the FAAC on 
June 24, 2013.     
 
 
 

 
 

41 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



II. DISCUSSION 
 
Based upon the attached Town Bid Summary Sheet it is evident that Waste Pro was the lowest 
responsible bidder for five (5) of the six (6) options. The only option whereby Waste Pro is not 
the lowest bidder is Option 3-A Automated for Containerized Solid Waste, Curbside Recyclables 
and Curbside Vegetative Waste once per week. After the Working Group’s review and analysis 
it was the opinion of the group that the Town should not consider any of the options that only 
provide pick-up once a week. Further the working group recommends that the Town Council 
award Option 1 Manual to Waste Pro. As an alternate, Town Council could select to award 
Option 2 Semi-Automated to Waste Pro. On July 2, 2013 the Town Council, per a motion by 
Councilman Rockett, accepted the Staff recommendation to ratify Option 1 Manual Curbside 
Service and award Bid No. 2013-002 to Waste Pro of Florida, Inc. The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Goltzene and passed by a 5/0 vote. Since that meeting, the Town Management Staff, 
Public Works Vendor and the Town Attorney’s Office have been working on the new agreement. 
The agreement was completed and sent to Waste Pro for their review. Waste Pro has reviewed 
the agreement with some minor changes and the agreement is ready for Town Council adoption.  
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

Option 1 Manual is bid at $415,800.00 and would lower the Town’s Contract by $35,363.44. 
Option 2 Semi-Automated is bid at $438,480.00 and would lower the Town’s contract by 
$12,683.44. 

 

1V. ATTACHMENTS 

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Bid Sheet Summary 

Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Agreement between the Town of Loxahatchee Groves and 
Waste Pro of Florida, Inc. 

 
V. REQUIRED ACTION 
 
Ratify the recommended Option 1 Manual Curbside Service by the Working Group and award 
the bid to the lowest responsible bidder, Waste Pro, and authorize the Town Manager and Town 
Attorney to draft an agreement for Town Council Approval. Approve the Solid Waste and 
Recycling Collection Agreement with Waste Pro of Florida, Inc. 
 
 

 
 

42 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

43 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

44 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

45 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

46 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING 
COLLECTION AGREEMENT 

 
Between  

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
 

and 
 

Waste Pro of Florida, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

47 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 2 of 50 
 

AGREEMENT FOR SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS 
SERVICES FOR THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

 
This AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ____ day of 
__________, 2013 (the “Effective Date”), by and between:  

 
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, a municipal 
corporation existing under the laws of the state of Florida, 
hereafter referred to as “TOWN,” 
 

and 
 
WASTE PRO OF FLORIDA, INC., a Florida corporation, with 
an address of 411 Tall Pines Road West Palm Beach, Florida 33413, , 
hereafter referred to as “CONTRACTOR,” (with the TOWN and 
WASTE PRO each referred to as a “Party” and collectively as the 
“Parties”). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, the TOWN is a municipal corporation of the State of Florida, the powers of 

which are defined in the TOWN’s Charter and State law; and  
 
WHEREAS, the TOWN is in need of services, equipment, and materials for professional 

solid waste collections, disposal services, recycling collections, recycling disposal services, and 
such other related services for TOWN residences which involve the assistance of licensed 
professionals; and  

 
WHEREAS, the TOWN has identified specifically a need for such professional solid 

waste disposal company that will provide residential solid waste services, recycling collection 
services, commercial services, and roll-off collection services for the TOWN, which may include 
but is not limited to the curbside collection of solid waste, vegetative waste, and designated 
recyclable materials; the removal of trash, bulk trash, construction and demolition debris, litter, 
as designated by the Parties; the coordination of holiday pickups, and other such designated 
services identified herein for the TOWN; and 

 
WHEREAS, the TOWN undertook a competitive selection process, requesting responses 

to an Invitation to Bid No. 2013-002 (the “Bid”), attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit “A;” and 

 
WHEREAS, the CONTRACTOR’s response to the Bid (“Response”) was the bid 

selected by the TOWN Council as the lowest, most responsive bidder for solid waste disposal 
and recycling collections services; and 

 

 
 

48 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 3 of 50 
 

WHEREAS, the CONTRACTOR’s response to the Bid, attached hereto and 
incorporated into this Agreement as Exhibit “B,” was the bid selected by the TOWN for solid 
waste and recycling collections services; and 

 
WHEREAS, the TOWN has determined that CONTRACTOR has the experience, 

expertise, equipment, and materials to provide such professional solid waste and recycling 
collections services, and is capable of providing the necessary materials and manpower to 
address the aforementioned solid waste and recycling collections services issues of the TOWN, 
subject to the agreement of the Parties on criteria for such services, and the TOWN’s agreement 
to pay for such services and supplies; and 

 
WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR has stated that it has staff currently employed and 

available and who are certified to perform such services; and 
 
WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR agrees to commit the necessary personnel to perform the 

services at the corresponding rates as may be reviewed; and 
 
WHEREAS, CONTRACTOR is willing to provide said services to the TOWN pursuant 

to the terms and conditions set forth herein; and 
 
WHEREAS, the TOWN Council and CONTRACTOR have determined that this 

Agreement is in the best interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within the 
TOWN. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual terms, conditions, 

promises, covenants, and payments hereafter set forth, TOWN and CONTRACTOR agree as 
follows: 
 
1. TERM: Notwithstanding any reservation of rights described herein, the term of this 

Agreement grants CONTRACTOR the exclusive right and obligation to collect residential 
garbage, trash, vegetation, recyclable materials and construction debris within the corporate 
limits of the TOWN stated for period of five (5) years, commencing on October 1, 2013 and 
ending September 30, 2018.  Additionally, the Town anticipates providing itself the sole and 
exclusive option to negotiate the agreement for additional one (1) year terms.  For years two 
(2) through five (5) of the contract, TOWN anticipates the Contractor may increase the rate 
based on the annual Consumer Price Index (June to June, All Urban Consumers-US all Items 
1982-84=100).  However, under no circumstance does TOWN anticipate the increase to 
exceed 3%. 

 
2. DEFINITIONS: 
 
To the extent the definitions contained herein conflict with similar definitions contained in any 
federal, state or local law, the definition herein shall prevail.  However, nothing contained herein 
shall be interpreted to require the CONTRACTOR to undertake any conduct which is contrary to 
federal, state or local law. 
 

 
 

49 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 4 of 50 
 

A. TOWN shall mean the Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
 
B. Biohazardous or Biomedical Wastes shall mean those wastes which may cause 

disease or reasonably be suspected of harboring pathogenic organisms; included, 
but not limited to, waste resulting from the operation of medical clinics, hospitals, 
and other facilities producing wastes which may consist of, but are not limited to, 
diseased human and animal parts, contaminated bandages, pathological 
specimens, hypodermic needles, contaminated clothing and surgical gloves. 

 
C. Bulk Trash shall mean any non-vegetative item which cannot be containerized, 

bagged, or bundled; including, but not limited to, inoperative and discarded 
refrigerators, ranges, toilets, pool heaters, water softeners, pianos, washers, 
dryers, bath tubs, water heaters, sinks, bicycles, and other similar domestic 
appliances, household goods and furniture and shall not be commingled with 
Vegetative Waste.  There shall be no weight limit for any item of Bulk Trash. 

 
D. Business Days shall mean Monday through Saturday. 
 
E. Collection shall mean the process whereby solid waste, Garbage, Trash, Bulk 

Trash, Vegetative Waste or Recyclable Material is removed and transported to a 
Designated Facility. 

 
F. Commercial Recycling Collection Service shall mean the Collection of 

Recyclable Materials by the CONTRACTOR for entities within the Service Area 
that are not serviced by Residential Recycling Collection Service. 

 
G. Commercial Solid Waste shall include any Garbage, Bulk Trash, Trash, or 

Vegetative Waste that is not Residential Solid Waste.  Substantial effort shall be 
made not to commingle Garbage, Trash, or Bulk Trash with Vegetative Waste. 

 
H. Commercial Solid Waste Collection Service shall mean the collection of 

Commercial Solid Waste within the Service Area.  Such service includes both 
Containers and Compactors, but does not include Roll-off Collection Services. 

 
I. Compactor shall mean any container which has compaction mechanism(s), 

whether stationary or mobile, all inclusive. 
 
J. Construction and Demolition Debris (C&D) shall mean materials generally 

considered to be not water soluble and non-hazardous in nature, including, but not 
limited to, steel, glass, brick, concrete, roofing material, pipe, gypsum wallboard, 
and lumber from the construction or destruction of a structure as part of a 
construction or demolition project.  Mixing of a de minimis amount of waste other 
than C&D from the construction site will not automatically cause it to be 
classified as other than C&D. 

 

 
 

50 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 5 of 50 
 

K. Container shall mean and include any container designed or intended for an 
automated or semi-automated collection system requiring the use of some other 
standard receptacle compatible with the CONTRACTOR’s equipment supplied by 
the CONTRACTOR and approved by the TOWN.  All Containers must be of the 
specifications as designated by the Contract Administrator, in writing.   

 
L. Containerized Residential Recycling Collection Service shall mean the 

collection of Recyclable Materials by the Contractor from Dwelling Units in the 
Service Area that requires the use of Containers for the collection of Recyclable 
Materials and which also receive Residential Collection Service for solid waste, 
and the delivery of those Recyclable Materials to the Materials Recycling Facility. 

 
M. Containerized Residential Solid Waste Collection Service shall mean solid 

waste collection service of all Dwelling Units, whose Garbage, Trash, Bulk Trash, 
or Vegetative Waste is collected by means of a standard receptacle compatible 
with the COTRACTOR’s equipment provided by CONTRACTOR and not by 
means of a garbage Can.  Vegetative Waste shall not be commingled with 
Garbage, Trash, or Bulk Trash. 

 
N. Contract shall mean this Agreement. 

 
O. CONTRACTOR shall mean that person or entity set out initially above that has 

entered into this Agreement to provide the services described herein for the 
Service Area. 

 
P. Contract Administrator shall mean the TOWN Manager or designee, who shall 

act as the TOWN’s representative during the term of this Agreement. 
 
Q. County shall mean Palm Beach County. 
 
R. Curbside Residential Recycling Collection Service shall mean the collection of 

Recyclable Materials by the Contractor from all Dwelling Units in the Service 
Area that also receive Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service for 
Solid Waste and other Dwelling Units as are designated by the TOWN, and the 
delivery to a Materials Recycling Facility. 

 
S. Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service shall mean Residential 

Solid Waste and Vegetative Waste Collection service for all Dwelling Units 
whose Garbage is collected by means of a Garbage Can at curbside or roadway.  

 
T. Designated Facility shall mean a Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority 

owned disposal, processing, recovery, recycling, or transfer facility, or another 
facility if specifically designated in writing by the Contract Administrator or 
designee, pursuant to the Interlocal Agreement Palm Beach County Solid Waste 
Authority which was part of the Bid. 

 

 
 

51 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 6 of 50 
 

U. Dwelling Unit shall mean any type of structure or building unit intended for or 
capable of being utilized for residential living other than a licensed Hotel or Motel 
unit. 

 
V. Fiscal Year shall mean the period between October 1 of a given year and 

September 30 of the following year during this Contract. 
 

W. Garbage shall mean all putrescible waste which generally includes but is not 
limited to kitchen and table food waste, animal, vegetative, food or any organic 
waste that is attendant with or results from the storage, preparation, cooking or 
handling of food materials whether attributed to residential or commercial 
activities.  Vegetative Waste shall not be commingled with Garbage in the same 
collection.  Garbage shall not include any material that falls within the definition 
of Special Waste. 

 
X. Garbage Can shall mean any commonly available light gauge steel, plastic, or 

galvanized receptacle of a non-absorbent material, closed at one end and open at 
the other, furnished with a closely fitted top or lid and handle(s).  A Garbage Can 
is also defined as a heavy duty, securely tied, plastic bag designed for use as a 
garbage receptacle.  Such container including waste materials shall not exceed 
fifty (50) gallons in capacity or fifty (50) pounds in weight. 

 
Y. Hazardous Waste shall mean solid waste as defined by the State of Florida 

Department of Environmental Regulation as a hazardous waste in the State of 
Florida Administrative Code, or by any future legislative action or by federal, 
state or local law. 

 
Z. Hotel or Motel shall mean a structure or building unit(s) capable of being utilized 

for residential living where such unit or a group of such units is regularly rented 
to transients or held out or advertised to the public as a place regularly rented to 
transients for periods of seven days or less.  "Transient" has the meaning as 
defined in Chapter 509, Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time. 

 
AA. Land Clearing shall mean the removal of vegetation for the purpose of 

improving real property through remodeling, new construction or agricultural use.  
Land clearing shall include, but is not limited to, trees, brush, dirt, rocks or similar 
obstructions/materials being removed from a parcel of assessed residential land 
using mechanical devices such as a bobcat, backhoe, front-end loader, tractor, 
bulldozer, etc.  Removal refers to the physical action of the equipment digging, 
scraping, bulldozing, and/or pulling debris from the ground.  Transporting legally 
cut vegetation to the curb using a mechanical device does not constitute land 
clearing.  A chainsaw is not to be considered a mechanical device in the removal 
process. 

 
BB. Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) shall mean any facilities operated or 

managed by, for, or on behalf of the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority, 

 
 

52 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 7 of 50 
 

for the purpose of receiving, sorting, processing, storing, and/or preparing 
Recyclable Materials for sale, as specifically designated by the Contract 
Administrator or designee, in writing, as set forth in the Interlocal Agreement 
between the TOWN and Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority included as 
part of the Bid. 

 
CC. Mixed Paper shall be defined as a mixture of paper products including 

magazines, catalogues, phone books, cereal boxes, soda and beer can boxes, 
chipboard, file folders, envelopes, letter paper, junk mail, notebook paper and any 
other clean paper products. 

 
DD. Peak Times shall mean the period between November 1 of a given year and April 

30 of the following year, unless otherwise specified by the TOWN. 
 

EE. Public Awareness Program shall mean that program developed by the TOWN to 
inform and encourage residential and commercial solid waste collection 
customers to use all solid waste and recycling collection services offered by the 
Town through the Contract.  It shall also mean information concerning level of 
service and changes in scope of service. 

 
FF. Recyclable Materials shall mean those materials designated in writing by the 

Town to the Contractor which are capable of being recycled and which would 
otherwise be processed or disposed of as solid waste.  The materials initially 
designated by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority are newspapers 
(including inserts); magazines; catalogs; phone books; aluminum cans, foil, and 
pans; plastic containers #1 - #7 (except styrofoam); glass bottles and jars; gable-
topped containers; aseptic containers; corrugated cardboard; kraft bags; and steel 
and ferrous cans.  The Town reserves the right to designate Mixed Paper as a 
recyclable material at any time during the term of this Contract upon written 
notice to the Contractor at no additional cost. 

 
GG. Recycling Containers shall mean bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County 

Solid Waste Authority to each unit that is to receive Curbside Residential 
Recycling Collection Service in the Service Area. 

 
HH. Residential Recycling Collection Service shall mean Curbside Residential 

Recycling Collection Services and Containerized Residential Recycling 
Collection Service. 

 
II. Residential Solid Waste shall mean Garbage, Trash and Bulk Trash resulting 

from the normal housekeeping activities of a Dwelling Unit, but shall not include 
Vegetative Waste.  Residential Solid Waste shall also mean Construction and 
Demolition Debris (C&D) resulting from minor home repair from the Dwelling 
Unit. 

 

 
 

53 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 8 of 50 
 

JJ. Residential Solid Waste Collection Service shall mean Curbside Residential 
Solid Waste Collection Service and/or Containerized Residential Solid Waste 
Collection Service. 

 
KK. Roll-off Collection Service shall mean the Collection of C&D only roll-off 

containers or the Collection of C&D by other mechanical means, within 
temporary locations in the Service Area, limited to new construction sites and 
remodeling or refurbishment sites.  Permanent businesses or manufacturing 
companies that generate C&D on site as part of their operations may obtain roll-
off containers from any source for the purpose of recycling the C&D material 
only provided they also have a container for all other Commercial Solid Waste 
which is collected exclusively by the Contractor. 

 
LL. Service Area shall mean the Town of Loxahatchee Groves. 

 
MM. Sludge shall mean a solid or semi-solid or liquid generated from any waste water 

treatment plant, water supply treatment plant, air pollution control facility, septic 
tank, grease trap, portable toilets and related operations, or any other such waste 
having similar characteristics or effects. 

 
NN. Solid Waste Town Disposal Facility shall mean place or places specifically 

managed or operated by the Solid Waste Authority of Palm Beach County, unless 
otherwise directed by the Contract Administrator in writing. 

 
OO. Special Services shall mean any services requested or required by the customer 

which are in addition to, or a change in, Residential Solid Waste Collection 
Service, Residential Recycling Collection Service, Commercial Recycling 
Collection Service and Commercial Solid Waste Collection Service as set out or 
similar to those listed in Exhibit II. 

 
PP. Special Waste shall include automobiles, boats, internal combustion engines, 

non- automobile tires, Sludge, dead animals, livestock waste, septic tank waste, 
Bio hazardous or Biomedical Waste, liquid waste, and Hazardous Waste.  Special 
Waste may also include items determined by the Contract Administrator to be 
reasonably unmanageable. 

 
QQ. Trash shall mean all refuse, accumulation of paper, rags, wooden or paper boxes 

and containers, sweepings, broken toys, tools, utensils, and all other 
accumulations of a similar nature other than Garbage, which are usual to 
housekeeping and to the operation of stores, offices and other business places, but 
shall not include Vegetative Waste. 

 
RR. Uncontrollable Forces shall mean any event which results in the prevention or 

delay of performance by a party of its obligations under this Agreement and 
which is beyond the reasonable control of the nonperforming party.  It includes, 

 
 

54 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 9 of 50 
 

but is not limited to fire, flood, hurricanes, earthquakes, storms, lightning, 
epidemic, war, riot, civil disturbance, sabotage, and governmental actions. 

 
SS. Vegetative Waste shall mean any vegetative matter resulting from yard and 

landscaping maintenance by any party and shall include materials such as tree and 
shrub materials, grass clippings, palm fronds, tree branches and similar other 
matter usually produced as refuse in the care of lawns, landscaping and yards.  All 
items other than palm fronds, tree branches and Christmas trees such as grass 
clippings, leaves, pine needles, and similar small loose items must be bagged or 
containerized with each filled container weighing less than 50 pounds.  Vegetative 
Waste, except palm fronds, must be no more than six (6) feet in length and no 
single item shall weigh more than 50 pounds, and shall be placed neatly at the 
curb.  Natural Christmas trees will be collected as Vegetative Waste and any 
section must not be more than 8 feet in length or 50 pounds in weight. 

 
3. SERVICES PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR: The CONTRACTOR shall provide 

mandatory Residential Solid Waste Collection Services and Residential Recycling Collection 
Service in the Service Area.  The right to provide such Collection Services in the Service 
Area shall be exclusive to the CONTRACTOR.  The TOWN or its designee will be 
responsible for the billing and collection of payments for the mandatory Residential Solid 
Waste Collection Service and Residential Recycling Collection Service. 

 
(a) The CONTRACTOR shall provide Commercial Solid Waste Collection Services in 

the Service Area, which shall be an exclusive right to the CONTRACTOR.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the billing and collection of Commercial 
Solid Waste Collection Services and disposal costs not being billed and collected by 
the TOWN or its designee. 

 
(b) Roll-off Collection Services shall be exclusive to the CONTRACTOR.  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, collection of waste contained 
in roll-off containers in the Service Area is exclusive to the Contractor. 

 
(c) No other person or entity except the CONTRACTOR may offer or provide 

Residential Solid Waste Collection Service, Residential Recycling Collection Service, 
or Commercial Solid Waste Collection Service in the Service Area. 

 
(d) Both the TOWN and the CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledge and agree that the 

TOWN has the option to make adjustments to the Scope of Services as it deems 
necessary. 

 
(e) The TOWN agrees to assist the CONTRACTOR in taking timely action against any 

entity violating the provisions of this Section 3. 
 
(f) The CONTRACTOR shall provide Commercial Recycling Collection Services in the 

Service Area upon request by the Customer or the Town, or through the solicitation 

 
 

55 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 10 of 50 
 

efforts of the CONTRACTOR.  However, Commercial Recycling Collection Services 
are not exclusive to the CONTRACTOR in the Service Area. 

 
4. SOLID WASTE AND VEGETATIVE WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE: 
 

A. Curbside Residential Solid Waste and Vegetative Waste Collection Services: 
The initial Curbside Residential Collection Service provided by this Agreement 
shall be as set forth in this Section 4A and shall continue until such time as the 
Contract is terminated. 
  
1. Conditions and Frequency of Service: All Curbside Residential Solid Waste 

and Vegetative Waste shall be properly containerized in Garbage Cans or 
otherwise prepared for collection.  Vegetative Waste shall be separated from 
Residential Solid Waste.   
 

2. All Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service, except for permitted 
holidays, shall be provided twice per week, unless options of service (as 
described in RESIDENTIAL COLLECTION herein) are implemented, with 
not less than forty-eight (48) hours nor more than seventy-two (72) hours 
between regularly scheduled pick-up days.  Missed Saturday Residential Solid 
Waste and Vegetative Waste must be collected by 2:00 p.m. on the following 
Monday.  Vegetative Waste must be placed at an accessible pick-up location 
similar to the Garbage Can.  If the customer has moderately commingled 
Residential Solid Waste and Vegetative Waste, CONTRACTOR shall 
separate the Residential Solid Waste from the Vegetative Waste and collect 
the materials separately.   

 
3. Trash, Bulk Trash, and Construction and Demolition Debris (C&D) resulting 

from minor home maintenance and repair only will be collected at the curb.  
Contractor is not required to collect sections of fencing or debris resulting 
from the demolition of sheds, storage buildings, and other like structures or 
debris generated by major remodeling/construction projects.  C&D may 
include, but is not limited to, drywall, lumber, fencing, roofing material, 
concrete blocks, and paneling.  Collection of C&D shall be limited to no more 
than two (2) cubic yards per collection per dwelling unit.  Small pieces of 
C&D, such as tile or roofing material, shall be containerized and weigh not 
more than fifty (50) pounds per container.  In the event Bulk Trash contains 
Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), the Contractor shall collect the Bulk Trash item 
separately, in a non-compacting vehicle, and deliver the item, with every 
attempt not to release the CFCs into the atmosphere, to the Palm Beach 
County Solid Waste Authority landfill, the Belle Glade transfer station, or to a 
scrap dealer located in Palm Beach County.  There shall be no weight limit for 
any Bulk Trash item. 

 
4. Every effort shall be made to have the Vegetative Waste service day on the 

first day of the two scheduled route days.  Each container shall not exceed 
fifty (50) pounds in weight or fifty (50) gallons in capacity.  Branches shall 

 
 

56 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 11 of 50 
 

not exceed six (6) feet in length or fifty (50) pounds in weight.  There is no 
length limitation on palm fronds.  Christmas trees shall not exceed eight (8) 
feet in length or fifty (50) pounds in weight. 

 
5. Hours of Collection:  Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service 

shall be provided between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday 
through Saturday.  The hours of collection may be extended due to 
extraordinary circumstances or conditions with the prior consent of the 
TOWN Manager or designee.  Collection shall under normal circumstances 
take place on Wednesday and Saturday each week. 

 
6. Routes and Schedules:  The CONTRACTOR shall provide the TOWN 

Manager or designee in a format acceptable, the schedules for all Collection 
routes and keep such information current at all times.   If CONTRACTOR 
desires to make subsequent changes in the curbside collection service routes 
or schedules that will result in a benefit to the community, a written request 
shall be made to the TOWN Manager or designee not less than sixty (60) days 
prior to the requested date of change.   Such request shall include the proposed 
location and details of the route or schedule change, and the reason for 
change. 

 
7. Accessibility:  The edge of all Residential Solid Waste and Vegetative Waste 

to be collected Curbside must be placed within six (6) feet of the curb, paved 
surface of the public road, closest accessible public right-of-way, or other 
such location agreed to by the CONTRACTOR that will provide a safe and 
efficient accessibility to the CONTRACTOR’s collection crew and vehicle.  
In the event there is insufficient space between the curb and the sidewalk to 
place Residential Solid Waste and Vegetative Waste, the edge of all 
Residential Solid Waste and Vegetative Waste to be collected shall be within 
two (2) feet of the sidewalk.  In the event there is no other accessible location 
available to customer, all Residential Solid Waste and Vegetative Waste 
placed under electrical wires, trees, or other obstructions preventing the use of 
a vehicle with mechanical loading capability shall be collected by means of a 
rear-load collection vehicle.  CONTRACTOR may request, in writing, to have 
Contract Administrator or his designee meet with them to determine alternate 
Collection location.  Contract Administrator’s decision of suitable location 
shall be final.  For purposes of this Agreement, public road or public right-of-
way means a road owned and maintained by the Town, the County, or special 
district, or a road on private property for which an easement has been granted 
to the public and such road is constructed and maintained to a standard 
whereby access is available by the collection vehicle. 
 
Where the resident of a dwelling unit is physically unable to deliver 
Residential Solid Waste to curbside and this is certified by the Contract 
Administrator, or the residential structure is located in such a manner as to 
provide non-accessibility to the CONTRACTOR’s crew or vehicle, an 

 
 

57 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 12 of 50 
 

alternative location may be arranged between the customer and the Contractor 
at no extra cost to the customer.  Vegetative Waste must continue to be placed 
curbside.  In the event an appropriate location cannot be agreed upon, the 
Contract Administrator shall mediate the dispute and designate the location 
for pick-up.  The Contractor Administrator’s decision as to a suitable location 
shall be final.  If the resident requests Special Services, such as back door 
service, these services shall be billed directly to customer by Contractor in 
accordance with the approved rate schedule, attached hereto and incorporated 
into this Agreement as Exhibit “C.”  In the event that a Special Service 
request is not listed in Exhibit C, such charges shall then be established 
through negotiations between the CONTRACTOR and the customer.  In the 
event the customer and the CONTRACTOR cannot reach an agreement on the 
cost, the Contract Administrator shall determine the cost. 

 
B. Containerized Residential Solid Waste Collection Services: The 

CONTRACTOR shall provide Containerized Residential Solid Waste Collection 
Service to all Dwelling Units in the Service Area that are suitable to receive such 
service and request such service.  Commercial Container rental rates, terms, and 
provisions contained in the Agreement shall also apply to Containers rented for 
residential service.  Normal Collection service, not including Bulk Trash 
collection, shall be twice per week.  However, the customer may elect to receive 
once a week service during off Peak Times of the year and up to three times per 
week Collection service during Peak Times, as required, at no additional cost to 
the customer (as long as the average is two times per week on an annual basis).  
The size and location of the Container and frequency of collection (more than the 
minimum of once per week) shall be determined by the CONTRACTOR and the 
residential complex in accordance with this Agreement.  In case of an unresolved 
dispute, the Contract Administrator shall resolve such issue.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall be paid the appropriate containerized unit collection rate in 
accordance with the approved rate schedule identified in Exhibit C.  Any service 
requested by the residential complex above three (3) times per week or greater 
than the two (2) times per week annual average, with the exception of Bulk Trash 
collection, shall also be paid in accordance with the “commercial solid waste 
collection” rates in Exhibit C.  The frequency of collection of Bulk Trash outside 
the container shall be no less than once per week unless otherwise agreed to by 
the customer and approved by the Contract Administrator.  Any disputes as to the 
frequency of Bulk Trash collection shall be resolved by the Contract 
Administrator.  In the event Bulk Trash contains Chlorofluorocarbons, (CFCs), 
the CONTRACTOR shall collect the Bulk Trash item separately, in a non-
compacting vehicle, and deliver the item, with every attempt not to release the 
CFCs into the atmosphere, to the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority 
landfill, the Belle Glade transfer station, or to a scrap dealer located in Palm 
Beach County.  There shall be no weight limit for any Bulk Trash item. 
 
1. Conditions and Frequency of Service:  A minimum of once a week service 

is required of all customers, or such other minimum frequency as provided by 

 
 

58 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 13 of 50 
 

law.  Such service shall be provided by mechanical Container as defined 
herein.  However, where a customer generates less than two (2) cubic yards 
per week of waste, alternate non-mechanical Containers may be utilized.  The 
size of the Container and the frequency (above the minimum) of collection 
shall be determined between the customer and the CONTRACTOR.  
However, size and frequency shall be sufficient to provide that no Residential 
Solid Waste need be placed outside the Container. 

 
The CONTRACTOR shall provide Containers at the approved rental rates as 
necessary; however, customers may own their Container provided that the 
customer is completely responsible for its proper maintenance.  Such 
Containers shall be of a type that can be serviced by the Contractor's 
equipment.  All Residential Solid Waste shall be placed in a Container or 
Garbage Can.  Vegetative Waste shall not be commingled with Garbage.  
Where Garbage Cans are used, they shall be placed at an accessible location 
or at such other single collection point as may be agreed upon between the 
Contractor and the customer.  All Containers or Compactors shall be kept in a 
safe, accessible location agreed upon between the CONTRACTOR and the 
customer.  Any Container or Compactor damaged by the CONTRACTOR 
shall be repaired or replaced by the CONTRACTOR within five (5) Business 
Days.  All Containers and Compactors provided by the CONTRACTOR shall 
be in good condition.  In the event a Compactor, which is provided by a 
source other than the CONTRACTOR, is damaged or in need of repair, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide front load Containers, within 24 hours of 
notification, sufficient to provide uninterrupted service to customer until 
Compactor is repaired or replaced.  CONTRACTOR may charge customer for 
any Container rental in accordance with rates set forth in the approved rate 
schedule set forth in Exhibit C.  In the event a Compactor, which is provided 
by the Contractor, is damaged or in need of repair, CONTRACTOR shall 
provide front load Containers within 24 hours of notification sufficient to 
provide uninterrupted services until Compactor is repaired or replaced at no 
charge to the customer.  The CONTRACTOR shall have a regularly scheduled 
replacement program for all Containers to ensure Containers are in good 
condition.  The CONTRACTOR shall replace any Container reported as in 
poor condition by the customer within five (5) Business Days. 

 
2. Method of Collection: Collection shall occur on a regular basis with a 

frequency of pick-up as provided herein and the size of the Container to be 
agreed upon between the CONTRACTOR and the customer. 

 
3. Service Interruption: CONTRACTOR may not stop service to residential 

containerized customer for non-payment of fees for Container rental or special 
services without notification by certified letter to Contract Administrator or 
his designee and customer at which time Contract Administrator shall have 
five (5) Business Days to investigate and respond. 

 

 
 

59 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 14 of 50 
 

C. Commercial Solid Waste Collection Service: The CONTRACTOR shall collect 
and dispose of all Commercial Solid Waste in the Service Area, except Special 
Waste.  Such Commercial Collection Service shall be governed by the following 
material terms: 
 
1. Conditions and Frequency of Service: A minimum of once a week service is 

required of all commercial customers or such other minimum frequency as 
provided by law.  However, customers utilizing a roll-off Compactor 
container shall have the ability to receive service on an on-call basis provided 
roll-off Compactor is free from leaks or spillage.  There shall be no odor at 
any time disseminating from the roll-off Compactor, or vermin in the 
immediate area.  If complaints are received, or an inspection conducted by the 
TOWN proves the roll-off Compactor violates any of the above criteria, 
Contract Administrator will determine the frequency of service.  Such service 
shall be provided by mechanical Container as defined herein.  However, 
where a customer generates less than one (1) cubic yard per week of waste, 
alternate non-mechanical Containers maybe utilized (e.g., Garbage Can(s)).  If 
the commercial customer generates less than one (1) cubic yard per week and 
uses a Garbage Can, the commercial customer shall be charged the monthly 
Residential Curbside Solid Waste Collection rate, as set out in the approved 
rate schedule in Exhibit C.  The size of the Container and the frequency of 
collection shall be determined between the customer and the CONTRACTOR.  
However, size and frequency shall be sufficient to provide that no 
Commercial Solid Waste need be placed outside the Container.  Storage 
capacity shall be suitable for the amount of waste generated by the customer.  
The CONTRACTOR shall provide Containers as necessary; however, 
customers may own their Container provided that the customer is completely 
responsible for its proper maintenance.  Such Containers shall be of a type that 
can be serviced by the CONTRACTOR’s equipment.  In the event the 
CONTRACTOR provides the Container, the Container shall be in good 
condition.  All Commercial Solid Waste shall be placed in a Container, 
Compactor, or acceptable other Garbage Can.  Vegetative Waste shall not be 
commingled with Garbage.  All Containers or Compactors shall be kept in a 
safe, accessible location agreed upon between the CONTRACTOR and the 
customer.  Any Container or Compactor damaged by the Contractor shall be 
repaired or replaced by the Contractor within five (5) Business Days. 

 
Compactors may be obtained by customers from any source provided that 
such Compactor must be of a type that can be serviced by the 
CONTRACTOR’s equipment and the customer shall be completely 
responsible for its proper maintenance.  Compactor frequency of collection 
shall be sufficient to contain the waste without spillage. 
 
All Containers and Compactors provided by the CONTRACTOR shall be in 
good condition, painted, and neatly labeled with the CONTRACTOR’s name, 
phone number and size of Container.  In the event a Compactor, which is 

 
 

60 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 15 of 50 
 

provided by a source other than the Contractor, is damaged or in need of 
repair, CONTRACTOR shall provide front load Containers, within 24 hours 
of notification, sufficient to provide uninterrupted service to customer until 
Compactor is  repaired or replaced. 
 
CONTRACTOR may charge customer in accordance only with rates set forth 
in Exhibit C. 
 
In the event a Compactor, which is provided by the CONTRACTOR, is 
damaged or in need of repair, CONTRACTOR shall provide front load 
Containers within 24 hours of notification sufficient to provide uninterrupted 
service until Compactor is repaired or replaced.  CONTRACTOR may charge 
customer for collection and disposal only in accordance with rates set forth in 
Exhibit C. 

 
2. Method of Collection:  Collection shall occur on a regular basis with a 

frequency of pick-up as provided herein and the size of the Container to be 
agreed upon between the CONTRACTOR and the customer.  Permanent roll-
off and Compactor containers must be collected within 24 hours of customer 
request. 

 
3. Level, Type and Disclosure of Rates for Commercial Collection and 

Other Services: 
 

a. Commercial Collection Service:  The CONTRACTOR shall only charge 
rates as set out in Exhibit C or as otherwise allowed by this Agreement.  
A written Agreement between the CONTRACTOR and the customer shall 
be entered into regarding the level and type of service to be provided and 
manner of collection of fees.  The CONTRACTOR may not bill the 
customer more than thirty (30) days in advance unless otherwise requested 
by the customer.  The terms and conditions of such Agreement shall be in 
compliance with all provisions of this Agreement and the term shall not 
extend beyond the term of this Agreement as stated in Section 1.  The 
customer shall subscribe to a level of service sufficient to meet the needs 
of the customer in a sanitary and efficient manner.  However, upon failure 
of the parties to reach such an Agreement, the Contract Administrator or 
his designee shall establish the level and type of service to be provided 
including the location, size of the Container and number of pick-ups per 
week and the “TOTAL RATE” to be charged within the approved rate 
limits contained in Exhibit C.  The CONTRACTOR will be responsible 
for the billing and collection of Commercial Solid Waste Collection 
Services, disposal tipping fees, special service fees and Container rental 
charges except as otherwise provided in this Agreement. 

 
b. Disclosure:  By October 1 of each year of this Agreement, the 

CONTRACTOR shall provide the customer an annual disclosure 

 
 

61 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 16 of 50 
 

statement which may be placed either directly on the billing statement 
generated by CONTRACTOR’s billing system or on a separate cover 
letter included with the billing statement.  CONTRACTOR shall send a 
commercial customer list to the TOWN as well as a master copy of the 
disclosure statement which includes the following language: 

 
“REGULATION BY THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES” 

 
The terms and conditions of this Commercial Solid Waste and Recycling 
Collection Service Agreement are regulated by the Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  
Should the customer have any questions relating to the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement, the customer may call the Town Clerk at 561-793-2418. 
 

“COMMERCIAL COLLECTION CONTAINERS” 
 
The commercial collection container shall be of a type that can be serviced by the 
Contractor’s collection equipment.  The customer may either purchase the 
commercial collection Container from any source or rent such Container from the 
Contractor at the rental rate as approved by the Town.  If the customer chooses to 
use a Compactor, the customer may rent, lease or own the Compactor from any 
source, provided that the Compactor can be serviced by the Contractor’s 
collection equipment.  Commercial collection Containers and Compactors shall be 
maintained in a serviceable, safe, and sanitary condition by the owner of the 
Container or Compactor.  However, damage caused by the Contractor to a 
customer owned Container or Compactor shall be repaired at the cost of the 
Contractor. 
 

“SPECIAL SERVICES” 
 
If the customer requests, the Contractor is required to provide special services for 
collection of solid waste such as rolling Containers out of storage areas, opening 
doors or gates for access, or other such special services.  However, such special 
services may be provided by the customer, through its own or other personnel.  If 
the Contractor provides special services, such charge must be separately stated 
under the “RATES FOR SERVICES” disclosure statement.  The maximum for 
these special service rates are fixed by the Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  A copy 
of these rates can be obtained from the Contractor or the Town Clerk. 
 
The “RATES FOR SERVICES” statement shall incorporate or have attached a 
rate schedule which specifies the Collection Rate based on size of Container and 
frequency of service; TYPE indicating whether the Container is for Solid Waste 
or Recycling, DISPOSAL based on a cost per cubic yard; CONTAINER 
RENTAL expressed in a monthly flat rate based on the size of the Container; and 
the cost per month for each SPECIAL SERVICE REQUIRED BY THE 
CUSTOMER.  The notification shall specify the size of Container and frequency 
of collection of each Container for each business, distinguishing between solid 

 
 

62 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 17 of 50 
 

wastes and recycling collection service.  The notification shall itemize each cost 
individually.  A sample notification shall be approved by the Contract 
Administrator or his designee before distribution to the customer. 

 
D. Method of Payment: The TOWN or its designee will be responsible for the 

billing and collection of payments for Residential Solid Waste Collection Service.  
Payments from the TOWN to the CONTRACTOR will be due and paid no later 
than the tenth (10th) day of the month following service.  The initial collection rate 
per unit per month shall be as set out in the approved rate schedule set forth in 
Exhibit C.   
  

E. Hours of Collection: Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service shall 
be provided between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.  Monday through 
Saturday.  Dwelling Units receiving Containerized Residential Solid Waste 
Collection Service and non-residential collection sites located within fifty (50) 
yards of residential uses shall be considered residential collection and shall only 
be collected between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through 
Saturday.  Other nonresidential locations may be collected at any time.  The hours 
of collection may be extended due to extraordinary circumstances or conditions 
with the prior consent of the Contract Administrator. 
 

F. Routes and Schedules: The CONTRACTOR shall provide the Contract 
Administrator, in a format acceptable to the Contract Administrator, the schedules 
for all Collection routes and keep such information current at all times. 
 
If CONTRACTOR desires to make subsequent changes in the curbside collection 
service routes or schedules that will result in a benefit to the community, a written 
request shall be made to the Contract Administrator not less than sixty (60) days 
prior to the requested date of change.  Such request shall include the proposed 
location and details of the route or schedule change, and the reason for change. 
 
The Contract Administrator shall review requested route change(s) and approve or 
deny requests, in writing, within ten (10) Business Days.  Contract 
Administrator’s decision shall be final.  In the event a requested route or schedule 
change is approved by the Contract Administrator, CONTRACTOR shall notify 
the customer(s) affected in writing or other manner approved by the Contract 
Administrator not less than two (2) weeks prior to the change, at no cost to the 
TOWN.  Notification of day changes for Curbside Residential customers shall be 
by door hanger, unless otherwise approved by the Contract Administrator, and 
distributed by the CONTRACTOR at no cost to the TOWN and the customer.  
Notification to Curbside customers shall be done twice - once two (2) weeks prior 
to the change and once one (1) week prior to the change.  CONTRACTOR shall 
provide a draft copy of the route change notification to the Contract Administrator 
for review and approval not less than three (3) weeks prior to printing and 
distribution. 

 

 
 

63 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 18 of 50 
 

5. RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICE: The Contractor shall provide Residential 
and Commercial Recycling Collection Service to all Dwelling Units receiving Curbside 
Residential Solid Waste Collection Service located in the designated Service Area.  The 
TOWN or its designee shall be responsible for the billing and collection of payments for 
Residential Recycling Collection Services.  The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for 
billing and collection of Commercial Recycling Collection Service cost not being billed 
and collected by the TOWN or its designee. 
 
A. Curbside Residential Recycling Collection Services will be governed by the 

following terms and conditions: 
 

1. Conditions and Frequency of Service: The CONTRACTOR shall provide 
Curbside Residential Recycling Collection Services to all Dwelling Units 
receiving Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service located in the 
designated Service Area and to other such Dwelling Units as determined 
appropriate by the Contract Administrator.  This service shall be provided 
once every week, unless otherwise specified by the TOWN, on a scheduled 
route basis which shall coincide with one of the two regularly scheduled solid 
waste collection pick-up days. 

 
Recyclable Materials shall not be commingled with other Residential Solid 
Waste.  CONTRACTOR’s collection personnel shall not knowingly collect 
Recyclable Materials and place in a solid waste collection vehicle or Garbage 
Can.  Recyclable Materials set out for collection by Customers must be 
collected in a vehicle designated solely for the purpose of collecting 
Recyclable Material.  Recycling vehicle shall contain signage designating 
vehicle as such and include the TOWN’s toll-free new bin telephone number.  
Commingling of solid waste with Recyclable Materials shall be subject to 
fines as set forth in this Agreement. 

 
2. Accessibility for and Manner of Curbside Recycling Collection:  All 

Recyclable Materials to be collected shall be in a Recycling Container, with 
the exception of cardboard and/or paper bag, and shall be placed within six (6) 
feet of the curb; paved surface of the public road, closest accessible public 
right-of-way, or other such location agreed to by the CONTRACTOR that will 
provide a safe and efficient accessibility to the CONTRACTOR’s collection 
crew and vehicle.  The CONTRACTOR must collect as many Recycling 
Containers, bags, bundles, or flattened cardboard, as the customer sets out.  
Cardboard shall be collected if placed next to, or inside, the Recycling 
Container or Container.  Where the resident is physically unable to deliver 
Recyclable Materials to curbside and this is certified by the Contract 
Administrator, or when the Dwelling Unit is located in such a manner as to 
provide non-accessibility to the CONTRACTOR’s crew or vehicle, an 
alternative location may be arranged between the customer and the 
CONTRACTOR at no extra cost to the customer.  In the event an appropriate 
location cannot be agreed upon, the Contract Administrator shall mediate the 
dispute and designate the location for pick- up. 

 
 

64 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 19 of 50 
 

 
3. Recycling Containers: The CONTRACTOR shall ensure distribution of 

Recycling Containers as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste 
Authority to each unit that is to receive Curbside Residential Recycling 
Collection Service in the Service Area.  The title to these Recycling 
Containers shall be vested with the TOWN.  However, customers may use 
their own additional Recycling Containers or paper bags as long as they are 
similar and suitable for the service.  CONTRACTOR shall deliver Recycling 
Containers within five (5) Business Days as requested by the customer or the 
TOWN. 

 
B. Containerized Residential Recycling Collection Service will be governed by 

the following terms and conditions: 
 
1. Conditions and Frequency of Service: The CONTRACTOR shall provide 

this service to Dwelling Units as are designated by the TOWN that are located 
in the Service Area.  This service shall be provided at least once every week 
on a scheduled route basis as set out in paragraph 2 below, and up to twice a 
week service as necessary during Peak Times of the year. 

 
Any Container or Recycling Container damaged by the Contractor shall be 
repaired or replaced by the CONTRACTOR within five (5) Business Days.  
Any Container or Recycling Container needing replacement, as requested by 
the customer or the TOWN, shall be replaced within five (5) Business Days 

 
2. Accessibility and Schedule for Containerized Residential Recycling 

Collection:  All Recyclable Materials, with the exception of cardboard, are to 
be collected in a Recycling Container or Container designated for Recyclable 
Materials which shall be located in such location and shall be collected on a 
schedule as mutually agreed to by the owner or governing association (of the 
multiple residential complex or development being serviced) and by the 
CONTRACTOR that will provide a safe and efficient accessibility to the 
CONTRACTOR’s collection crew and vehicle.  Cardboard shall be collected 
if placed next to, or inside, the Recycling Container or Container.  In the event 
an appropriate location cannot be agreed upon, the Contract Administrator 
shall mediate the dispute and designate the location for pickup. 

 
C. Commercial Recycling Collection Service:  The CONTRACTOR shall provide 

Commercial Recycling Collection Services on behalf of the TOWN for any 
business in the Service Area where the TOWN has arranged, negotiated or 
contracted for such service, and Contractor shall have the right to solicit 
Commercial Recycling Collection Service agreements with any business in the 
Service Area upon terms and conditions consistent with this Agreement. 
 
1. Conditions and Frequency of Service:  The CONTRACTOR shall provide 

Commercial Recycling Collection Services to all businesses or commercial 

 
 

65 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 20 of 50 
 

entities located in the designated Service Area resulting from its own 
solicitation, by request of the customer, or where a contract meeting the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement is arranged by the Contract Administrator or 
his designee.  The size and frequency of service of the Container designated 
for Recyclable Materials shall be determined by a waste audit and agreed to 
by the customer and the Contractor.  However, size and frequency shall be 
sufficient to provide that no Recyclable Materials need be placed outside the 
Container.  Storage capacity shall be suitable for the amount of Recyclable 
Materials generated by the customer.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide 
Containers as necessary; however, customers may own their Container 
provided that the customer is completely responsible for its proper 
maintenance.  Such Containers shall be of a type that can be serviced by the 
CONTRACTOR’s equipment.  Compactors may be obtained by customers 
from any source provided that such Compactor must be of a type that can be 
serviced by the CONTRACTOR’s equipment and the customer shall be 
completely responsible for its proper maintenance.  Compactor frequency of 
collection shall be sufficient to contain the waste without spillage.  All 
Commercial Recyclable Materials shall be placed in a Container, Compactor, 
or other acceptable Recycling Container.  All Containers and Compactors 
provided by the Contractor shall be in good condition, painted and neatly 
labeled with the CONTRACTOR’s name, phone number and size of 
Container. 

 
Recyclable Material shall not be commingled with other solid waste.  
CONTRACTOR’s collection personnel shall not knowingly collect 
Recyclable Materials and place in a solid waste collection vehicle.  Recyclable 
Materials set out for collection by Customers must be collected in a vehicle 
designated solely for the purpose of collecting Recyclable Material.  
Commingling of solid waste with Recyclable Materials shall be subject to 
fines as set forth in this Agreement.  Where Recycling Containers are used, 
they shall be placed at an accessible location or at such other single collection 
point as may be agreed upon between the CONTRACTOR and the customer.  
All Containers shall be kept in a safe, accessible location agreed upon 
between the Contractor and the customer.  Any Container or Recycling 
Container damaged by the Contractor shall be repaired or replaced by the 
Contractor within five (5) Business Days. 

 
2. Level, Type and Disclosure of Rates for Commercial Recycling Collection 

and Other Services:  A written Agreement between the CONTRACTOR and 
the customer shall be entered into regarding the level and type of service to be 
provided and manner of collection of fees.  The terms and conditions of such 
Agreement shall be in compliance with all provisions of this Agreement and 
the term shall not extend beyond the term of this Agreement as stated in 
Section 1.  The customer shall subscribe to a level of service sufficient to meet 
the needs of the customer in a sanitary and efficient manner.  However, upon 
failure of the parties to reach such an agreement, the Contract Administrator, 

 
 

66 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 21 of 50 
 

or his designee, at the election of the customer and CONTRACTOR may 
establish the level and type of service to be provided including the location, 
size of the Container and number of pick-ups per week and the “TOTAL 
RATE” to be charged within the approved rate limits contained in the 
approved rate schedule in Exhibit C.  The CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for the billing and collection of Commercial Recycling Collection 
charges except as otherwise provided in this Agreement.  The written 
agreement between the Contractor and the customer shall be as specified in 
Section 4.C.3.b of this Agreement.  In the event the customer cancels a 
contract with the CONTRACTOR for Commercial Recycling Collection 
Services, the Contractor is not obligated to provide Commercial Recycling 
Collections at the rates set forth in Exhibit C.  Upon cancellation, the 
CONTRACTOR shall provide a written explanation, as provided by the 
TOWN, of this policy.  The CONTRACTOR shall allow the Customer three 
(3) days to rescind the cancellation after the written notification is provided. 

 
3. Ownership: Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, a 

commercial generator of Recyclable Materials retains ownership of those 
materials until he or she donates, sells, or contracts for the donation or sale of 
those materials to another person or entity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall 
prevent a person or entity engaged in the business of recycling, whether for 
profit or nonprofit, from accepting and transporting commercially generated, 
source separated Recyclable Materials from such commercial generator, 
provided however, that such activities are subject to applicable state and local 
public health and safety laws, and provided that the transporter must report 
such information to the TOWN as may be necessary for the documentation of 
state recycling or reduction goals. 

 
D. Method of Payment: The TOWN or its designee will be responsible for the 

billing and collection of payments for Residential Recycling Collection Service.  
Payments from the TOWN to the CONTRACTOR will be due and paid no later 
than the tenth (10th) day of the month following service.  The initial collection rate 
per unit per month shall be as set out in Exhibit C.  This rate shall be adjusted in 
subsequent years in accordance with Section 1.  The CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for billing and collection of payments for Commercial Recycling 
Collection Service, not to exceed the rates as set out in Exhibit C.  The rate set 
out in Exhibit C shall be adjusted in subsequent years in accordance with the 
terms of Section 1 herein.  The CONTRACTOR may be asked to bill the TOWN 
or the customer for all or a part of the Containers used by the customer for 
Commercial Recycling Collection Service, at the rate set out in Exhibit C, as 
determined by the Contract Administrator. 
 

E. Hours of Collection: Residential Recycling Collection Service shall be 
conducted between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Monday through 
Saturday.  Dwelling Units receiving Containerized Residential Recycling 
Collection Service and nonresidential collection sites located within 150 yards of 

 
 

67 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 22 of 50 
 

residential uses shall be considered residential collection and shall only be 
collected between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday.  
Other nonresidential locations may be collected at any time.  The hours of 
collection may be extended due to extraordinary circumstances or conditions with 
the prior consent of the Contract Administrator. 

 
F. Routes and Schedules: The CONTRACTOR shall provide the Contract 

Administrator, in a format acceptable to the Contract Administrator, the schedules 
for all collection routes and keep such information current at all times. 
 
In the event a change in the current Residential Recycling Collection routes is 
desired that will alter the day of pick-up, the Contractor shall notify the Contract 
Administrator, in writing, not less than sixty (60) days prior to desired change.  
The Contract Administrator shall review requested route change(s) and approve or 
deny request within ten (10) Business Days.  Contract Administrator’s decision 
shall be final.  In the event a requested route change is approved by the Contract 
Administrator, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the customer(s) affected in 
writing, or other manner approved by the Contract Administrator not less than 
two (2) weeks prior to the change, at no cost to the TOWN.  Notification of day 
changes for Curbside Residential customers shall be by door hanger unless 
otherwise approved by the Contract Administrator, and distributed by the 
Contractor at no cost to the Town and the customer.  Notification to Curbside 
customers shall be done twice - once two (2) weeks prior to the change and once 
one (1) week prior to the change.  CONTRACTOR shall provide a draft copy of 
the route change notification to the Contract Administrator for review and 
approval not less than three (3) weeks prior to printing and distribution.  
Notification includes any day changes, approved by the Contract Administrator, 
to the customer prior to the beginning of this Agreement on October 1, 2013. 
 

G. Replacement of Recycling Containers for Residential Dwelling Units: 
 
1. The CONTRACTOR will replace at his expense any Container or Recycling 

Container damaged through the fault or negligence of the CONTRACTOR or 
its employees.  Replacement Recycling Containers or Containers designated 
for Recycling for Residential Dwelling Units will be provided by the Palm 
Beach County Solid Waste Authority.  The CONTRACTOR shall replace the 
Recycling Container within five (5) Business Days of request by the customer 
or the TOWN. 
 

2. The Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority, at its expense, will supply to 
the CONTRACTOR, for distribution to the customer, replacement Recycling 
Containers or Containers which were originally provided by the Palm Beach 
County Solid Waste Authority and lost or damaged by the occupant of a 
Dwelling Unit.  The CONTRACTOR shall replace the Recycling Container or 
Containers within five (5) Business Days of the request by the customer or the 
TOWN. 

 
 

68 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 23 of 50 
 

 
3. The CONTRACTOR shall promptly deliver replacement Recycling 

Containers, or Containers damaged by its employees, or when notified by the 
Contract Administrator, or his designee, or the occupant of a Dwelling Unit 
where a Recycling Container or Container is damaged or missing, and shall 
monthly report all such replacements to the TOWN.  The CONTRACTOR 
shall also promptly deliver Recycling Containers or Containers as requested 
by the TOWN on behalf of the residential customers for the purpose of excess 
Recyclable Materials or for new residential customers within five (5) Business 
Days of the request by the customer or the TOWN. 

 
H. Manner of Collection: The Contractor shall collect Recyclable Materials with as 

little disturbance as possible and shall leave the Recycling Container or Container 
housing Recyclable Materials at the same point it was collected.  To be eligible 
for Curbside Residential Recycling Collection Service, Recyclable Materials must 
be put in a Recycling Container, or other acceptable Container, and placed at the 
usual accessible pick-up location for Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection.  
All Recyclable Materials set out by the customer that meet these criteria shall be 
collected.  In the event the customer places solid waste in the Recycling 
Container(s) or Container(s), the Contractor must collect all Recyclable Materials 
and leave the solid waste in the Recycling Container(s) or Container(s).  The 
CONTRACTOR must then place a contamination sticker on the Recycling 
Container(s) or Container(s) advising the customer of the reason the solid waste 
was not collected.  Contamination stickers will be provided to the 
CONTRACTOR by the TOWN. 
 

I. Material Recycling Facility: The CONTRACTOR shall deliver all Recyclable 
Materials collected from the Service Area to the Solid Waste Authority MRF or 
facility designated, in writing, by the Contract Administrator. 

 
J. Change in Scope of Recycling Collection Service: From time to time, at the sole 

option of the TOWN, it may be necessary to modify the scope of Recyclable 
Materials that will be included in Recycling Collection Service.  Should this 
occur, the TOWN and the CONTRACTOR agree to enter into good faith 
negotiations to amend this Agreement to reflect the impact of any such 
modification. 

 
6. CHARGES, RATES AND LEVEL OF SERVICES: 

 
A. Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Rate Adjustments: For all Collection 

services, the charges shall be initially based on the rates established in Exhibit C, 
and as subsequently adjusted pursuant to this Agreement.  The CONTRACTOR 
may receive an annual adjustment in the Residential Solid Waste Collection 
Service, Commercial Recycling Collection Service, Commercial Solid Waste 
Collection Service and Residential Recycling Collection Service rates in 
accordance with the terms set forth in this Agreement.   

 
 

69 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 24 of 50 
 

 
No change in rates except for the Payment Schedule adjustment as provided by 
this Agreement shall be made without the approval of the TOWN Council.  
Annual rate adjustments shall be effective the following October 1, unless 
otherwise mutually determined by the TOWN and the CONTRACTOR. 

 
B. Town's Obligation- Billing, Collection, Payments: 

 
1. The TOWN will be responsible for the billing and collection of payments for 

those units included in the TOWN’s mandatory Residential Solid Waste 
Collection Services and the Residential Recycling Collection Services 
programs.  The TOWN shall make monthly payments in arrears to the 
CONTRACTOR for the Residential Solid Waste Collection Service and 
Residential Recycling Collection Services provided pursuant to this Contract.  
The CONTRACTOR shall be entitled to payment for services rendered 
irrespective of whether or not the TOWN collects from customers for such 
service.  Payments from the TOWN to the CONTRACTOR will be due and 
paid no later than the tenth (10th) day of the month following the month during 
which services were rendered. 

 
On or before October 1, and before commencement of work by the 
CONTRACTOR under the anticipated terms of this Agreement, the TOWN 
shall provide to the CONTRACTOR the estimated total number of units to be 
serviced.  By November 1 of each Fiscal Year, the TOWN shall provide to the 
CONTRACTOR a copy of the annual assessment roll providing a detailed 
listing of all the units to receive these services.  Thereafter and for the 
duration of this Agreement, the TOWN shall promptly notify the 
CONTRACTOR of new residential units to be served and/or deleted and 
payments will be adjusted accordingly.  New Dwelling Units which are added 
for service during the TOWN’s Fiscal Year will be added to the customer 
service list and payment will be paid by the TOWN to the CONTRACTOR in 
the CONTRACTOR’s monthly payment.  Payment will be prorated based 
upon the day of Certificate of Occupancy and verification of the beginning of 
actual service, whichever is later.  The payments from the TOWN to the 
CONTRACTOR for units added by Certificate of Occupancy are paid no later 
than the tenth (10th) day of the month, two months following the month during 
which the Dwelling Unit is provided a Certificate of Occupancy.  After the 
first year of the agreement, the Dwelling Unit becomes part of the total 
number of the subsequent year’s total number of units, provided annually to 
the CONTRACTOR on or before October 1. 

 
2. In the event the CONTRACTOR provides service to Dwelling Units whose 

parcel was not included on the annual assessment roll provided by the TOWN, 
the CONTRACTOR must provide a written list of such Dwelling Units to the 
Contract Administrator within ninety (90) days receipt of the assessment roll.  
Upon receipt of such written list by the TOWN, the Contract Administrator 

 
 

70 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 25 of 50 
 

will verify the customer address and that service to the unit is proper within 
thirty (30) days, and if proper, shall remit monthly payments to the 
CONTRACTOR for such service effective as of October 1 of that Fiscal Year 
or the date service began, whichever is later.  If the TOWN has not received 
notification within ninety (90) days by the CONTRACTOR, no adjustments to 
payment will be made until the next Fiscal Year annual roll is certified for the 
same units.  However, the TOWN reserves the right to correct any errors of 
omission or commission per the laws and rules that govern the TOWN.  In the 
event the TOWN pays the CONTRACTOR for a residential unit in error for 
whatever reason, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the Contract Administrator.  
Upon determination of any overpayment, the Contract Administrator will 
verify the error and make appropriate adjustment to the CONTRACTOR’s 
payment to correct the error. 

 
C. Solid Waste Disposal Costs: Collection service costs and solid waste disposal 

costs shall be treated separately for the solid waste Collection services being 
provided pursuant to this Contract.  The Contractor's payments for Collection are 
set out in Exhibit II.  Residential and commercial solid waste disposal costs shall 
be separated from residential and commercial collection service costs as shown in 
Exhibit II.  Residential disposal costs will be part of the special assessment billed 
by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority to the Town.  The Town will 
assign to the Contractor the disposal credits for each of the residential units as 
calculated in Exhibit II.  The non-assessed portion of the commercial disposal 
costs will be part of the service charge billed by the Contractor.  These credits are 
set by special assessment by Palm Beach County. 
 

D. Extraordinary Rate Adjustment: The Contractor may petition the Town at any 
time for an additional rate adjustment on the basis of extraordinary and unusual 
changes in the cost of operations that could not reasonably be foreseen by a 
prudent operator.  The Contractor's request shall contain substantial proof and 
justification, as determined by the Contract Administrator, to support the need for 
the rate adjustment.  The Town may request from the Contractor, and the 
Contractor shall provide, such further information as may be reasonably necessary 
in making its determination.  The Town may approve or deny the request, in 
whole or in part, within 120 days of receipt of the request and all other additional 
information required by the Town. 

 
 

 
7. HOLIDAYS: The CONTRACTOR shall not be required to collect Commercial Solid 

Waste, Commercial Recycling, Residential Solid Waste, Vegetative Waste, and 
Residential Recyclable Material or maintain office hours on Thanksgiving Day and 
Christmas Day.  Residential Solid Waste, Recyclable Material, and Vegetative Waste not 
collected on Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day shall be collected on the next 
scheduled service day.  The CONTRACTOR shall not be required to maintain office 
hours on Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.  However, on all holidays except 

 
 

71 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 26 of 50 
 

Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, the CONTRACTOR shall provide for operations 
personnel to accept calls from the TOWN and the CONTRACTOR’s customers. 
 

8. SPECIAL SERVICES: Rates charged for Special Services may not exceed the special 
service rates as listed in Exhibit C.  In the event the requested special service is not 
included within Exhibit C, the CONTRACTOR may negotiate with the customer for the 
rate.  Upon failure of the parties to reach an agreement on the rate, the Contract 
Administrator shall establish the rate.  The CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for 
billing and collection of payment for all Special Services. 
 

9. PUBLIC AWARENESS PROGRAM: The CONTRACTOR shall assist the TOWN 
with the Public Awareness Program by distributing door hangers, stickers, flyers, or other 
medium to residential and commercial customers as requested by the TOWN.  
Additionally it is the CONTRACTOR’s responsibility to provide information about those 
customers who repeatedly do not prepare or set out their Recyclable Material or solid 
waste as specified within this Contract to the TOWN.  The Commercial Recycling 
customer will also be notified, by the TOWN through the CONTRACTOR, about special 
commercial recycling events, workshops, educational forums, symposiums, and other 
activities, as needed.  TOWN personnel are available to assist the CONTRACTOR’s 
marketing staff in expanding commercial marketing service. 
 

10. MANNER OF COLLECTION:  The CONTRACTOR shall collect Residential Solid 
Waste, Vegetative Waste and Recyclable Materials and Commercial Solid Waste, 
Recycling, and Vegetative Waste with as little disturbance as possible and shall leave any 
receptacle at the same point that it was collected.  Any Container or Recycling Container, 
with the exception of Garbage Cans, damaged by the CONTRACTOR will be replaced 
by the CONTRACTOR within five (5) Business Days at no cost to the customer, unless 
otherwise provided within this Agreement.  Garbage Cans shall be replaced within three 
(3) Business Days.  The replacement must be similar in style, material, quality and 
capacity.  Throwing of any Garbage Can, Container, or Recycling Container is 
prohibited.  The CONTRACTOR shall neatly re-place the Container, Recycling 
Container, and Garbage Can to the point of collection. 
 

11. PERSONNEL OF THE CONTRACTOR: 
 
A. The CONTRACTOR shall assign a qualified person or persons to be in charge of 

the operations within the service area and shall give the name(s), office and cellular 
telephone numbers and, if applicable, email address of the person(s) to the Contract 
Administrator. 
 

B. Supervisory personnel must be present on all of TOWN’s routes to direct 
operations in a safe and satisfactory manner.  All supervisory personnel shall 
operate a non-collection vehicle that is clearly marked with CONTRACTOR’s 
name and office telephone number. 
 

 
 

72 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 27 of 50 
 

C. CONTRACTOR shall provide personnel sufficient to complete all routes.  
Supervisory personnel may temporarily operate collection vehicles in an emergency 
situation only with prior notification to and consent from the TOWN. 

 
D. The CONTRACTOR shall keep all contact information provided to the TOWN 

current at all times. 
 

E. The CONTRACTOR’s solid waste collection employees shall wear a uniform or 
shirt bearing the company’s name during operations. 

 
F. Each driver of a collection vehicle shall at all times carry a valid Florida driver’s 

license for the type of vehicle that is being driven. 
 

G. The CONTRACTOR’s name and office telephone number shall be properly 
displayed on all solid waste and recycling collection vehicles and Containers 
provided by the CONTRACTOR.  All vehicles utilized for the collection of 
Recyclable Material shall be clearly identified for that purpose. 

 
H. The CONTRACTOR shall provide operating and safety training for all personnel. 

 
I. The CONTRACTOR’s employees shall treat all customers in a polite and courteous 

manner. 
  

J. The CONTRACTOR shall provide emergency contact name(s), office, home, and 
cellular telephone numbers and, if applicable, email address for all key personnel. 
 

K. In the event of a dispute between a customer and the CONTRACTOR, key 
personnel of the CONTRACTOR shall be made available to meet with Contract 
Administrator or his designee as requested by the TOWN. 
  

L. Any employee of the CONTRACTOR who removes or diverts solid waste or 
Recyclable Material without authorization shall be prohibited from providing solid 
waste or Recyclable Materials collection services under this Agreement.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify the TOWN of any scavenging activity 
that comes to the CONTRACTOR’s attention. 
 

12. SPILLAGE:  The CONTRACTOR shall not litter or cause any spillage to occur upon the 
premises, roadway, or the right-of-way wherein the collection shall occur.  During 
hauling, all solid waste, Vegetative Waste and Recyclable Material shall be contained, 
tied, or enclosed so that leaking, spilling, and blowing is prevented.  In the event of any 
spillage or leakage, including but not limited to, hydraulic and other fluids from the 
collection vehicle or materials such as paint, by the CONTRACTOR, for any reason or 
source, the CONTRACTOR shall clean up all spillage and leakage at no cost to the 
TOWN or the customer within two (2) Business Days unless otherwise specified within 
this Agreement. 
 

 
 

73 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 28 of 50 
 

13. SOLID WASTE AND MATERIAL RECOVERY FACILITIES: All Residential 
Solid Waste, Commercial Solid Waste, Vegetative Waste and Recyclable Material shall 
be hauled to a Designated Facility.  For the TOWN, the CONTRACTOR is free to use 
any suitable Designated Facility.  In the event that a load of Commercial Collection 
Recyclable Materials delivered to the designated facility contains more than ten percent 
(10%) by volume of the total load of solid waste, trash, or commingled within a load of 
paper products, the Solid Waste Authority has the right to reject the load and to charge 
the Contractor the full disposal fee for each ton within the load.  The CONTRACTOR 
may pass this cost through to a commercial customer in the event that the 
CONTRACTOR can prove that the customer caused the contamination to the satisfaction 
of the customer.  It is the responsibility of the CONTRACTOR to notify the TOWN of 
any customer who has repeatedly contaminated the Recyclable Materials. 
 

14. COLLECTION EQUIPMENT: The CONTRACTOR shall have on hand at all times 
and in good working order such equipment as shall permit the CONTRACTOR to 
adequately and efficiently perform the contractual duties specified in this Agreement.  
Collection equipment utilized in this Agreement shall be not more than five (5) years old 
upon commencement of this Agreement.  Upon execution of this Agreement and semi-
annually thereafter, the CONTRACTOR shall provide in a format specified by the 
Contract Administrator a list of the equipment to be used by the CONTRACTOR to 
provide services relating to this Agreement.  Solid waste collection equipment shall be of 
the enclosed loader packer type, or other equipment that meets industry standards and is 
approved by the TOWN unless otherwise provided within this Agreement.  All 
Equipment shall be kept in good repair, appearance and in a sanitary, clean condition at 
all times.  Recycling Materials collection equipment shall be of a dual compartment type 
one (1) compartment for paper products; one (1) compartment for other Recyclable 
Material), separate trucks or other equipment that meets industry standards and is 
approved by the Contract Administrator, and must be compatible for unloading at the 
designated MRF or transfer station.  In the event a compacting vehicle is used for the 
collection of Recyclable Materials, compaction pressure may not exceed fifty (50) pounds 
per square inch for the commingled non-paper Recyclable Materials to avoid glass 
breakage.  Equipment utilized for the collection of Recyclable Materials shall be clearly 
identified for that purpose.  The CONTRACTOR shall have available reserve equipment 
which can be put into service within two (2) hours of any breakdown.  Such reserve 
equipment shall correspond in size and capacity to the equipment used by the 
CONTRACTOR to perform the contractual duties.  CONTRACTOR shall notify the 
Contract Administrator or his designee by phone within two (2) hours of any equipment 
breakdown.  If the public road or public right-of-way in the Service Area is substandard, 
as specifically designated by the Contract Administrator, in writing, the CONTRACTOR 
must provide lightweight equipment to service these roads. 
 

15. VEGETATIVE WASTE:  All Vegetative Waste from normal and customary yard clean 
up, shall be collected separately from Residential Solid Waste, Commercial Solid Waste, 
and Recyclable Materials.  All grass clippings, leaves, pine needles, or other similar loose 
waste shall be bagged or containerized and not exceed fifty (50) pounds in weight or fifty 
(50) gallons in capacity, otherwise, Vegetative Waste must be no more than six (6) feet in 

 
 

74 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 29 of 50 
 

length, with the exception of palm fronds and Christmas trees, and under fifty (50) 
pounds per piece and placed neatly at the curb.  The CONTRACTOR must sweep the 
street clean and rake up any remnants of vegetation remaining following any Vegetative 
waste not collected on the regular scheduled Collection day.  CONTRACTOR is not 
required to collect debris generated by land clearing activity which includes but is not 
limited to stumps, tree trunks, and logs. 
 

16. SPECIAL WASTE, HAZARDOUS WASTE, BIOHAZARDOUS OR 
BIOMEDICAL WASTE, AND SLUDGE: The CONTRACTOR shall not be required 
to collect and dispose of Hazardous Waste, Biohazardous or Biomedical Waste, or 
Sludge, but may offer such service in the Service Area.  All such collection and disposal 
for those types of waste in this Section are not regulated or exclusive under this 
Agreement, but if provided by the CONTRACTOR shall be in strict compliance with all 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations. 
 

17. OFFICE AND EQUIPMENT YARD:  The CONTRACTOR shall establish and 
maintain a local County office or such other facility through which it can be contacted, 
where service may be applied for, and complaints can be addressed.  It shall be equipped 
with sufficient telephones with local telephone numbers, and shall have at least one (1) 
responsible person in charge during collection hours and shall be open during collection 
hours.  CONTRACTOR’s office shall also be equipped with sufficient telephones, with 
no less than two (2) phone lines, and computers able to receive e-mail, and shall be open 
during normal business hours and shall have a customer service representative to provide 
phone coverage from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, with the exception 
of Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide an e-mail 
address, a fax machine with a dedicated fax line, and computer to receive complaints 
from the TOWN.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide for the ability to receive complaints 
through electronic media (e-mail).  CONTRACTOR must have a dedicated computer 
with internet access to receive, process, and respond to such communication in the same 
timely manner as when fax communication was utilized.  The CONTRACTOR shall 
provide an answering machine during non-office hours for customer requests and 
questions to be responded to during the following Business Day.  The CONTRACTOR 
shall provide a contact person for the TOWN to reach during all non-office hours.  The 
contact person must have the ability to authorize CONTRACTOR operation in the case of 
TOWN direction or situations requiring immediate attention.  An equipment yard must be 
maintained within Palm Beach County for the term of this Agreement.  CONTRACTOR 
may establish an equipment yard within Palm Beach County or utilize a yard located 
outside Palm Beach County provided it will increase efficiency of operations within their 
Service Area.  Failure to maintain an equipment yard may result in the termination of this 
Agreement.  Equipment yard means a real property location that shall be utilized by the 
CONTRACTOR for the storage and keeping of all equipment needed by the 
CONTRACTOR to provide all services under this Agreement in the Service Area. 
 

18. COMPLAINTS:  All service complaints shall be directed to the Contract Administrator, 
or his designee.  The complaint will be forwarded to the CONTRACTOR by telephone, 
computer, or electronic media not less than twice daily where it shall be recorded on a 

 
 

75 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 30 of 50 
 

complaint log by the CONTRACTOR.  The complaint shall be resolved no later than 3:00 
p.m. the next Business Day after it is received by the CONTRACTOR.  When the 
complaint is received on a Saturday or the day preceding Thanksgiving Day and 
Christmas Day, it shall be resolved by the CONTRACTOR no later than the next regular 
working day. 
 
When the Contract Administrator or designated individual notifies the CONTRACTOR 
of a complaint, the CONTRACTOR shall take the appropriate steps that may be 
necessary to resolve the complaint by 3:00 p.m. on the next Business Day after its receipt.  
If a complaint cannot be resolved by 3:00 p.m. on the next Business Day following 
scheduled Collection day, the Contract Administrator shall be notified in writing of 
reason for non-resolution of complaint. 
 
Non-conforming solid waste, Recycling, and Vegetation not properly tagged by the 
CONTRACTOR shall be collected by Contractor by 3:00 p.m. on the next Business Day 
following scheduled Collection day.  Complaints of sloppy service provided by 
CONTRACTOR, including, but not limited to solid waste, Recyclable Materials, or 
Vegetative Waste being left in the roadway or Garbage Cans not being returned to point 
of collection on scheduled Collection day shall be resolved by 5:00p.m. on the same day. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall investigate and provide the Contract Administrator or 
designee with a full written explanation of the disposition of any complaint involving a 
claim of damage to private or public property as a result of actions of the 
CONTRACTOR’s employees, agent, or sub-contractors within twenty-four (24) hours of 
receipt.  The Contract Administrator will consider all documentation provided and make 
final determination of party responsibility.  If the CONTRACTOR fails to provide a 
written explanation of disposition of such complaints within twenty-four (24) hours of 
receipt, determination of responsibility shall be in favor of customer and CONTRACTOR 
shall be held liable for all necessary repairs.  Any damage shall be repaired within five (5) 
Business Days, with the exception of mailboxes and Garbage Containers, which shall be 
repaired or replaced within three (3) Business Days.  On an annual basis CONTRACTOR 
shall replace a minimum number of garbage Containers per Service Area as set forth in 
the Annual Garbage Can Replacement Minimum Requirements, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit “D.”  Container shall be similar in size and style as that 
which was reported as damaged or missing and shall be replaced to the satisfaction of the 
customer within three (3) Business Days.  Once the minimum number of Container(s) 
replacements as set forth in Exhibit D has been met, CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for replacing any additional Container(s) determined to be damaged or 
missing through negligence of CONTRACTOR’s personnel (including agents, employees 
or subcontractors) however CONTRACTOR shall not be required to replace garbage 
Container(s) which exhibit signs of normal wear and tear.  In the case of an unresolved 
dispute, the Contract Administrator’s or his designee's decision shall be final. 
 

19. QUALITY OF PERFORMANCE OF CONTRACTOR: It is the intent of this 
Agreement to ensure that the CONTRACTOR provides a quality level of solid waste and 
recycling Collection services.  To this end, all complaints received by the Contract 

 
 

76 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 31 of 50 
 

Administrator, or its designee, and reported to the CONTRACTOR shall be promptly 
resolved pursuant to the provisions of Section 15 of this Agreement.  Complaints shall not 
include customer informational requests or Recycling Container requests.  A complaint 
not resolved by 5:00 p.m. on the next Business Day, unless otherwise provided in this 
Agreement, shall count as two complaints.  All TOWN residents shall be notified that all 
TOWN resident complaints must be made to the TOWN directly in order to be effectively 
monitored.  Accordingly, the TOWN shall provide a telephone number and/or email 
address notifying TOWN residents for the purpose of directing and steering TOWN 
residents to comply with the complaint mechanism set forth herein.  CONTRACTOR 
shall provide this information to TOWN residents and TOWN businesses as provided in 
the “PUBLIC AWARENESS PROGRAM” identified in Section 2-EE and Section 9 of 
this Agreement. 
 
(a) In the event CONTRACTOR receives legitimate complaints from TOWN, its 

residents, or owners of residential units in TOWN, which exceed two percent (2%) of 
all of the total Residential Solid Waste Collection Service customers of the 
CONTRACTOR during any Contract year, or one-half of one percent (0.5%) of the 
total Residential Solid Waste Collection Service customers of the CONTRACTOR 
within the Service Area, during any one calendar month, the Contract Administrator 
or designee may levy administrative charges of one hundred dollars ($100) per 
incident for those actions related to service as listed below: 

 
(1) Commingling solid waste with recyclable materials; 
(2) Failure to clean up spillage caused by CONTRACTOR; 
(3) Failure to replace Containers, Garbage Cans, Recycling Containers, or Recycling 

Bins in designated location, not closing Can or Container lids and not the closing 
gate, crossing planted areas, or similar violations; 

(4) Missing designated stops;  
(5) Failure to clean spillage other than the clean-up required by the Palm Beach 

County Health Department; 
(6) Failure to repair damage of Customer property; 
(7) Throwing of Garbage Cans or Recycling Containers; or 
(8) Missing solid waste and/or recyclable materials on a designated pick-up day. 

  
(b) The Contract Administrator may also levy administrative charges of one hundred 

dollars ($100) per day incident without regard to the percentage of customer 
complaints, including: 
 
(1) Failure to maintain or provide equipment in a clean, safe, and sanitary manner; 
(2) Failure to have vehicle operators properly licensed; 
(3) Failure to maintain office hours as required by this Agreement; 
(4) Failure to maintain and/or submit to TOWN all documents and reports 

required under provisions of this Agreement; 
(5) Failure to properly cover materials in CONTRACTOR’s vehicles or 

containers, if applicable; 

 
 

77 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 32 of 50 
 

(6) Failure to replace damaged Containers or Garbage Cans within three (3) 
Business Days (i.e., rust, holes, broken lids and wheels, etc.); 

(7) Not providing schedule and route maps; 
(8) Failure to display CONTRACTOR’s name and/or phone numbers on its 

collection vehicles; 
(9) Failure to comply with the hours of operation and/or collection as required by 

this Agreement;  
(10) Using improper truck to service commercial or residential customer; 
(11) Collection employees out of uniform;  
(12) Failure to submit disclosure notice to either customer or Contract 

Administrator;  
(13) Failure to report recycling activity monthly (on or before the 10th day of the 

following month), in the format determined by the Town, for the purpose of 
tracking and verifying countywide recycling activity; 

(14) Failure to collect Recyclable Materials, solid waste or Vegetative Waste on 
schedule for any customer who has been missed more than three times within 
a 12 month period;  

(15) Failure to respond to customer calls, including all residential and commercial 
customers, in a timely and appropriate manner;  

(16) Failure to place a contamination sticker in Recycling Containers, as necessary; 
(17) Failure to replace or provide curbside garbage Container(s) within three (3) 

Business Days or Recycling Container(s) within five (5) Business Days;  
(18) Failure to repair damage to property, resulting from Contractor's (including 

agents, employees or subcontractors) equipment failure or negligence, within 
five (5) Business Days; 

(19) Failure to repair or replace Garbage Can or mailbox within three (3) Business 
Days; or 

(20) Failure to replace Garbage Cans, Containers, and Recycling Containers to the 
point of collection. 

(21) Failure to have supervisory personnel present on all of TOWN’s routes. 
 

(c) For failure or neglect to complete each route on the regularly-scheduled pick-up day 
shall be five hundred dollars ($500) per route for each day when the route is not 
completed.   

(d) Changing routes without proper notification shall result in a fine of one thousand 
dollars ($1,000) per incident. 

(e) Failure to deliver any Residential or Commercial Solid Waste or Recyclable Materials 
to the Designated Disposal Facility, other appropriate facility, or Materials Recycling 
Facility shall result in the following penalties administered by TOWN: 
 
(1) First offense:  one thousand dollars ($1,000) 
(2) Second offense:  two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500) 
(3) Third offense:  termination of contract 

 
(f) For the purpose of this Section, the Contract Administrator may deduct any charges 

from payments due or to become due to the CONTRACTOR.  In the event the 

 
 

78 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 33 of 50 
 

CONTRACTOR fails to repair damages as a result of the CONTRACTOR’s 
equipment failure or negligence within the time provided within this Agreement, the 
Contract Administrator may arrange for the repairs and assess the CONTRACTOR 
for the cost of the repairs and any applicable administrative charges.  The Contract 
Administrator may assess administrative charges pursuant to this Section on a 
monthly basis in connection with this Agreement and shall at the end of each month 
during the term of this Agreement notify the CONTRACTOR and the TOWN in 
writing of the charges assessed and the basis for each assessment.  In the event the 
CONTRACTOR wishes to contest such assessment it shall, within five (5) Business 
Days after receiving such monthly notice, request in writing an opportunity to be 
heard by the TOWN Council and present its defense to such assessment.  At the sole 
discretion of the TOWN, Contract Administrator may secure the services of an 
alternate CONTRACTOR to provide collection services in the event CONTRACTOR 
fails or is unable to provide collection services as defined herein for a period that 
exceeds forty eight (48) hours after normally scheduled service.  The cost to provide 
such “emergency service” by an alternate CONTRACTOR shall be paid by the 
TOWN and such cost deducted from defaulting CONTRACTOR’s next payment. 

 
(g) The TOWN shall notify the Contractor in writing of any action taken with respect to 

CONTRACTOR’s claims and the decision of the TOWN will be final. 
 
(h) Filing of Requested Information and Documents: 
 

(1) In addition to any other requirements of this Agreement, the CONTRACTOR shall be 
required to file pertinent statistical and aggregate cost information pertaining to solid 
waste collection and recycling collection services that is requested by the TOWN.  
The results of all recycling activity conducted by the CONTRACTOR in the Service 
Areas during each month, whether residential or commercial, shall be reported 
accurately to the TOWN, in a format and with such dates as specified by the TOWN, 
on or before the tenth (10th) day of the following month. 
 

(2) The CONTRACTOR shall file and keep current with the TOWN all documents and 
reports required by this Agreement.  By September first (1st) of each year this 
Agreement is in effect, the CONTRACTOR shall ensure and certify to the TOWN 
that all required documents such as, but not limited to, certificates of insurance, 
audits, performance bond or letter of credit, route schedules and maps, driver’s 
license certifications, and list of collection equipment vehicles, are current and on file 
with the TOWN. 
 

20. NATURAL DISASTERS: In the event of a hurricane, tornado, major storm, or other natural 
disaster, the CONTRACTOR’s sole responsibility shall be to reestablish regular routes and 
schedules for the collection of solid waste, Recycling, and Vegetative Waste as soon after the 
natural disaster as possible.  The collection and disposal of solid waste shall be the highest 
priority.  The collection and disposal of debris generated by a natural disaster shall not be the 
responsibility of the CONTRACTOR, unless negotiated under a separated contract.  Under a 
separate Agreement, the TOWN shall procure collection and disposal services for debris 
generated by a natural disaster.  The CONTRACTOR agrees to provide full cooperation with 

 
 

79 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 34 of 50 
 

the TOWN and the debris collection contractor in the aftermath of a natural disaster in an 
effort to return the county to its pre-disaster state, and resume normal collection services. 
 

21. UNCONTROLLABLE CIRCUMSTANCES: Neither the TOWN nor CONTRACTOR 
shall be considered to be in default of this Agreement if delays in or failure of performance 
shall be due to Uncontrollable Forces, the effect of which, by the exercise of reasonable 
diligence, the non-performing party could not avoid. 
 
Neither party shall, however, be excused from performance if nonperformance is due to 
forces which are preventable, removable, or remediable and which the non-performing party 
could have, with the exercise of reasonable diligence, prevented, removed, or remedied with 
reasonable dispatch.  The non-performing Party shall, within a reasonable time of being 
prevented or delayed from performance by an uncontrollable force, give written notice to the 
other party describing the circumstances and uncontrollable forces preventing continued 
performance of the obligations of this Agreement. 

 
22. PERMITS AND LICENSES: The CONTRACTOR shall obtain, at its own expense, all 

permits and licenses required by law or ordinance and maintain the same in full force and 
effect.  Any changes of the licenses or permits shall be reported to the TOWN within ten (10) 
Business Days of the change. 
 

23. PERFORMANCE BOND: The CONTRACTOR shall furnish to the TOWN a performance 
bond executed by a surety company licensed to do business in the State of Florida and/or a 
clean irrevocable letter of credit issued by a bank within Palm Beach County to ensure the 
faithful performance of this Agreement and all obligations arising hereunder in the 
appropriate amount determined in accordance with the Bid requirements set forth in 
Ordinance 2008-09, Section D.2(b), which was part of the Bid.  The clean irrevocable letter 
of credit or bond provided hereunder, each may be substituted for the other upon approval by 
the TOWN.  The form of this bond or letter of credit, and the Surety Company, shall be 
acceptable to the TOWN Attorney and the Contract Administrator and shall be maintained 
during the term of this Agreement as provided in Section 1.  The bond(s) shall be endorsed to 
show the TOWN as obligee and it shall provide that bond(s) shall not be canceled, limited, or 
non-renewed until after thirty (30) days’ notice has been given to the TOWN.  Current 
performance bonds evidencing required coverage must be in force and on file at the TOWN 
at all times.  The performance bond equation is identified in the Bid and is the same equation 
and formulary that is identified with the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority contracts 
for like services in Palm Beach County. 
 

24. EMPLOYEE WAGES AND BENEFITS: The CONTRACTOR shall comply with all 
applicable Local, State, and Federal laws relating to wages, hours, overtime, and all other 
applicable laws relating to the employment or protection of employees, now or hereinafter in 
effect.  The CONTRACTOR shall provide, at a minimum, one week paid vacation leave, one 
week paid sick leave, and paid holiday leave.  Conditions of employment shall be published 
and conspicuously posted so all employees may be informed.  The CONTRACTOR shall 
furnish reasonable uniforms, rain gear and safety equipment at its expense. 
 

25. INSURANCE:  The following insurance must be obtained prior to the commencement of 
this Agreement.  All insurance policies required above shall be issued by companies 

 
 

80 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 35 of 50 
 

authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Florida, be rated no less than “A” as 
to management, and no less than “Class X” as to financial strength, by the latest edition of 
Best’s Key Rating Insurance Guide or acceptance of insurance company which holds a valid 
Florida Certificate of Authority issued by the State of Florida, Department of Insurance, and 
are members of the Florida Guarantee Fund. 
 
A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance: Workers’ Compensation coverage must be 

maintained in accordance with Florida statutory requirements (Chapter 440, Florida 
Statutes). 

 
B. Public Liability Insurance on a comprehensive basis in an amount not less than 

$1,000,000.00 combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury and property 
damage.  TOWN must be shown as an additional insured with respect to this 
coverage.  
  

C. Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles 
used in connection with the work in an amount not less than statutory combined 
single limit per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage. 
 

D. The insurance coverage required shall include those classifications, as listed in 
standard liability insurance manuals, which most nearly reflect the operations of the 
Policy(ies) shall be endorsed to show the TOWN, a political subdivision of the State 
of Florida, as an additional insured as its interests may appear, and shall also provide 
that insurance shall not be canceled, limited or non-renewed until after thirty (30) 
days’ written notice has been given to the TOWN.  Current certificates of insurance 
evidencing required coverage must be on file with the TOWN at all times.  
CONTRACTOR expressly understands and agrees that any insurance protection 
furnished by CONTRACTOR shall in no way limit its responsibility to indemnify and 
save harmless TOWN under the provisions of Section 23 of this Agreement. 

 
E. If insurance certificates are scheduled to expire during the contractual period, the 

Successful Proposer shall be responsible for submitting new or renewed insurance 
certificates to the Town at a minimum of ten (10) calendar days in advance of such 
expiration. 

 
F. In the event that expired certificates are not replaced with new or renewed certificates 

which cover the contractual period, the TOWN shall:  (1) Suspend the Agreement 
until such time as the new or renewed certificates are received by the TOWN in the 
manner prescribed in the Invitation to Bid; (2) the TOWN may, at its sole discretion, 
terminate the Agreement for cause and seek re-procurement damages from the 
CONTRACTOR in conjunction with the violation of the terms and conditions of the 
Agreement. 

 
26. INDEMNIFICATION:  (a) CONTRACTOR shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 

TOWN and its officials, employees and agents (collectively referred to as “Indemnitees”) and 
each of them from and against all loss, cost, penalties, fines, damages, claims, expenses 
(including attorney’s fees) or liabilities collectively referred to as “Liabilities”) by reason of 
any injury to or death of any person or damage to or destruction or loss of any property 

 
 

81 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 36 of 50 
 

arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with (i) the performance or non-performance 
of the services contemplated by the Agreement which is or is alleged to be directly or 
indirectly caused, in whole or in part, by any act, omission, default, or negligence (whether 
active or passive) of CONTRACTOR or its employees, agents, or subcontractors, regardless 
of whether it is, or is alleged to be, caused in whole or part (whether joint, concurrent, or 
contributing) by any act, omission, default or negligence (whether active or passive) of the 
Indemnitees, or any of them or (ii) the failure of the CONTRACTOR to comply with any of 
the provisions in the Agreement or the failure of the CONTRACTOR to conform to statutes, 
ordinances, or other regulations or requirements of any governmental authority, federal or 
state, in connection with the performance of the Agreement.  CONTRACTOR expressly 
agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnitees, or any of them, from and against all 
liabilities which may be asserted by an employee or former employee of Proposer, or any of 
its subcontractors, as provided above, for which the CONTRACTOR’s liability to such 
employee or former employee would otherwise be limited to payments under state Workers’ 
Compensation or similar laws. 

 
 (b) CONTRACTOR further agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the 
 Indemnitees from and against (i) any and all Liabilities imposed on account of the 
 violation of any law, ordinance, order, rule,  regulation, condition, or requirement, in any 
 way related, directly or indirectly, to CONTRACTOR’s performance under the 
 Agreement, compliance with which is left by the CONTRACTOR, and (ii) any and all 
 claims, and/or suits for labor and materials furnished by the CONTRACTOR or utilized 
 in the performance of the Agreement or otherwise. 
 
 (c) Where not specifically prohibited by law, CONTRACTOR further specifically 
 agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Indemnitees from all claims and suits 
 for any liability, including, but not limited to, injury, death, or damage to any person or 
 property whatsoever, caused by, arising from, incident to, connected with or growing out 
 of the performance or non-performance of the Agreement which is, or is alleged to be, 
 caused in part (whether joint, concurrent or contributing) or in whole by any act, 
 omission, default, or negligence (whether active or passive) of the Indemnitees.  The 
 foregoing indemnity shall also include liability imposed by any doctrine of strict liability. 
 
27. ACCESS AND AUDITS: The CONTRACTOR shall maintain within Palm Beach County 

adequate records of the solid waste collection and/or recycling services during the Fiscal Year 
and for three (3) years following the end of each Fiscal Year of the Contract.  The TOWN or 
its designee shall have the right to review all records maintained by the Contractor upon 
twenty-four (24) hours written notice. 
 

28. POINT OF CONTACT: All dealings, contacts, notices, and payments between the 
CONTRACTOR and the TOWN shall be directed by the CONTRACTOR to the Contract 
Administrator or designee. 
 

29. NOTICE: Any notice, demand, communication, or request required or permitted hereunder 
shall be in writing and delivered in person or sent by certified mail, postage prepaid as 
follows: 
 
TO WASTE PRO OF FLORIDA, INC. 

 
 

82 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 37 of 50 
 

 
 John Jennings, President and CEO 

411 Tall Pines Road 
 West Palm Beach, Florida 33413 
 Telephone No.  (561) 688-8912 
 Facsimile No.  (561) 688-8914 
 Email:  jjennings@wasteprousa.com  
 

TO TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES: 
 
Mark Kutney, Town Manager 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
14579 Southern Blvd, Suite #2 
Loxahatchee Groves, Florida 33470 
Telephone: (561) 793-2418 
Facsimile: (561) 793-2420 
Email:  mkutney@loxahatcheegroves.com  
 
With Copy to: 
 
Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney 
Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
3099 East Commercial Boulevard, Suite 200 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 333080 
Telephone No.  (561) 276-9400 
Facsimile No.  (954) 771-4923 
Email:  mcirullo@cityatty.com  
 

Notices shall be effective when received at the address as specified above.  Changes in the respective 
address, to which such notice is to be directed, may be made from time to time by written notice.  
Facsimile transmission is acceptable notice effective when received, however, facsimile 
transmissions received (i.e.; printed) after 5:00 p.m. or on weekends or holidays, will be deemed 
received on the next Business Day.  The original of the notice must additionally be mailed as 
required herein. 

 
30. DEFAULT OF CONTRACTOR: 

 
A. The TOWN may cancel this Agreement, except as otherwise provided herein, by 

giving CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days advance written notice, to be served as 
hereafter provided, upon the happening of any one of the following events: 
 
1. CONTRACTOR shall take the benefit of any present or future insolvency 

statute, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or file a 
voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a petition or answer seeking an 
arrangement for its reorganization or the readjustment of its indebtedness 
under the Federal bankruptcy laws or under any other law or state of the 
United States or any state thereof, or consent to the appointment of a receiver, 
trustee or liquidator of all or substantially all of its property; or 

 
 

83 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 38 of 50 
 

 
2. By order or decree of a Court, CONTRACTOR shall be adjudged bankrupt or 

an order shall be made approving a petition filed by any of its creditors or by 
any of the stockholders of the CONTRACTOR, seeking its reorganization or 
the readjustment of its indebtedness under the Federal bankruptcy laws or 
under any law or statute of the United States or of any state thereof, provided 
that if any such judgment or order is stayed or vacated within sixty (60) days 
after the entry thereof, any notice of cancellation shall be and become null, 
void and of no effect; unless such stayed judgment or order is reinstated in 
which case, said default shall be deemed immediate; or 

 
3. By, or pursuant to, or under any legislative act, resolution or rule or any order 

or decree of any Court or governmental board, agency or officer having 
jurisdiction, a receiver, trustee or liquidator shall take possession or control of 
all or substantially all of the property of the CONTRACTOR, and such 
possession or control shall continue in effect for a period of sixty (60) days; or 

 
4. The CONTRACTOR has defaulted, by failing or refusing to perform or 

observe the terms, conditions or covenants in this Agreement or any of the 
rules and regulations promulgated by the TOWN pursuant thereto, or has 
wrongfully failed or refused to comply with the instructions of the Contract 
Administrator relative thereto, whether such default is considered minor or 
major, and said default is not cured within thirty (30) days of receipt of 
written notice by TOWN to do so, or if by reason of the nature of such default, 
the same cannot be remedied within thirty (30) days following receipt by 
CONTRACTOR of written demand from TOWN to do so, CONTRACTOR 
fails to commence the remedy of such default within said thirty (30) days 
following such written notice, or having so commenced shall fail thereafter to 
continue with diligence the curing thereof (with CONTRACTOR having the 
burden of proof to demonstrate [a] that the default cannot be cured within 
thirty (30) days, and [b] that it is proceeding with diligence to cure said 
default, and such default will be cured within a reasonable period of time). 

 
B. However, notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in the event 

of the failure of CONTRACTOR to provide collection service for a period of two 
(2) consecutive scheduled Business Days, the TOWN may secure the 
CONTRACTOR's billing records (at the request of the TOWN, the 
CONTRACTOR shall immediately provide such records).  On the third Business 
Day, in order to provide interim Contract collection services, the TOWN may hire 
an alternate service provider until such time as the matter is resolved, and the 
CONTRACTOR is again able to perform pursuant to this Agreement; provided, 
however, if the CONTRACTOR is unable for any reason or cause to resume 
performance at the end of thirty (30) Business Days all liability of the TOWN 
under this Agreement to the CONTRACTOR shall cease and this Agreement may 
be deemed immediately terminated by the TOWN.  The cost to provide interim 

 
 

84 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 39 of 50 
 

Contract collection service shall be at the CONTRACTOR’s expense, paid by the 
TOWN and deducted from CONTRACTOR’s payment(s). 
 

C. Notwithstanding the foregoing and as supplemental and additional means of 
termination of this Agreement under this Section, in the event that 
CONTRACTOR’s record of performance shows that CONTRACTOR has 
frequently, regularly, or repetitively defaulted in the performance of any of the 
covenants and conditions required herein to be kept and performed by 
CONTRACTOR, in the opinion of TOWN and regardless of whether 
CONTRACTOR has corrected each individual condition of default, 
CONTRACTOR shall be deemed a “habitual violator,” shall forfeit the right to 
any further notice or grace period to correct, and all of said defaults shall be 
considered cumulative and collectively, shall constitute a condition of 
irredeemable default.  The TOWN shall thereupon issue CONTRACTOR final 
warning citing the circumstances therefore, and any single default by 
CONTRACTOR of whatever nature, subsequent to the occurrence of the last of 
said cumulative defaults, shall be grounds for immediate termination of this 
Agreement.  In the event of any such subsequent default, TOWN may terminate 
this Agreement upon the giving of written Final Notice to CONTRACTOR, such 
cancellation to be effective upon the fifteenth (15th) consecutive calendar day 
following the date of Final Notice, and all contractual fees due hereunder plus any 
and all charges and interest shall be payable to said date, and CONTRACTOR 
shall have no further rights hereunder.  Immediately upon receipt of said Final 
Notice, CONTRACTOR shall proceed to cease any further performance under 
this Agreement. 
 

D. In the event of any of the aforesaid events specified in paragraphs A, B, and C 
above and except as otherwise provided in said paragraphs, termination shall be 
effective upon the date specified in TOWN’s written notice to CONTRACTOR 
and upon said date this Agreement shall be deemed immediately terminated and 
upon such termination all liability of the TOWN under this Agreement to the 
CONTRACTOR shall cease, and the TOWN shall have the right to call the 
performance bond and shall be free to negotiate with other Contractors for the 
operation of the herein specified services.  The CONTRACTOR, for failure to 
perform, shall reimburse the TOWN all direct and indirect costs of providing 
interim collection service. 

 
31. PUBLIC WELFARE:  The TOWN shall have the power to make changes in or to 

impose new and reasonable rules and regulations on the CONTRACTOR under this 
Agreement relative to the method of collection and disposal of Garbage, Trash, Bulk 
Trash, Vegetative Waste or Recyclable Materials as shall from time to time be necessary 
and desirable for the public welfare; provided, however, that any such rule or regulation 
shall be delivered to the CONTRACTOR's representative.  The TOWN shall give the 
CONTRACTOR reasonable notice of any proposed change and an opportunity to be 
heard concerning those matters.  The method of collection and disposal of solid waste and 
recyclables set out herein shall also be liberally construed to include, but not limited to, 

 
 

85 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 40 of 50 
 

the manner, procedures, operations and obligations, financial or otherwise, of the 
CONTRACTOR.  The CONTRACTOR shall be reasonably and appropriately 
compensated as determined by good faith negotiation and the execution of a written 
amendment to this Agreement between the TOWN and the CONTRACTOR for any 
additional services or other obligations required of the CONTRACTOR due to any 
modification in the Agreement under this Section. 
 

32. RIGHT TO REQUIRE PERFORMANCE:  The failure of the TOWN at any time to 
require performance by the CONTRACTOR of any provisions hereof shall in no way 
affect the right of the TOWN thereafter to enforce the same.  Nor shall waiver by the 
TOWN of any breach of any provisions hereof be taken or held to be waived of any 
succeeding breach of such provisions or as a waiver of any provision itself. 
 

33. TITLE TO WASTE:  The TOWN shall, at all times, hold title and ownership to all 
Commercial and Residential Solid Waste, Vegetative Waste, Trash, Recyclable Material 
and all other waste collected by the CONTRACTOR pursuant to this Agreement and the 
CONTRACTOR shall have no right to take, keep, process, alter, remove, or otherwise 
dispose of any such materials without specific written authorization from the Contract 
Administrator. 
 

34. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE:  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of Florida.  Any and all legal action necessary to enforce the Agreement will be 
held in State Circuit Court in Palm Beach County, and the Agreement will be interpreted 
according to the laws of Florida. 

 
35. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS:  The CONTRACTOR shall conduct operations under 

this Agreement in compliance with all applicable laws. 
 
36. SEVERABILITY: The invalidity, illegality, or non-enforceability of any provision of 

this Agreement, or the occurrence of any event rendering any portion or provision of this 
Agreement void, shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of any other portion 
or provision of the Agreement.  Any void provision shall be deemed severed from the 
Agreement and the balance of the Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if the 
Agreement did not contain the particular portion or provision held to be void.  The Parties 
further agree to reform the Agreement to replace any stricken provision with a valid 
provision that comes as close as possible to the intent of the stricken provision.  The 
provisions of this section shall not prevent the entire Agreement from being void should a 
provision which is of the essence of the Agreement be determined to be void. 
 

37. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING: No assignment of this Agreement or any right 
occurring under this Agreement shall be made in whole or part by the CONTRACTOR 
without the express written consent of the TOWN, following approval by the TOWN 
Council.  The TOWN shall have full discretion to approve or deny, with or without cause, 
any proposed assignment or assignment by the CONTRACTOR.  Any assignment of this 
Agreement made by the CONTRACTOR without the express written consent of the 
TOWN shall be null and void and shall be grounds for the TOWN to declare a default of 

 
 

86 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 41 of 50 
 

this Agreement and immediately terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the 
CONTRACTOR, and upon the date of such notice this Agreement shall be deemed 
immediately terminated, and upon such termination all liability of the TOWN under this 
Agreement to the CONTRACTOR shall cease, and shall be free to negotiate with other 
CONTRACTORs or any other person or company for the service of the area which is the 
subject of this Agreement.  In the event of any assignment, assignee shall fully assume all 
the liabilities of the CONTRACTOR. 
 
For purposes of this section a parent subsidiary or holding company shall mean any 
person, corporation or company holding, owning or in control of more than 10% stock or 
financial interest of another person, corporation or company. 
 

38. MODIFICATION: This Agreement constitutes the entire contract and understanding 
between the Parties hereto, and it shall not be considered modified, altered, changed, or 
amended in any respect unless in writing and signed by the Parties hereto.  Such 
modification shall be in the form of a written Amendment approved by the TOWN 
Council, and executed by both Parties. 
 

39. INDEPENDENCE OF AGREEMENT: It is understood and agreed that nothing herein 
contained is intended or should be construed as in any way establishing the relationship 
of co-partners between the parties hereto, or as constituting the CONTRACTOR as the 
agent, representative or employee of the TOWN for any purpose whatsoever.  The 
CONTRACTOR is to be and shall remain an independent contractor with respect to all 
services performed under this Agreement. 

 
40. ANNEXATIONS AND INCORPORATIONS: Adjustments to Service Area 

boundaries and the rights of the parties to this Contract due to municipal annexation or 
contraction will be as provided by Florida Statutes Section 171.062, as amended, or its 
successor.  Adjustments to Service Area boundaries and the rights of the parties to this 
Contract due to incorporation will be as provided by section 165.061, Florida Statutes, as 
amended, or its successor. 
 

41. CHANGE OF LAW: The Parties understand and agree that the Florida Legislature from 
time to time has made comprehensive changes in Solid Waste Management legislation 
and that these and other changes in law in the future, whether federal, state, or local, 
which mandate certain actions or programs for counties or municipalities may require 
changes or modifications in some of the terms, conditions or obligations under this 
Agreement.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall require any party to perform any 
act or function contrary to law.  To the extent that any law effective after the opening and 
awarding of bids for this Agreement is in conflict with, or requires changes in, the 
provisions of collection service or exclusive rights set out in this Agreement, the Parties 
agree to enter into good-faith negotiations for the resolution of any such changes in this 
Agreement as a result of change in law. 
 
 

 
 

87 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 42 of 50 
 

42. PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES: No CONTRACTOR may be a person or affiliate 
identified on the Department of General Services “convicted vendor” list.  This list is 
defined as consisting of persons and affiliates who are disqualified from public 
contracting and purchasing process because they have been found guilty of a public entity 
crime.  The CONTRACTOR is required to comply with section 287.133, Florida 
Statutes, as amended, or its successor. 
 

43. SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE: The CONTRACTOR shall promptly collect all 
materials disposed of by the customer, provided the materials are prepared and placed 
within substantial compliance with the guidelines as set forth herein.  Any dispute as to 
the standards of substantial compliance shall be determined by the Contract 
Administrator. 
 

44. COMPETENCY TO CONTRACT: The CONTRACTOR expressly recognizes, 
acknowledges, and agrees the Town of Loxahatchee Groves is a Florida municipal 
corporation, governed by the Laws of the State of Florida.  Furthermore, the 
CONTRACTOR expressly admits, acknowledges, and recognizes the TOWN’s 
jurisdiction and ability to enter into collection agreements in Palm Beach County.  The 
CONTRACTOR hereby waives any legal causes of action regarding the TOWN’s 
competency and/or ability to enter into solid waste collection agreements. 
 

45. COMMUNITY SERVICE: The CONTRACTOR shall provide no less than one (1) roll-
off Container, or a Front Load Container for placement and collection for items collected 
for the TOWN’s community clean-up events.  CONTRACTOR shall provide container(s) 
for this service four (4) times each year for the community clean-ups.  These services 
shall be at no cost to the TOWN, and the hauling and disposal will be at the cost of the 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
The CONTRACTOR will provide to the TOWN the services to remove illegally dumped 
trash within the TOWN’s municipal boundaries.  The CONTRACTOR will remove up to 
100 cubic yards per year of illegally dumped trash for the TOWN “Free of Charge” 
($0.00).  These services may be provided by Roll-off container, Front Load Container, or 
Rear load vehicle.  The type of removal will be determined by mutual agreement between 
the Contract Administrator and the CONTRACTOR.  If the TOWN needs more than the 
(100) yards of illegally dumped trash removal in a current calendar year than the charges 
for services is the TOWN will pay for the disposal fees and one-half (1/2) of the 
contracted Roll-off rate, or regular Front Load Container charges, or the estimated 
charges for the use of the Rear Load vehicle.  The charges, ways, and mean will be 
determined and agreed upon by the Contract Administrator and the CONTRACTOR. 

 
46. AUDIT AND INSPECTION RIGHTS AND RETENTION OF RECORDS.   
 

A. AUDITS.  TOWN shall have the right to audit the books, records and accounts of 
CONTRACTOR that are related to this Agreement.  CONTRACTOR shall keep 
such book, records, and accounts as may be necessary in order to record complete 
and correct entries related to this Agreement.  Such retention of such records and 

 
 

88 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 43 of 50 
 

documents shall be at CONTRACTOR’s expense.  CONTRACTOR shall comply 
with inspection and reproduction obligations of Florida law relating to public 
records in its possession.  If any audit has been initiated and audit findings have 
not been resolved at the end of the retention period or three (3) years, whichever 
is longer, the books, records, and accounts shall be retained until resolution of the 
audit findings.  If the Florida Public Records Act is determined by the TOWN to 
be applicable to CONTRACTOR’s records, CONTRACTOR shall comply with 
all requirements thereof; however, no confidentiality or non-disclosure 
requirement of either federal or state law shall be violated by CONTRACTOR.  
Any incomplete or incorrect entry in such books, records, and accounts shall be a 
basis for TOWN’s disallowance and recovery of any payment upon such entry. 

 
B. COMPLIANCE WITH FLORIDA’S PUBLIC RECORDS ACT.  (1) Pursuant 

to section 119.0701, Florida Statutes, CONTRACTOR shall (a) keep and 
maintain public records that ordinarily and necessarily would be required by 
TOWN in order to perform the service; (b) provide the public with access to such 
public records on the same terms and conditions that the TOWN would provide 
the records and at a cost that does not exceed that provided in Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, or as otherwise provided by law; (c) ensure that public records 
that are exempt or that are confidential and exempt from public record 
requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law; and (d) 
CONTRACTOR shall meet all requirements for retaining public records and 
transfer to the TOWN, at no cost, all public records in possession of the 
CONTRACTOR upon termination of this Agreement and destroy any duplicate 
public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt.  (2) CONTRACTOR 
shall preserve and maintain all financial records, supporting documents, statistical 
records, and any other documents pertinent to this Agreement for the required 
retention period of the Florida Public Records Act (Chapter 119, Florida Statutes), 
if applicable, or, if the Florida Public Records Act is not applicable, for a 
minimum period of three (3) years after termination of this Agreement, unless 
CONTRACTOR is notified in writing by the TOWN of the need to extend the 
retention period.  (3) All records stored electronically must be provided to the 
TOWN in a format that is compatible with the information technology systems of 
the agency. 

 
C. GENERALLY.  In addition, CONTRACTOR shall respond to the reasonable 

inquiries of any successor companies and allow and successor companies to 
receive working papers relating to matters of continuing significance.  In addition, 
CONTRACTOR shall provide a complete copy of all working papers to TOWN, 
prior to final payment, in accordance with this Agreement and the Schedule for 
CONTRACTOR’s services. 

 
47. PALM BEACH COUNTY OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL.  

CONTRACTOR is aware that the Inspector General of Palm Beach County has the 
authority to investigate and audit matters relating to the negotiation and performance of 
this Agreement, and in furtherance thereof may demand and obtain records and testimony 

 
 

89 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 44 of 50 
 

from CONTRACTOR and, any, if applicable, subcontractors and lower tier 
subcontractors.  CONTRACTOR understands and agrees that in addition to all other 
remedies and consequences provided by law, failure of CONTRACTOR or, if applicable, 
subcontractors and lower tier subcontractors to fully cooperate with the Inspector General 
when requested will be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement.  CONTRACTOR shall 
be responsible for all costs incurred by it or the TOWN as a result of any investigation by 
the Inspector General which results in an adverse determination caused by 
CONTRACTOR, and if applicable, subcontractors and lower tier subcontractors. 
 

48. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: It is understood and agreed that this Agreement incorporates 
and includes the Bid, CONTRACTOR’s Response, all prior negotiations, agreements or 
understandings applicable to the matters contained herein and the Parties agree that there 
are no commitments, agreements or understandings concerning the subject matter of this 
Agreement that are not contained in this document.  Accordingly, it is agreed that no 
deviation from the terms hereof shall be predicated upon any prior representations or 
agreements, whether oral or written. 
 

49. MULTIPLE ORIGINALS:  This Agreement may be fully executed in multiple copies 
by all Parties, each of which, bearing original signatures, shall have the force and effect 
of an original document. 
 

50. AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER.  Pursuant to the 
Bid and its Response, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to an affirmative action policy.  In 
the performance of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall not discriminate against any 
firm, employee or applicant for employment or any other firm/individual in providing 
services because of sex, age, race, color, religion, ancestry or national origin.  
 

51. CONFLICTS.  CONTRACTOR and TOWN hereby agree that the following Contract 
Documents are fully incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement, as if written 
herein word for word: TOWN’s Bid No. 2013-002 including all addendums (Exhibit 
“A”), and CONTRACTOR’s Response to the Bid as Exhibit “B”.  In the event that there 
is any conflict between any of the contract documents and the terms of this Agreement, 
this Agreement shall prevail. 
 

52. ATTORNEYS’ FEES.  In the event that either Party brings suit for enforcement of this 
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to attorneys’ fees and court costs in 
addition to any other remedy afforded by law. 
 

53. EXHIBITS. Each Exhibit referred to in this Agreement forms an essential part of this 
Agreement.  The exhibits if not physically attached should be treated as part of this 
Agreement and are incorporated herein by reference. 
 

54. HEADINGS.  Headings herein are for convenience of reference only and shall not be 
considered on any interpretation of this Agreement. 
 

55. DRAFTING.  This Agreement has been negotiated and drafted by all Parties hereto and   

 
 

90 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 45 of 50 
 

shall not be more strictly construed against any Party because of such Party’s preparation 
of this Agreement. 
 
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

91 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 46 of 50 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have affixed their hands and seals this day 
and year first above written. 

 
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
a Florida Municipal Corporation 

 
 
ATTEST:      By:       

MAYOR DAVID BROWNING 
           
Town Clerk      
    
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
      
Town Attorney 
 
       WASTE PRO OF FLORIDA, INC. 
 
       By:        
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF ________________  

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______day of ______________, 

2013, by _____________________________ in their capacity as _________________________ 

for Waste Pro of Florida, Inc.   

              
       NOTARY PUBLIC 
_____ Personally Known  OR  
_____ Produced Identification   
Type of Identification Produced  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

92 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 47 of 50 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
THE BID 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

93 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 48 of 50 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 
CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

94 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 49 of 50 
 

EXHIBIT “C” 
APPROVED RATE SCHEDULE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

95 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Page 50 of 50 
 

EXHIBIT “D” 
ANNUAL GARBAGE CAN REPLACEMENT MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\AGMTS 2013\Solid Waste & Recycling Collection\Waste Pro Agmt with Town (revised after 
Waste Pro review) 081213.docx 

 
 

96 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 
 
 
 

Addendum #1 
 

BID NO. 2013‐002   
SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 

 

 

14579 Southern Boulevard 
Suite 2 

Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470 

  

 
 

97 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
 

 
1.  Invitation to Bid 
 

2.  General Terms and Conditions 
 

3. Definitions and Scope of Services (New Section) 
 

4. Bid Form 
 

 Bid Form Special Services Rate Schedule 
 Bid Form Residential Curbside Option 1  
 Bid Form Residential Curbside Option 1-A 
 Bid Form Residential Semi-Automated Option 2 
 Bid Form Residential Semi-Automated Option 2-A 
 Bid Form Residential Automated Option 3 
 Bid Form Residential Automated Option 3-A 
 Bid Form Signature Page 

 
5. Addendum Acknowledgement Form 

 
6. Additional Forms 

 
 Certificate of Authority (1 of 4) Form 
 Insurance Indemnification Form 
 Public Entity Crime Form 
 Affirmative Action Policy 
 Non-Collusive Affidavit 
 Drug Free Work Place (DFW) Form 

 
7.  Bid Bond/Security 

 
8. Service Area Map 

 
 

98 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
9. Check List  

 
10. Current Provider Information  

 
11. Exhibits 

 
 Exhibit “A” – Ordinance No. 2008-09 Procurement Ordinance 

 
 Exhibit “B” – Interlocal Local Ageement with Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority – 

Re:  Designed SWA Facility 
 

 Exhibit “C” – Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Franchise Agreement – Waste Pro of 
Florida 
 

  
                                                                 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

99 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



INVITATION TO BID 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 

 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida (TOWN) invites sealed bids for the above services.  
Current Franchise Agreement expires September 30, 2013. 
 
The Town of Loxahatchee Groves (TOWN) requests interested parties to submit sealed bids to 
provide Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services. Hard copies of Bid Specifications will be 
available Monday through Friday, 9:00 AM to 4:00 PM at the Town Hall Offices at the address noted 
below.  

Sealed bids will be received by the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Town Clerk’s Office located at 
14579 Southern Boulevard, Suite 2, Loxahatchee Groves, Florida 33470 for the following: 

BID NO: 2013-002 
BID TITLE:  Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services 
BID SUBMISSION DEADLINE:  June 26, 2013 at 2:00 PM 
 
BID OPENING WILL OCCUR IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE BID SUBMISSION 
DEADLINE. 
 
One (1) electronic (DVD) copy and Five (5) copies of your Bid Proposal and Bid Forms must be 
submitted to the Town or your Bid may be disqualified.  
 

This Bid Proposal is available at www.onvia.com, or can be downloaded at the Town’s website at:  
www.loxahatcheegrovesfl.gov.  

There will be one (1) MANDATORY PRE-BID conference.  The conference will be on Wednesday, 
June 12, 2013 at 11:00 a.m. at the Central Palm Beach County Chamber of Commerce-West Office 
located at 13901 Southern Boulevard, Loxahatchee Groves, Florida 33470. 
 
All potential bidders shall attend the mandatory pre-bid conference.  All potential bidders must 
remain in attendance until the conclusion of the conference.  The purpose of this mandatory pre-bid 
conference is to explain the method of selection, to provide an overview of the service requirements 
and to solicit comments.  Potential bidders that do not attend the conference shall be disqualified 
from continuing in the competition and the TOWN will not accept bids from such disqualified 
bidders. 
 
Bids from bidders who attended the pre-bid conference must be received by the Town at its Town 
Hall Office  not later than  2:00 p.m. on June 26, 2013. 
 
To be placed on the Bidders’ List or for additional information, please contact Dennise Rodriguez, 
Office Coordinator at (561)793-2418 or drodriguez@loxahatcheegrovesfl.gov.  

  

 
 

100 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 
 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

101 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
 

These documents constitute the complete set of bid terms, conditions, specifications and forms.  It is 
the sole responsibility of the bidder to insure that all pages of these documents are included.  Bidders 
are advised to closely examine this package.  All questions and communications concerning this 
procurement process shall be directed in writing to Dennise D. Rodriguez, Office Coordinator, 14579 
Southern Blvd., Suite 2, Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470, or via electronic mail to: 
drodriguez@loxahatcheegrovesfl.gov, or by facsimile to (561) 793-2420. 
 
Should revisions to the bid become necessary, the Town of Loxahatchee Groves (TOWN) will issue a 
written addendum.  All addenda must be acknowledged.  Your bid may be rejected as non-responsive 
if you have failed to submit a bid with an addendum acknowledgement for all addenda.  The 
Addenda may be downloaded from the Town’s website at www.loxahatcheegrovesfl.gov.   
 
It is the bidders sole responsibility to contact the Town no less than five (5) calendar days prior to the 
bid opening date to ascertain whether any addenda have been issued.  Failure of the bidder to make 
this inquiry could result in its bid response being non-responsive in the event addenda were issued 
and not acknowledged by the bidders on the Addendum Acknowledgment Form and submitted as 
part of the bid documents.  No addendum will be issued later than five (5) calendar days prior to the 
date for receipt of bids except an addendum withdrawing the bid or one that includes postponement 
of the date for receipt of bids. 
 

 All bid Forms must be executed and submitted in sealed envelopes as instructed in the General Terms 
and Conditions.  One (1) electronic (DVD) copy and Five (5) copies of your Bid Proposal and Bid 
Forms must be returned to the Town or your bid may be disqualified.  Bidders will be allowed to 
submit a one (1) flash drive in lieu of the one (1) electronic (DVD) copy.  The face of the the main 
sealed envelope shall contain bidder’s name and return address, date and time of Bid opening, bid 
number and title.  Bids not submitted on the enclosed bid forms shall be rejected. 
 
By submitting a bid, the bidder agrees to be subject to all terms and condition specified herein.  No 
exceptions to the terms and conditions shall be allowed.  Submittal of a bid in response to this 
Invitation to Bid constitutes an offer by the bidder which offer may not be withdrawn except as may 
be provided for herein.  Bids which do not comply with these requirements may be rejected at the 
option of the TOWN.  The selected awardee is hereby placed on notice that acceptance of this bid by 
the Town Council of the TOWN shall constitute a binding contract. 
 
Anti-Collusion:  By signing the Bid Form, bidder certifies that bidder has not divulged, discussed, or 
compared this bid with other bidders and has not colluded with any other bidder or parties to a bid.  
Any violation of this provision will result in the cancellation and/or return of bidder’s materials (as 
applicable) and the removal of bidder from the Bid list(s). 
 
Execution of Bid:  Bid must contain an original signature, in ink, of an authorized representive who 
has the legal ability to bind the Bidder in contractual obligations.  Bid must be typed or legibly 

 
 

102 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



printed in ink.  Use of erasable ink is not permitted. All corrections made to any part of the Bid must 
be initialed in ink.   
 

1.  BID DEADLINE:  Bids are due in Town Hall Offices, 14579 Southern Boulevard, Suite 2, 
Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470, on the date and at the time specified in the Invitation to 
Bid.  The Bid time must be and shall be scrupulously observed.  It is the Bidder’s sole 
responsibility to assure that its Bid is complete and delivered at the proper time and place of 
the Bid deadline.  Bids which for any reason are not so delivered will not be considered.  
Such Bids will be returned unopened.  Offers by facsimile, telephone, or electronic means 
are not acceptable.  A Bid may not be altered by the Bidder after the Bid deadline. 

 
2.  PROCUREMENT SCHEDULE:  A summary schedule of the major activities associated 

with the TOWN’S procurement process for this Invitation to Bid is presented in the 
following Table.  The TOWN at its sole descretion, may modify the schedule as it deems 
appropriate.  The TOWN will provide notification of any changes in association with 
submittal dates by written addenda in accordance with the General Terms and Conditions. 

 
TABLE SCHEDULED 

BID 2013-002 
 

 NO  DATE 
 

1 Issue Invitation to Bid (ITB) June 3, 2013 
 

2 Mandatory Pre-Bid Conference June 12, 2013 
 

3 Last Date for TOWN to receive inquiries  June 14, 2013 
 

4 Issue Addendum # 1 June 18, 2013 
 

5 Bid Deadline – 2:00 PM – Town Hall Offices 
Bid Opening -  2:30 PM – Palms West Chamber of Commerce 

June 26, 2013 
 

6 Selection Committee Meeting June 28, 2013 
 

7 Town Council – Ratification of Bid July 2, 2013 
 

8 Town Council – Award of Contract July 16, 2013 
 

9 Service Commencement  October 1, 2013 
 

 
3.  TAXES:  The TOWN is exempt from Federal Excise and State Sales taxes.  Vendors or 

contractors doing business with the TOWN shall not be exempted from paying sales tax to 
their suppiers for materials to fulfill contractual obligations with the TOWN nor shall any 
Vendor/Contractor be authorized to use the TOWN Tax Exemption Number in securing 
such materials. 

 

 
 

103 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



4.  DISCOUNTS:  Cash discounts for prompt payment shall not be considered in determining 
the lowest net cost for bid evaluation purposes. 

 
5. MISTAKES:  Bidders are expected to carefully examine the specifications, bid prices, 

extensions and all instructions pertaining to this bid.  Failure to do so will be at Bidder’s 
Risk.  In the event of mathematical error(s) the unit price will prevail and the Bidder’s total 
offer will be corrected accordingly.  Written amounts shall take precedence over numerical 
amounts.  Bids having erasures or corrections must be initialed in ink by the Bidder.  
Failure to do so will result in reject of Bid. 

 
6.  ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  No additional terms and conditions 

included by the Bidder with the Bid response shall be evaluated or considered.  Any and all 
such additional terms and conditions shall have no force and effect, and are inapplicable to 
this Bid if submitted either purposely through intent or design, or inadvertently appearing 
separately in transmittal letters, specifications, literature, price lists or warranties.  It is 
understood and agreed that the general conditions in this Invitation to Bid are the only 
conditions applicable to this Bid and the Bidder’s authorized signature on the Bid Form 
attests to this. 

 
7. INTERPRETATIONS:  All Bidders shall carefully examine the Invitation to Bid 

documents.  Any ambiguities or inconsistencies shall be brought to the attention of the 
TOWN in writing prior to the Bid deadline; failure to do so, on the part of the Bidder, will 
constitute an acceptance by the Bidder of any subsequent decision.  Any questions 
concerning the intent, meaning and interpretations of the documents shall be requested in 
writing and received by the TOWN by June 14, 2013.  Inquiries shall be addressed to 
the Town Manager.  No person is authorized to give oral interpretations of or make oral 
changes to the Bid.  Therefore, oral explanations or instructions given by any TOWN agent 
before the Bid deadline are not binding and should not be interpreted as altering any 
provision of this document.  Bidder certifies that this bid is made without reliance on any 
oral representations made by the TOWN or any other person.  Any interpretation of, or 
changes to, the Bid will be made in the form of a written Addendum to the Bid. 

 
8. CONFLICT OF INTEREST:  All Bidders must disclose within the Bid the name of any 

officer, director, agent or any relative of an officer, director or agent who is also an 
employee of the TOWN’S management staff.  Further, all Bidders must disclose the name 
of any TOWN’S management staff employee who owns, directly or indirectly, an interest of 
five percent (5%) or more in the Bidder’s firm or any of its subsidiaries. 

 
9. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS:  Bidders are required to comply with all provisions of the 

Federal, State, County, and local laws and ordinances, rules and regulations and any TOWN 
rules, that are applicable to the items being Bid.  Lack of knowledge by the Bidder shall in 
no way be a cause for relief from responsibility, or constitute a cognizant defense against 
the legal effect thereof. 

 
10. PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES:  Pursuant to F.S. 287.133, as amended:  a person or affiliate 

who has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a conviction for a public entity 
crime may not submit a Bid on a contract with a public entity for the construction or repair 
of a public building or public work, may not submit Bids on leases of real property to a 
public entity, many not be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier, subcontractor 

 
 

104 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



or consultant under a contract with any public entity, and may not transact business with any 
public entity in excess of the threshold amount provided in section 287.017 for 
CATEGORY TWO for a period of 36 months from the date of being placed on the 
convicted vendor list. 

 
11. AWARDS:  This Bid shall be awarded only to responsive and responsible Bidders, 

quailifed to provide the services specified.  As the best interest of the TOWN may require, 
the right is reserved to make award(s) by individual item, group of items, “ALL or NONE”, 
or any combination thereof; to award to one or more vendors; to reject any or all Bids; to 
waive any minor irregularity in Bids received; and, at the TOWN’s sole discretion, to 
request a re-Bid.  Not withstanding the above reservation of rights, the TOWN anticipates 
making only one award.   

 
Therefore, Bidders shall Bid on all line items for the Service Area, and on the one award 
option entitled “Total Annual – If awarded All Service” included in each of the Bid Form 
Options 1, 1-A, 2, 2-A, 3, and 3-A.  Bidders are cautioned to make no assumptions until the 
TOWN has entered into a contract. 
 

12. TERM.  Not withstanding the above reservation of rights as noted in Item 11. AWARDS, 
the TOWN anticipates granting the Contractor the exclusive right and obligation to collect 
residential garbage, trash, vegetation, recyclable materials and construction debris within 
the corporate limits of the Town  stated for period of five (5) years, commencing on October 
1, 2013 and ending September 30, 2018. Additionally, the Town anticipates providing itself 
the sole and exclusive option to negotiate the agreement for additional one (1) year terms.   
For years two (2) through five (5) of the contract, TOWN anticipates the Contractor may 
increase the rate based on the annual consumer price index (June to June, All Urban 
Consumers-US all Items 1982-84=100).  However, under no circumstance does TOWN 
anticipate the increase to exceed 3%.  

 
13. UNUSUAL CHANGES OR COSTS.  The Contractor may petition the Town at any time 

during the term of this Agreement for an additional rate adjustment on the basis of 
extraordinary and unusual changes in the cost of operations that could not reasonably be 
foreseen by a prudent operator. The Contractors request must be made within ninety (90) 
days of the occurrence of such unusual change or cost, and shall contain substantial proof 
and justification, as determined by the Town Manager,designee to support the need for the 
rate adjustment.  The Town may request from the Contractor, and the Contractor shall 
provide such further information as may be reasonably necessary in making its 
determination. Upon receipt of the necessary information, the request for rate adjustment 
shall be placed on the Town Council’s agenda for action. 

 
14. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION:  The TOWN is committed to assuring equal opportunity in 

the award of contracts, and, therefore complies with all laws prohibiting discrimination.  
The successful Bidder is prohibited from discriminating against any employee, applicant, or 
client because of race, color, religion, disability, sex, age, national origin, ancestry, marital 
status, sexual orientation, or gender identity or expression. 

 
15. CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT:  The terms, conditions, and provision in this Invitation 

to Bid shall be included and incorporated into any final contract.  The order of precedence 
will be the Franchise Agreement, Invitation to Bid, and general law.  Any and all legal 

 
 

105 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



action necessary to enforce a contract will be interpreted according to the laws of Florida.  
The venue of any legal action related to this contract shall be in a state court of competent 
jurisdiction located in Palm Beach County, Florida.   

 
16. ADVERTISING:  In submitting a Bid, Bidder agrees not to use the results therefrom as a 

part of any commerical advertising, without the express written approval by the appropriate 
level authority within the TOWN. 

 
17. FACILITIES:  The TOWN reserves the right to inspect the Bidder’s facilities at any 

reasonable time, during normal working hours, with prior notice to determine that Bidder 
has a bona fide place of business, and is a responsible Bidder.  Award recipient will be 
required to maintain an office in Pam Beach County in accordance with the requirements of 
a Franchise Agreement. 

 
18. DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDER:  Any of the following causes is considered 

sufficient to disqualify a Bidder and reject Bidder’s proposal: 
 

 Interest by the same person in more than one proposal. 
 Collusion among or between Bidders.  The Bidder, by affixing his signature to the Bid 

Form, and by executing a Non-collusive affidavit, declares that the Bid is made 
without any previous understanding, contract, or connection with any Town official or 
persons, firms, or corporations making a Bid on the same items and without any 
outside control, collusion or fraud.  By signing the Bid, the Bidder further declares that 
no Town Council member, other Town officer, or employee of  TOWN’s management 
staff directly or indirectly owns any interest in the bidding entity, nor will directly or 
indirectly benefit from the profits or any fees associated with this contract. 

 Unbalanced proposals; that is proposals in which the price bid is out of all proportion 
to the other bids received. 

 Lack of responsibility on the part of the Bidders.  (For example, no Bidder would be 
considered responsible who had failed to satisfactorily carry out any previous contract 
with the Town). 

 Lack of experience or capital on the part of the Bidder.  Evidence of experience, 
ability, financial standing and machinery available may be required of any Bidder. 

 Substantial evidence of bad character or dishonesty. 
 Lack of current applicable certification and/or license for the purpose of performing 

the specified work. 
 History of unsuccessful claims asserted by Bidder against public entities in the State of 

Florida, such as to establish a trend of improperly asserted claims. 
 Any other cause which, as a matter of law renders the bid non-responsive or non-

responsible. 
 More than one Bid from an individual, firm, partnership, corporation, or association 

under the same or different names will not be considered.   
 Reasonable grounds for believing that a Bidder is involved in more than one Bid for 

the same work will be cause for rejection of all Bids in which such Bidders are 
believed to be involved.   

 Reasonable grounds for believing that Bidders, who are planning a merger or are in 
the process of merging with or acquiring other Bidders, are not submitted bona fide or 

 
 

106 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



uncompromised Bids will be sufficient cause for rejection for all Bids in which such 
Bidders are believed to be involved.   

 Any and all compromised Bids will be rejected if there is reason to believe that 
collusion exists between Bidders. 

 
19. GOVERNMENTAL RESTRICTION:  In the event that any governmental restrictions are 

imposed which would necessitate alteration of the performance of the services offered in 
this Bid prior to delivery, it shall be the responsibility of the Bidder to notify the TOWN at 
once.  The TOWN reserves the right to accept the alteration or to cancel the contract at no 
expense to the TOWN. 

 
20. PUBLIC RECORDS:  Upon award recommendation any material submitted in response to 

this Invitation to Bid will become a “public record” and shall be subject to public disclosure 
consistent with Chapter 119 Florida Statutes (Public Record Law), as amended.  Bidders 
must claim the applicable exemptions to disclosure provided by this law in their response to 
the Invitation to Bid by identifying materials to be protected, and must state the reasons why 
such exclusion from public disclosure is necessary and legal.  The TOWN reserves the right 
to make any final determination of the applicability of the Public Records Law. 

 
21. DRUG-FREE WORK PLACE:  Preference shall be given to a business with Drug-Free 

Work Place (DFW) programs.  Whenever two or more Bids which are equal with respect to 
price, quality, and services are received by the TOWN for the procurement of contractual 
services, a Bid received from a business that completes the attached DFW form certifying 
that it is a DFW shall be given preference in the award process. 

 
22. FUNDING:  The obligations of the TOWN under this award are subject to the availability 

of funds lawfully appropiated for its purpose. 
 

23. PEFORMANCE DURING EMERGENCY:  By submitting a bid, Bidder agrees and 
promises that, during and after a public emergency, disaster, hurricane, flood, or acts of 
God, the TOWN shall be given “first priority” for all services under this contract.  Bidder 
agrees to provide all services to TOWN during and after the emergency/disaster at the 
terms, conditions, and prices as provided in this solicitation and with a priority above and 
preference over services to the private sector. 

 
24. PAYMENT:  The TOWN or its designee will be responsible for the billing and collection 

of payments for Residential Solid Waste Collection Service.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for billing and collection of payments for Special Services related to Residential 
Solid Waste Collection Service. 

 
25. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP:  The successful Bidder is, and 

shall be, in the performance of all work, services, and activities under this Contract, an 
Independent Contractor and not an employee, agent, or servant of the TOWN.  All persons 
engaged in any of the work or services performed pursuant to this Contract shall at all times, 
and in all places, be subject to the successful Bidder’s sole direction, supervision, and 
control.  The successful Bidder shall exercise control over the means and manner in which it 
and its employees perform the work and in all respects, the successful Bidder’s relationship, 

 
 

107 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



and the relationship of its employees, to the TOWN shall be that of any Independent 
Contractor and not as employees or agents of the TOWN. 

 
26. PRE-BID CONFERENCE:  There will be one MANDATORY Pre-Bid conference. The 

conference will be held on Wednesday, June 12, 2013 at 11:00 PM in the Central Palm 
Beach County Chamber of Commerce-West Office at 13901 Southern Boulevard, 
Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470. 

 
All potential Bidders must attend the mandatory pre-bid conference.  All potential bidders 
must remain in attendance until the conclusion of the conference.  The purpose of this 
mandatory pre-bid conference is to explain the method of selection, to provide overview of 
the service requirements, and to solicit comments.  Potential Bidders that do not attend the 
conference shall be disqualified from continuing in the competition and the TOWN will not 
accept Bids from such disqualified Bidders. 

   
27.  BID BOND/SECURITY:  Each Bid must be accompanied by a Certified Cashier’s  Check 

or Surety Company Bid Bond in the amount of 2.5% of the highest amount bid by Bidder as 
identified in each of the Bid Forms as “Total Annual - If Awarded all Services Option” and  
included in each of the Bid Forms Options 1, 1-A, 2, 2-A, 3, and 3-A.  (See Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves Procurement Ordinance No. 2008-09, specifically Section D. 2 (a) on 
page 9 of 23 of said Ordinance, and included as part of this Bid as Exhibit “A”). 
 
Failure by Bidder to execute contract documents or to provide the necessary insurance and 
bond documents following award, as required herein and within the time frames set forth 
herein, with respect to the Service Area will entitle the TOWN to retain the entire Bid deposit. 
 
In the event a Bidder declines an award for the Service Area, the TOWN is entitled to retain 
the entire Bid deposit. 
 
Checks shall be made payable to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  Unsuccessful Bidder’s 
Bid deposit will be returned upon execution of a contract with the successful Bidder.  Under 
no circumstances shall the successful Bidder start work until it has supplied an acceptable 
performance bond.  If the successful Bidder fails to supply a performance bond, as specified 
in the Bid, the TOWN shall be entitled to retain the Bid deposit to rectify the Bidder’s 
unacceptable performance.  (See Town of Loxahatchee Groves  Procurement Ordinance No. 
2008-09, specifically Section D. 2 (b) on page 10 of 23 of said Ordinance, and included as 
part of this Bid as Exhibit “A”.) 

 
28. INDEMNIFICATION:  The Successful Proposer shall agree to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless the TOWN and its officials, employees and agents (collectively referred to as 
“Indemnitees”) and each of them from and against all losses, costs, penalties, fines, 
damages, claims, expenses (including attorney’s fees), liabilities (collectively referred to as 
“Liabilities”) by reason of any injury to or death of any person or damage to or destruction 
or loss of any property arising out of, resulting from, or in connection with (i) the 
performance or non-performance of the services contemplated by the Contract which is or is 
alleged to be directly or indirectly caused, in whole or in part, by any act, omission, default 
or negligence (whether active or passive) of the Indemnitees, or any of them or (ii) the 
failure of the Successful Bidder to comply with any of the requirements specified within the 
Contract, or the failure of the Successful Bidder to conform to statutes, ordinances, or other 

 
 

108 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



regulations or requirements of any Successful Bidder expressly agrees to indemnify and 
hold harmless the Indemnitees, or any of them, from and against all liabilities which may be 
asserted by an employee or former employee of Successful Bidder, or any of its 
subcontractors, if applicable and as provided above, for which the Successful Bidder’s 
liability to such employee or former employee would otherwise be limited to payments 
under state Workers’ Compensation or similar laws. (See Indemnification and Insurance 
included as part of this Bid under section entitled “Addiditional Forms”). 

 
29. INSURANCE:  Within ten (10) days after notification of award, the Successful Bidder shall  

         Furnish Evidence of Insurance to the Town Manager.  (See Indemnification and Insurance    
         included as part of this Bid under section entitled “Addiditional Forms”). 
 
         Execution of a Contract is contingent upon of the receipt of proper insurance documents.  If the 

insurance certificate is received within the specified time frame but not in the manner 
prescribed in this Bid, the Successful Bidder shall be verbally notified of such deficiency and 
shall have an additional five (5) calendar days to submit a  corrected certificate to the Town.  If 
the Successful Bidder fails to submit the required insurance documents in the manner 
prescribed in this Invitation to Bid, within fifteen (15) calendar days after the Successful Bidder 
has been made aware of Council award, the Successful Bidder may be in default of the 
contractual terms and may be prohibited from submitting future Bids to the TOWN.  

 
Information regarding any insurance requirements shall be directed to Mark Kutney, Town 
Manager at (561) 793-2418, and via email: mkutney@loxahatcheegrovesfl.gov 
 
Additionally, Successful Bidder may be liable to the TOWN for the cost of re-procuring the           
services, caused by Successful Bidders’ failure to submit the require documents. 

 
30.  BID DEADLINE AND OPENING:  Bids are due in Town Hall Offices, 14579 Southern 

Boulevard, Suite 2, Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470, by Wednesday, June  26, 2013, at 2:00 
P.M. as specified in the Invitation to Bid.  The Bid time must be and shall be scrupulously 
observed. Bids will be publicly opened at 2:30 PM, at the Central Palm Beach County 
Chamber of Commerce-West Office located at 13901 Southern Boulevard, Loxahatchee 
Groves, FL 33470.  

 
 All Bid Forms must be executed and submitted in sealed envelopes as instructed in the 
General Terms and Conditions.  One (1) electronic (DVD) copyand Five (5) copies of your 
Bid Proposal and Bid Forms must be returned to the Town or your Bid may be disqualified. 
Bidders will be allowed to submit a one (1) flash drive in lieu of the one (1) electronic (DVD) 
copy. 
 
The face of the main sealed envelope shall contain Bidder’s name and return address, date and 
time of Bid opening, Bid number and title.  Bids not submitted on the enclosed Bid Forms 
shall be rejected. 

  
It is the Bidder’s sole responsibility to assure that its Bid is complete and delivered at the 
proper time and place of the Bid deadline.  Bids which for any reason are not so delivered will 
not be considered.  Such Bids will be returned unopened.  Offers by facsimile, telephone, or 
electronic means are not acceptable.  A Bid may not be altered by the Bidder after the Bid 
deadline. 

 
 

109 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 
31.  DISPOSAL COST:   

 
Contractor shall not bill Residential Dumpster or Curbside Residential customers for disposal 
costs. Such costs will be part of the special assessment billed by the Town. The Contractor 
shall be given a disposal credit for each residential unit as calculated by the Town, and shall 
be paid prorated disposal costs for newly constructed residential units not included in Town’s 
annual residential credit computation pursuant to a procedure established by the Town and 
Contractor. The newly constructed residential units will pay the prorated disposal costs at the  
time of the application for issuance of the certificate of occupancy for the newly constructed 
residential unit. Contractor shall pay for all solid waste disposal costs incurrred for disposing 
of solid waste at the approved facilities. Contractor shall bill disposal charges for commercial 
accounts (including roll-off service) directly to the customer. 

 
In the event disposal costs charged to the Contractor for garbage, trash, vegetation, 
construction debris and recyclable materials at approved sites are increased, the rate charged 
for the collection of the garbage, trash, and recyclable materials may be adjusted accordingly 
upon proof of such increase submitted by the Contractor and upon reasonable notice to the 
Town and to the customers. Such increase, should the Contractor elect to dispose of materials 
at an approved site other then that operated by the Solid Waste Authority, the Town will not 
increase fees for disposal costs incurred in excess of those charged by the Solid Waste 
Authority. The fees or compensation payable to the Contractor for each year of the term 
hereof shall be adjusted on October 1st of each year. (See Interlocal Agreement with PBC 
Solid Waste Authority – Designated SWA Facility and included as part of this Bid as Exhibit 
“B”). 
 

32. SPECIAL SERVICES COST:  The Contractor shall be responsible for billing and 
collection of  payment for all Special Services with the Customer for the rate as specified in 
the Bid Form   entitled “Special Services.” 

 
33. SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS:  Bidder shall make sure that all docments are signed, 

addenda acknowledged, and changes are initialed. All Bid Forms must be executed and 
submitted in sealed envelopes as instructed in the General Terms and Conditions.  One (1) 
electronic (DVD) copy and Five (5) copies of your Bid Proposal and Bid Forms must be 
returned to the Town or your Bid may be disqualified.  Bidders will be allowed to submit a 
one (1) flash drive in lieu of the One (1) electronic (DVD) copy. 
 

34. COMPETENCY TO CONTRACT:  The Bidder expressly recognizes, acknowledges and 
agrees that the Town of Loxahatchee Groves is a legal political subdivision; that is created by 
the Florida Legislature.  Furthermore, the Bidder expressly admits acknowledges, and 
recognizes the Town’s jurisdiction and ability to enter into Solid Waste and Recycling 
Collection Services Franchise Agreements in Palm Beach County.  The Bidder hereby waives 
any legal causes of action regarding the Town competency and/or ability to enter into Solid 
Waste Collection Franchise Agreements. 
 

35. LOBBYING:  Bidders are advised that the TOWN’s Lobbyist Registration Policy prohibits a 
Bidder or anyone representing the Bidder from communicating, except in writing, with 

 
 

110 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



TOWN Council members of staff authorized to act on behalf of the Town Council to award a 
particular contract regarding its bid, i.e., a “Cone of Silence.” 
 
 

36. CONE OF SILENCE:  Bidders are advised that a Cone of Silence that prohibits any 
communication, except written correspondence, regarding a particular request for proposal, 
request for qualification, bid, or any other competitive solicitation between Bidders or any 
person representing the Bidders and any member of the Town Council, their staff, any 
employee authorized to act on behalf of the TOWN to award the contract under this Bid, or 
any member of the selection committee authorized to evaluate the Bids is in effect. 
 
The provisions of this article shall not apply to oral communications at any public 
proceeding, including pre-Bid conference, oral presentations before selection committees, 
and contract negotiations during any public meetings, presentations made to the Town 
Council and protest hearings.  Further, the Cone of Silence shall not apply to contract 
negotiations between Town staff and intended awardees, any dispute resolution process 
following the filing of a protest between the person filing the protest and Town staff or any 
written correspondence at any time with Town staff, Town Council members, or selection 
committee members, unless specifically prohibited by the applicable competitive solicitation 
process. 
 
The Town Council by means of action taken at any properly noticed Town Council meeting 
may invoke the cone of silence earlier than the time specified in this section for any 
procurement. 

 
 

37. OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL:    Bidder is aware that the Inspector General of 
Palm Beach County has the authority to investigate and audit matters relating to the 
negotiation and performance of this Invitation to Bid, and in furtherance thereof may demand 
and obtain records and testimony from the Bidder and its subcontractors and lower tier 
subcontractors. Bidder understands and agrees that in addition to all other remedies and 
consequences provided by law, failure of the Bidder or its Sub-contractors or lower tier 
subcontractors to fully cooperate with the Inspector General when requested will be deemed 
to be a breach of this contract. Bidder shall be responsible for all costs incurred by it or the 
Town as a result of any investigation by the Inspector General which results in an adverse 
determination caused by Bidder, its subcontractors or lower tier subcontractors. 
 

 
DISQUALIFICATION FOR INACCURATE INFORMATION:  Any Bidder, who submits in its 
Bid to the Town any information which is determined to be substantially inaccurate, incorrect, 
misleading, or exaggerated, shall be disqualified from consideration. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

111 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEFINITIONS AND SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

112 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 

1. Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service shall mean Residential Solid Waste 
and Vegetative Waste Collection service for all Dwelling Units whose Garbage is collected 
by means of a Garbage Can at curbside or roadway. 

 
2. Curbside Residential Recycling Collection Service shall mean the collection of Recyclable  

Materials  by the Contractor  from  all Dwelling Units in the Service Area that also receive  
Curbside  Residential  Solid Waste Collection Service for Solid Waste and other Dwelling 
Units as are designated by the Town, and the delivery to a Materials Recycling Facility. 
 

3. Recycling Containers shall means bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste 
Authority to each unit that is to receive Curbside Residential Recycling Collection Service in 
the Service Area.  
 

4. Garbage Can shall mean any commonly available light gauge steel, plastic, or galvanized 
receptacle of a non-absorbent material, closed at one end and open at the other, furnished 
with a closely fitted top or lid and handle(s). A Garbage Can is also defined as a heavy duty, 
securely tied, plastic bag designed for use as a garbage receptacle. Such container including 
waste materials shall not exceed fifty (50) gallons in capacity or fifty (50) pounds in weight. 
 

5. Containerized Residential Solid Waste Collection Service shall mean solid waste 
collection service of all Dwelling Units, whose Garbage, Trash, Bulk Trash or Vegetative 
Waste is collected by means of standard receptacle compatible with the Contractor's 
equipment provided by Contractor and not by means of a Garbage Can. Vegetative Waste 
shall not be commingled with Garbage, Trash, or Bulk Trash. 
 

6. Container shall mean and include any container designed for an automated or semi-
automated collection system requiring the use of some other standard receptacle compatible 
with the Contractor's equipment supplied by the Contractor and approved by the Town. 
 

7. Designated Facility shall mean a Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority owned disposal, 
processing, recovery, recycling or transfer facility, or another facility if specifically 
designated in writing by the Town Manager, or his designee.  (See  Interlocal Agreement with 
Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority and included as part of this Bid as Exhibit “B”. ) 
 

8. Materials  Recycling  Facility  (MRF)  shall  mean  any  facilities  operated  or managed by, 
for or on behalf of the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority, for the purpose of 
receiving, sorting, processing, storing, and/or preparing Recyclable Materials for sale, as 
specifically designated by the Town Manager, or his designee.  (See  Interlocal Agreement 
with Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority and included as part of this Bid as Exhibit 
“B”. ) 

 
 

113 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES:   
 

A .  SERVICES PROVIDED BY CONTRACTOR:  
The Contractor shall provide mandatory Residential Solid Waste Collection Services and 
Residential Recycling Collection Service in the Service Area. The right to provide such Collection 
Services in the Service Area shall be exclusive to the Contractor. The Town or its designee will be 
responsible for the billing and collection of payments for the mandatory Residential Solid Waste 
Collection Service and Residential Recycling Collection Service. 
 
No other person or entity except the Contractor may offer or provide Residential Solid Waste 
Collection Service and Recycling Collection Services in the Service Area. 
 
Both the Town and the Contractor hereby acknowledge and agree that the TOWN has the option to make  
adjustments to the Scope of Services as it deems necessary. 
 

B. CURBSIDE RESIDENTIAL SOLID WASTE AND VEGETATIVE WASTE: 
All curbside residential solid waste and vegetative waste shall be properly containerized  
in Garbage Cans or otherwise prepared for collection. Vegetative waste shall be separated from 
Residential Solid Waste.   
 
All curbside residential solid w aste collection service, except for permitted holidays, shall be 
provided twice per week, unless options of service (See: E. RESIDENTIAL COLLECTION 
SERVICES below) are implemented, with not less than forty-eight (48) hours nor more than 
seventy-two (72) hours between regularly scheduled pick-up days. Vegetative Waste must be 
placed at an accessible pick-up location similar to the Garbage Can.  
 
All curbside Vegetative Waste shall be collected separately from Residential Solid Waste  and 
Recyclable Materials. All grass clippings, leaves, Christmas trees, pine needles or other similar loose 
waste shall be bagged or containerized and not exceed 50 pounds in weight, otherwise, Vegetative 
Waste must be no more than six (6) feet in length, with the exception of palm fronds and Christmas 
trees, and under 50 pounds per piece and placed neatly at the curb and not exceed 6 cubic yards.  
 
Every effort shall be made to have the Vegetative Waste service day on one of the two scheduled 
route days. 
  
Trash, Bulk Trash, and Construction and Demolition Debris (C&D) resulting from minor home 
maintenance and repair only will be collected at the curb. Contractor is not required to collect 
sections of fencing or debris resulting from the demolition of sheds, storage buildings and other 
like structures or debris generated by major remodeling/construction projects.  C&D may 
include, but is not limited to, drywall, lumber, fencing, roofing material, concrete blocks and 
paneling. Collection of C&D shall be limited to no more than 2 cubic yards per collection per  
dwelling unit. Small pieces of C&D, such as tile or roofing material, shall be containerized and 
weigh not more than 50 pounds per container.  

 
 

114 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
Hours of Collection - Curbside Residential Solid Waste Collection Service shall be provided 
between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday. The hours of collection 
may be extended due to extraordinary circumstances or conditions with the prior consent of the 
Town Manager, or designee. 
 
 
Routes and Schedules:  The Contractor shall provide the Town Manager, or designee in a format 
acceptable, the schedules for all Collection routes and keep such information current at all times. 
 
If Contractor desires to make subsequent changes in the curbside collection service routes or 
schedules that will result in a benefit to the community, a written request shall be made to the Town 
Manager, or designee  not less than 60 days prior to the requested date of change. Such request shall 
include the proposed location and details of the route or schedule change, and the reason for change. 
 
C. CURBSIDE RESIDENTIAL RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES: 
Curbside Residential  Recycling  Collection   Services  will  be  governed  by  the following terms 
and conditions: 
 
Conditions and Frequency  of Service:  The Contractor  shall provide  Curbside Residential 
Recycling Collection Services to all Dwelling Units receiving Curbside Residential Solid Waste 
Collection Service located in the designated Service Area This service shall be provided once every 
week on a scheduled route basis which shall coincide with one of the two regularly scheduled solid 
waste collection pick-up days. 
 
D. HOLIDAYS:   
The  Contractor shall not be permitted to  collect Residential Solid Waste, Vegetative Waste and 
Residential Recyclable Material or maintain office hours on  Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 
Residential Solid Waste, Recyclable Material and Vegetative Waste not collected on Thanksgiving  
Day and Christmas  Day shall be collected on the next scheduled  service day. The Contractor shall 
not be required to maintain office hours on Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. However, on all 
holidays except Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, the Contractor shall provide for operations 
personnel to accept calls from the Town and the Contractor's customers. 
 
 

E. RESIDENTIAL COLLECTION SERVICE: 
 

The Town is considering three (3) different service options for Residential Collection Services as 
outlined below.  All service level options for each disposal scenario including identifying scheduled 
pick up day(s) shall be addressed in the same bid submittal. 
 
 
Curbside Service Option 1:  

1) Curbside Solid Waste – twice per week, collection in Garbage Cans provided by residents and 
limited to five (5) 50-gallon cans per pickup. 
 

2) Recyclables – once per week, on same day as one of the two Solid Waste Collection days, in 
recycling bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority. 
 

 
 

115 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



3) Vegetative Waste – once per week on one of the two Solid Waste Collection days and limited 
to 6 cubic yards per pickup. 
 

Curbside Service Option 1-A: 
 Curbside Solid Waste – one time per week, collection in Garbage Cans provided by residents 

and limited to five (5) 50-gallon cans per pickup. 
 

 Recyclables – once per week, on same day as one of the two Solid Waste Collection days, in 
recycling bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority. 
 

 Vegetative Waste – once per week on one of the two Solid Waste Collection days and limited 
to 6 cubic yards per pickup. 
 

Semi-Automated Service Option 2: 
 Containerized  Solid Waste – twice per week, collection in any container supplied by 

Contractor designed for a semi-automated collection system requiring the use of some 
other standard receptacle compatible with the Contractor's equipment.  
 

 Curbside Recyclables – once per week, on same day as one of the two Solid Waste Collection 
days, in recycling bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority. 
 

 Curbside Vegetative Waste – once per week on same day as one of the two Solid Waste 
Collection days, and limited to 6 cubic yards per pickup. 
 

Semi-Automated Service Option 2-A: 
 Containerized Solid Waste – once per week, collection in any container supplied by 

Contractor designed for a semi-automated collection system requiring the use of some other 
standard receptacle compatible with the Contractor's equipment.  
 

 Curbside Recyclables – once per week, on same day as Solid Waste Collection day, in 
recycling bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority. 
 

 Curbside Vegetative Waste – once per week on the same day of Solid Waste Collection days 
and limited to 6 cubic yards per pickup. 
 

Automated Service Option 3: 
 Containerized  Solid Waste – twice  per week, collection in any container supplied by 

Contractor designed for an automated collection system requiring the use of some other 
standard receptacle compatible with the Contractor's equipment.  
 

 Curbside Recyclables – once per week, on same day as Solid Waste Collection day, in 
recycling bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority. 
 

 Curbside Vegetative Waste – once per week on same day as one of the two of Solid Waste 
Collection days and limited to 6 cubic yards per pickup. 
 

Automated Service Option 3-A: 

 
 

116 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 Containerized Solid Waste – once per week, collection in any container supplied by 
Contractor designed for an automated collection system requiring the use of some other 
standard receptacle compatible with the Contractor's equipment. 

 
 Curbside Recyclables – once per week, on same day as Solid Waste Collection day, in 

recycling bins as supplied by the Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority. 
 

 Curbside Vegetative Waste – once per week on the same day of Solid Waste Collection days 
and limited to 6 cubic yards per pickup. 
 

F. COLLECTION  EQUIPMENT.  The Contractor shall provide an adequate number of vehicles, as 
approved by the Town for regular collection services.  They shall be kept in good repair, appearance, 
and in a sanitary condition at all times.  Each vehicle shall have clearly visible on each side the name 
and phone number of the Contractor.  If a manual curbside service is performed Town residents will 
be responsible for provide garbage cans.   If an automated or semi-automated service is performed, 
Contractor shall supply any containers designed for an automated or semi-automated collection 
system requiring the use of some other standard receptacle compatible with the Contractor's 
equipment.  
 

G. QUALITY AND PERFORMANCE OF CONTRACTOR: It is the intent  to ensure that the Contractor 
provides a quality level of solid waste and recycling Collection services. To this end, all complaints 
received by the Town Manager, or his designee, and reported to the Contractor shall be promptly 
resolved by 5:00 p.m. on the next Business Day.  Complaints shall not include customer informational 
requests or Recycling Container requests.  

 
H. OFFICE . The Contractor shall establish and maintain a local County office or such other facility 

through which it can be contacted, where service may be applied for, and complaints can be 
addressed. It shall be equipped with sufficient telephones with local telephone numbers, and shall 
have (1) responsible person in charge during collection hours and shall be open during collection 
hours.  

 
 

I. BILLING, COLLECTION, PAYMENT.  On or before October 1, and before commencement  of 
work by the Contractor uNder the terms anticipated, the TOWN shall provide to the Contractor the 
estimated  total number  of units to be serviced.  By November  1 of each Fiscal Year, the Town shall 
provide to the Contractor a copy of the annual assessment roll providing a detailed listing of all the 
units to receive these services. Thereafter  and for the duration of Contract term, the TOWN  shall 
promptly notify the Contractor of new residential units to be served and/or deleted and payments will 
be adjusted accordingly. New Dwelling Units which are added for service during the Town's Fiscal 
Year will be added to the customer service list and payment will be paid by the Town to the 
Contractor in the Contractor's monthly  payment.  Payment will be prorated  based  upon the day of 
Certificate of Occupancy and verification of the beginning of actual service, whichever is later. The 
payments from the Town to the Contractor for units added by Certificate of Occupancy are paid no 
later than the tenth day of the month, two months following the month during which the Dwelling 
Unit is provided a Certificate of Occupancy. After the first year of the Contract, the Dwelling Unit 
becomes part of the total number of the subsequent year's  total  number  of units,  provided  annually 
to the Contractor  on or before October 1. 

 
 

117 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 
 

BID FORMS 
 

 
 

 
 

118 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

 
 

BID FORM 
 

                                                 Special Services 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
Service  Rate Per Service 
Rolled Out Commercial 95 or 101 Gallon 
container, with 10 or more feet per direction  

 

Rolled Out Container (and returning it to 
original location  

 

Back Door Service (Residential Curbside 
Only)  

 

Opening (and closing) Door or Gates   

Locks for Containers   

Unlocking Containers   

Supplying (and retro lifting) locking 
mechanism or container  

 

Adding wheels to or changing wheels on 
containers  

 

Adding lids to or changing lids on containers  

Moving container location per customer 
request  

 

Changing out Sizes (above twice per year)   

Additional Schedule Pick-Ups for 
Residential Containerized Customers  

 

Special Service or special equipment 
required because of impaired accessibility  

 

Turn around compactors   

 

 
 

119 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

BID FORM 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
BID NO. 2013-002 

 
The UNDERSIGNED BIDDER, having familiarized itself with the specifications in the Invitation to bid, and 

all laws, regulations and other factors affecting performance of the work, and having satisfied itself of the 

expense and difficulties attended in the performance of a contract, HEREBY PROPOSES AND AGREES, if 

this Bid No. 2013-002, Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services is accepted, to enter into a contract to 

perform under all terms and conditions as stated herein for the following price: 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Should it be necessary to delineate from the scheduled pick up dates identified in the Bid, please check box 
if such change will require a price adjustment.   
 
________ Yes such change will require a price adjustment 

________  No such change will require a price adjustment 

 

Residential Days of Week Unit Cost Per Month                             Estimated Units Extension

Solid Waste - 2x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Recycling - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Vegetative - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $
               Residential Total Monthly Cost $

Multiply by 12 mths

$

$

Curbside Service Option No. 1

              Total Annual Curbside Option No 1 Bid

If awarded All Services - Total Annual Curbside Option No. 1 Bid                     

 
 

120 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

BID FORM 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
BID NO. 2013-002 

 
The UNDERSIGNED BIDDER, having familiarized itself with the specifications in the Invitation to bid, and 

all laws, regulations and other factors affecting performance of the work, and having satisfied itself of the 

expense and difficulties attended in the performance of a contract, HEREBY PROPOSES AND AGREES, if 

this Bid No. 2013-002, Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services is accepted, to enter into a contract to 

perform under all terms and conditions as stated herein for the following price: 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Should it be necessary to delineate from the scheduled pick up dates identified in the Bid, please check box 
if such change will require a price adjustment.   
 
________ Yes such change will require a price adjustment 

________  No such change will require a price adjustment 

Residential Days of Week Unit Cost Per Month                             Estimated Units Extension

Curbside Solid Waste -
1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Recycling - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Vegetative - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

               Residential Total Monthly Cost $

Multiply by 12 mths

$

$

Curbside Service Option No. 1-A

              Total Annual Option No 1-A

If awarded All Services - Total Annual Option No. 1-A                     

 
 

121 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

BID FORM 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
BID NO. 2013-002 

 
The UNDERSIGNED BIDDER, having familiarized itself with the specifications in the Invitation to bid, and 

all laws, regulations and other factors affecting performance of the work, and having satisfied itself of the 

expense and difficulties attended in the performance of a contract, HEREBY PROPOSES AND AGREES, if 

this Bid No. 2013-002, Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services is accepted, to enter into a contract to 

perform under all terms and conditions as stated herein for the following price: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Should it be necessary to delineate from the scheduled pick up dates identified in the Bid, please check box 
if such change will require a price adjustment.   
 
________ Yes such change will require a price adjustment 

________  No such change will require a price adjustment 

Residential Days of Week Unit Cost Per Month                             Estimated Units Extension

Containerized Solid Waste -
2x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Recycling - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Vegetative - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

               Residential Total Monthly Cost $

Multiply by 12 mths

$

$

Semi-Automated Service Option No. 2

              Total Annual Option No 2 

If awarded All Services - Total Annual Option No. 2                      

 
 

122 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

BID FORM 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
BID NO. 2013-002 

 
The UNDERSIGNED BIDDER, having familiarized itself with the specifications in the Invitation to bid, and 

all laws, regulations and other factors affecting performance of the work, and having satisfied itself of the 

expense and difficulties attended in the performance of a contract, HEREBY PROPOSES AND AGREES, if 

this Bid No. 2013-002, Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services is accepted, to enter into a contract to 

perform under all terms and conditions as stated herein for the following price: 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Should it be necessary to delineate from the scheduled pick up dates identified in the Bid, please check box 
if such change will require a price adjustment.   
 
________ Yes such change will require a price adjustment 

________  No such change will require a price adjustment 

Residential Days of Week Unit Cost Per Month                             Estimated Units Extension

Containerized Solid Waste -
1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Recycling - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Vegetative - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

               Residential Total Monthly Cost $

Multiply by 12 mths

$

$

Curbside Service Option No. 2-A

              Total Annual Option No 2-A 

If awarded All Services - Total Annual  Option No. 2-A                     

 
 

123 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

 
BID FORM 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
BID NO. 2013-002 

 
The UNDERSIGNED BIDDER, having familiarized itself with the specifications in the Invitation to bid, and 

all laws, regulations and other factors affecting performance of the work, and having satisfied itself of the 

expense and difficulties attended in the performance of a contract, HEREBY PROPOSES AND AGREES, if 

this Bid No. 2013-002, Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services is accepted, to enter into a contract to 

perform under all terms and conditions as stated herein for the following price: 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Should it be necessary to delineate from the scheduled pick up dates identified in the Bid, please check box 
if such change will require a price adjustment.   
 
________ Yes such change will require a price adjustment 

________  No such change will require a price adjustment 

Residential Days of Week Unit Cost Per Month                             Estimated Units Extension

Containerized Solid Waste -
2x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Recycling - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Vegetative - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

               Residential Total Monthly Cost $

Multiply by 12 mths

$

$

Automated Service Option No. 3

              Total Annual Option No 3

If awarded All Services - Total Annual Option No. 3                     

 
 

124 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

BID FORM 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 

The UNDERSIGNED BIDDER, having familiarized itself with the specifications in the Invitation to bid, and 

all laws, regulations and other factors affecting performance of the work, and having satisfied itself of the 

expense and difficulties attended in the performance of a contract, HEREBY PROPOSES AND AGREES, if 

this Bid No. 2013-002, Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services is accepted, to enter into a contract to 

perform under all terms and conditions as stated herein for the following price: 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Should it be necessary to delineate from the scheduled pick up dates identified in the Bid, please check box 
if such change will require a price adjustment.   
 
________ Yes such change will require a price adjustment 

________  No such change will require a price adjustment 

Residential Days of Week Unit Cost Per Month                             Estimated Units Extension

Containerized Solid Waste -
1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Recycling - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

Curbside Vegetative - 1x/wk                             Dollars ($                 ) 1260 $

               Residential Total Monthly Cost $

Multiply by 12 mths

$

$

Automated Service Option No. 3-A

              Total Annual Option No 3-A

If awarded All Services - Total Annual Option No. 3-A                     

 
 

125 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

BID FORMS SIGNATURE PAGE 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICE 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 

 
Bidder undstands that the Town reserves the right to reject any and all Bids and to waive any 
informality in bidding. 
 
 

               By 
  (Signature): 

 Date: 

           Name 
      (Printed): 

 Title: 

     Company 
          Name: 

  

       Address:  

 

        Contact 
 Information: 

FAX: 
 
 

Office: 
 
 

 
Cell/Mobile 

 
E-Mail: 

 
 
 
 

 
 

126 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 
 

ADDENDUM ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

127 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

ADDENDUM ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES  
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

ADDENDUM NO. INITIALS CONFIRMING RECEIPT 

  

  

  

 
 

IMPORTANT: This form is to be submitted in the Bid Envelope. Failure to do so, subjects Bidder to a 
determination of Non- Responsiveness. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Name of Bidder:___________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

 
 

128 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 
 

ADDITIONAL FORMS 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

129 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

 

 

 
 
Certification Form (Page 1 of 4) 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY 
(IF CORPORATION) 

STATE OF ) 
)   SS: 

COUNTY OF ) 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a meeting of the Board of Directors of the ____________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                       

A corporation existing under the laws of the State of    ________________ , held on   ___________  ____ , 20______ , the 
following resolution was duly passed and adopted: 

 

"RESOLVED, that, as President of the Corporation, be and is hereby authorized to execute the Proposal dated,   
__________________, 20_____  , to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves and this corporation and that their execution 
thereof, attested by the Secretary of the Corporation, and with the Corporate Seal affixed, shall be the official act and deed 
of this Corporation." 

 

I further certify that said resolution is now in full force and effect. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the official seal of the corporation this   _______, 
day of ______________, 20____  . 

 

                                     

Secretary: _______________________ 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

FAILURE TO COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN THIS FORM MAY DISQUALIFY RESPONSE.

 
 

130 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

  

Certification Form (Page 2 of 4) 
 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY 
(IF PARTNERSHIP) 

 

 

STATE OF  ) 

)   SS: 

COUNTY OF  ) 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a meeting of the Partners of the   ________________________________________               

_________________________________________________________________________________________           

Organized and existing under the laws of the State of ____________________________, held on 
_______________, 20 _______, the following resolution was duly passed and adopted: 

 

"RESOLVED, that, ____________________, as________________________ of the Partnership, be and is hereby 
authorized to execute the Proposal dated, ______________ 20_______, to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves and this 
partnership and that their execution thereof, attested by the ______________ 

________________________ shall be the official act and deed of this Partnership." 

 

I further certify that said resolution is now in full force and effect. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ______________, day of _______,  

20________. 

 

 

Secretary: _______________________________ 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FAILURE TO COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN THIS FORM MAY DISQUALIFY RESPONSE. 

 
 

131 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

Certification Form (Page 3 of 4) 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY 
(IF JOINT VENTURE) 

 
 

STATE OF   ) 

)   SS: 

COUNTY OF   ) 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a meeting of the Principals of the___________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Organized and existing under the laws of the State of __________________________________________, held on 
_____________________________, 20__________, the following resolution was duly passed and adopted: 

"RESOLVED, that,_____________________________________ as ____________________ of the Joint Venture be 
and is hereby authorized to execute the Proposal dated,___________________ 20____ , to the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves and this Joint Venture and that their execution thereof, attested by the ______________ 

________________________ shall be the official act and deed of this Joint Venture." 

I further certify that said resolution is now in full force and effect. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this____________, day of                         
_____________________, 20______. 

 

 

Secretary: ______________________________ 

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FAILURE TO COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN THIS FORM MAY DISQUALIFY RESPONSE. 
 

 
 

 
 

132 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

Certification Form (Page 4 of 4) 
 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY 
(OTHER) 

STATE OF ) 
COUNTY OF ) 

 

I _____________________________________________________, __________________________ of ________ 
                             (Signer’s Name)                                                                                                              (Title)      
 
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________                      
                                                                                                        (Name of Entity)      
An entity lawfully organized and existing under the laws of the State of ______________________, the following  

Resolution was duly passed and adopted on _______ day of _______________________, 2013.    
 

"RESOLVED, that, ____________________________________, as _______________________ of  
                                                           (Signer’s Name)                                                                           (Title) 
 
 
                                                                                        (Name of Entity) 
 
 In accordance with all of its documents of governance and management and the laws of the State of  
 
_______________ is empowered and authorized on behalf of ___________________________________________ 
                                                                                                                                                                    (Name of Entity) 
 
To execute the Bid Proposal dated, _____________________, 20_____, to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves and  
 
_______________________________________________________________________ and that their execution  
                                                                             (Name of Entity) 
Thereof, attested by the Secretary of the _____________________________________________________________ 
                                                                                                                                                 (Name of Entity) 
 
 ,and with the Official Seal affixed, shall be the official act and deed __________________________________  
                  (Name of Entity) 
____________________________________________________________." 
 

I further certify that said resolution is now in full force and effect. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the official seal of  
 
______________________________________________, this _______, day of ______________, 2013. 
                                        (Name of Entity) 

                                   
Secretary: _______________________ 

 

(SEAL) 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN THIS FORM MAY DISQUALIFY RESPONSE. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

133 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 

Indemnification and Insurance 
 

INDEMNIFICATION 
 
Successful Proposer shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Town and its officials, employees and agents 
(collectively referred to as “Indemnitees”) and each of them from and against all loss, cost, penalties, fines, damages, 
claims, expenses (including attorney’s fees) or liabilities (collectively referred to as “Liabilities”) by reason of any 
injury to or death of any person or damage to or destruction or loss of any property arising out of, resulting from, or in 
connection with (i) the performance or non-performance of the services contemplated by the Contract which is or is 
alleged to be directly or indirectly caused, in whole or in part, by any act, omission, default or negligence (whether 
active or passive) of Successful Proposer or its employees, agents, or subcontractors (collectively referred to as 
“Proposer”), regardless of whether it is, or is alleged to be, caused in whole or part (whether joint, concurrent, or 
contributing) by any act, omission, default or negligence (whether active or passive) of the Indemnitees, or any of them 
or (ii) the failure of the Successful Proposer  to comply with any of the provisions in the Contract or the failure of the 
Successful Proposer to conform to statutes, ordinances or other regulations or requirements of any governmental 
authority, federal or state, in connection with the performance of the Contract. Successful Proposer expressly agrees to 
indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnitees, or any of them, from and against all liabilities which may be asserted by 
an employee or former employee of Proposer, or any of its subcontractors, as provided above, for which the Successful 
Proposer’s liability to such employee or former employee would otherwise be limited to payments under state 
Workers’ Compensation or similar laws. 
 
Successful Proposer further agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Indemnitees from and against (i) any 
and all Liabilities imposed on account of the violation of any law, ordinance, order, rule, regulation, condition, or 
requirement, in any way related, directly or indirectly, to Successful Proposer’s performance under the Contract, 
compliance with which is left by the Contract to the Proposer, and (ii) any and all claims, and/or suits for labor and 
materials furnished by the Successful Proposer or utilized in the performance of the Contract or otherwise. 
 
Where not specifically prohibited by law, Successful Proposer further specifically agrees to indemnify, defend and 
hold harmless the Indemnitees from all claims and suits for any liability, including, but not limited to, injury, death, or 
damage to any person or property whatsoever, caused by, arising from, incident to, connected with or growing out of 
the performance or non-performance of the Contract which is, or is alleged to be, caused in part (whether joint, 
concurrent or contributing) or in whole by any act, omission, default, or negligence (whether active or passive) of the 
Indemnitees.  The foregoing indemnity shall also include liability imposed by any doctrine of strict liability. 
  
The Successful Proposer shall furnish to Town of Loxahatchee Groves, c/o Town Manager, 14579 Southern 
Boulevard, Suite 2, Loxahatchee Groves, Florida 33470, Certificate(s) of Insurance prior to contract execution which 
indicate that insurance coverage has been obtained which meets the requirements as outlined below: 
 
A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance for all employees of the Proposer as required by Florida Statute 440. 
B. Public Liability Insurance on a comprehensive basis in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 combined 

single limit per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage.  TOWN must be shown as an additional 
insured with respect to this coverage. 

C. Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired vehicles used in connection with the 
work in an amount not less than statutory combined single limit per occurrence for bodily injury and property 
damage. 

 
The insurance coverage required shall include those classifications, as listed in standard liability insurance manuals, 
which most nearly reflect the operations of the Successful Proposer.  
 
All insurance policies required above shall be issued by companies authorized to do business under the laws of the 
State of Florida, with the following qualifications: 
 

The Company must be rated no less than “A” as to management, and no less than “Class 
X” as to financial strength, by the latest edition of Best’s Key Rating Insurance Guide or 
acceptance of insurance company which holds a valid Florida Certificate of Authority 
issued by the State of Florida, Department of Insurance, and are members of the Florida 
Guarantee Fund. 

 
 

134 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
Indemnification and Insurance (cont.) 

 
 

Certificates will indicate no modification or change in insurance shall be made without thirty (30) days written 
advance notice to the certificate holder. 
 
Compliance with the foregoing requirements shall not relieve the Successful Proposer of his liability and obligation 
under this section or under any other section of this Agreement. 
 
The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for assuring that the insurance certificates required in conjunction with 
this Section remain in force for the duration of the contractual period; including any and all option terms that may be 
granted to the Successful Proposer. 
 
--If insurance certificates are scheduled to expire during the contractual period, the Successful Proposer shall be 
responsible for submitting new or renewed insurance certificates to the Town at a minimum of ten (10) calendar days 
in advance of such expiration. 
 
--In the event that expired certificates are not replaced with new or renewed certificates which cover the 
contractual period, the Town shall: 
 
A) Suspend the Contract until such time as the new or renewed certificates are received by the Town in the 

manner prescribed in the Invitation to Bid. 
 
B) The Town may, at its sole discretion, terminate the Contract for cause and seek re-procurement damages 

from the Successful Proposer in conjunction with the violation of the terms and conditions of the Contract.                                
 
The undersigned Proposer acknowledges that (s)he has read the above information and agrees to comply with all the 
above Town requirements. 
 
 
 
Proposer: ____________________________ Signature:      
            (Company name)     
 
Date: _____________________________ Print Name:  _     
 
 
FAILURE TO COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN THIS FORM MAY DISQUALIFY YOUR 
RESPONSE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

135 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
     SWORN STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 287.133(3)(A), FLORIDA STATUTES, ON THE    
     PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES  
     (To be signed in the presence Of a notary public or other officer authorized to administer oaths.) 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
                                 COUNTY                                                  

 

Before me, the undersigned authority, personally appeared, who, being by me first duly sworn, made the 
following statement: 
Name of Proposer    
Business address    

 

I understand that a public entity crime as defined in Section 287.133 of the Florida Statutes includes a 
violation of any state or federal law by a person with respect to and directly related to the transaction of 
business with any public entity in Florida or with an agency or political subdivision of any other state or 
with the agency or political subdivision of any other state or with the United States, including, but not 
limited to, any bid or contract for goods or services to be provided to any public entity or any such agency 
or political subdivision and involving antitrust, fraud, theft, bribery, collusion, racketeering, conspiracy, 
or material misrepresentation. 
I understand that “convicted” or “conviction” is defined by the statue to mean a finding of guilt or a 
conviction of a public entity crime, with or without an adjudication of guilt, in any federal or state trial 
court of record relating to charges brought by indictment or information after July 1, 1989, as a result of a 
jury verdict, nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. 
I understand that “affiliate” is defined by the statute to mean (1) a predecessor or successor of a person or 
a corporation convicted of a public entity crime, or (2) and entity under the control of any natural person 
who is active in the management of the entity and who has been convicted of a public entity crime, or (3) 
those officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members and agents who are 
active in the management of an affiliate, or (4) a person or corporation who knowingly entered into a joint 
venture with a person who has been convicted of a public entity crime in Florida during the preceding 36 
months. 

 

Please mark the appropriate paragraph below: 
          Neither the proposer, contractor, nor any officer, director, executive, partner, shareholder, employee 
member or agent who is active in the management of the proposer or contractor nor any affiliate of the 
proposer or contractor has been convicted of a public entity crime subsequent to July 1, 1989. 

  There has been a conviction of a public entity crime by the proposer or contractor, or an officer, 
director, executive, partner, shareholder, employee, member or agent of the proposer or contractor who is 
active in the management of the proposer or contractor or an affiliate of the proposer or contractor.  A 
determination has been made pursuant to Section 287.133(3) by order of the Division of Administrative  

Sworn Statement (cont.) 

 

Hearings that it is not in the public interest for the name of the convicted person or affiliate to appear on 
the convicted vendor list. The name of the convicted person or affiliate is                                                . 

 
 

136 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

Sample Affirmative Action Policy 
For Equal Employment Opportunity 

 
 

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION/ 
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY - POLICY STATEMENT 

 
 
It is the policy of (Company Name) to base its hiring and promotions on merit, qualifications and competency and that 
its personnel practices will not be influenced by an applicant’s or employee’s race, color, place of birth, religion, 
national origin, sex, age, marital status, veteran and handicapped status. 
 
One of the management duties of all principals at (Company Name) is to ensure that the following personnel practices 
are being satisfied: 
 
1. Take every necessary affirmative action to attract and retain qualified employees, regardless of race, color, place 

of birth, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, veteran and handicapped status. 
 
2. Maintain equitable principles in the recruitment, hiring, training, compensation and promotion of employees. 
 
3. Monitor and review personnel practices to guarantee that equal opportunities are being provided to all 

employees, regardless of race, color, place of birth, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, veteran and 
handicapped status. 

 
(Company Name) is committed to take affirmative action and aggressively pursue activities that will serve to enable 
all employees and applicants opportunities available throughout this organization. 
 
Clearly, the above actions cannot be accomplished as a secondary duty for any individual, despite the full support of 
management.  And so, to monitor our efforts, (Company Name) has assigned one of its principals as the Affirmative 
Action Director to monitor all activities of this program. 
 
Employees may contact (Name of assigned principal) at (telephone number) regarding this Affirmative Action Policy. 
 
 

 DATE: ______________________________________ 

 (SIGNATURE/TITLE): ______________________________________ 

 

 

 

 
FAILURE TO COMPLETE, SIGN, AND RETURN THIS FORM MAY DISQUALIFY YOUR 
RESPONSE. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

137 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

Non-Collusive Affidavit 
 

  
State of                                        )                         County of                                    ) 
 
                                                          Being first duly sworn deposes and says that: 
 
(1) He/she is the                                                                       of the Proposer that has                                         
          (Owner, Partner, Officer, Representative or Agent) 
 
Submitted the attached proposal; 
He/she is fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached proposal and of 
All pertinent circumstances respecting such proposal; 
Such proposal is genuine and is not a collusive or sham proposal; 
Neither the said Proposer nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, 
Employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, have in any way colluded, conspired, 
Connived or agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Proposer, firm, or person to submit a 
Collusive or sham proposal in connection with the work for which the attached proposal has been 
Submitted; or to refrain from bidding in connection with such work; or have in any manner, 
Directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion, or communication, or conference with 
And Proposer, firm or person to fix the price or prices in the attached proposal or of any other 
Proposer, or to fix an overhead, profit, or cost elements of the proposal price or the proposal 
Price of any other Proposer, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or 
Unlawful agreement any advantage against (Recipient), or any person interested in the proposed 
Work; 
The price or prices quoted in the attached proposal are fair and proper and are not tainted by any 
Collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement on the part of the Proposer or any other 
of its agents, representatives, owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
Signed, sealed and delivered 
In the presence of: 
                                                            By:                                                                
 
                                                             _____________________________                                    
           (printed name and title) 
State of                                           
County of                                       
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this            day of _______________                                 
 
20     , by                                                 , who is personally known to me or who has produced  
                                                                As identification and who did (did not) take an oath. 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal 
 
                                                                                                 
Notary Public                             
(Name of Notary Public: Print/Stamp 
 
 
 

 
 

138 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
 

DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE FORM 
 
 
 
 
 
The  undersigned  vendor  in  accordance  with  Florida  Statute  287.087  hereby  certifies  that 

does: 
(Name of Business) 

 
1. Publish a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, 

distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the 
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violations of 
such prohibition. 

 
2. Inform employees about the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, the business's policy of 

maintaining a drug-free workplace, any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and 
employee assistance programs, and the penalties that may be imposed upon employees for 
drug abuse violations. 

 
3. Give each employee engaged in providing the commodities or contractual services that are 

proposed a copy of the statement specified in subsection (1). 
 
4. In the statement specified in subsection (1), notify the employees that, as a condition of 

working on the commodities or contractual services that are under bid, the employee will 
abide by the terms of the statement and will notify the employer of any conviction of, or 
plea of guilty or nolo contender to, any violation of Chapter 893 or of any controlled 
substance law of the United States or any state, for a violation occurring in the workplace no 
later than five (5) days after such conviction. 

 
5. Impose a sanction on, or require the satisfactory participation in a drug abuse assistance or 

rehabilitation program if such is available in the employee's community, by any employee 
who is so convicted. 

 
6. Make  a  good  faith  effort  to  continue  to  maintain  a  drug-free  workplace  through 

implementation of this section. 
 
As the person authorized to sign the statement, I certify that this firm complies fully with the above 
requirements. 

 
 
 

Bidder's Signature 
 
 
 

Date 

 
 

139 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 
 

BID BOND/SECURITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

140 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
 

BID BOND / SECURITY 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 
 

 
1. Each Bid must be accompanied by a Certified Cashier’s  Check or Surety Company Bid Bond in the 

amount of 2.5% of the highest amount bid by Bidder as identified in each of the Bid Forms as “Total 
Annual - If Awarded all Services Option” and  included in each of the Bid Forms Options 1, 1-A, 2, 
2-A, 3, and 3-A by Bidder.  
 
Failure by Bidder to execute contract documents or to provide the necessary insurance and bond 
documents following award, as required herein and within the time frames set forth herein, with 
respect to the Service Area will entitle the TOWN to retain the entire Bid deposit. 
 
In the event a Bidder declines an award for the Service Area, the TOWN is entitled to retain the 
entire Bid deposit. 
 
Checks shall be made payable to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  Unsuccessful Bidder’s Bid 
deposit will be returned upon execution of a contract with the successful Bidder.  Under no 
circumstances shall the successful Bidder start work until it has supplied an acceptable performance 
bond.  If the successful Bidder fails to supply a performance bond, as specified in the Bid, the 
TOWN shall be entitled to retain the Bid deposit to rectify the Bidder’s unacceptable performance. 

 
 

       ( See Town of Loxahatchee Groves Procurement Ordinance No. 2008-09 – Exhibit “A”) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

141 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 
 

SERVICE AREA MAP 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

142 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

143 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

Check List 
 

                                                                                                     Submitted with Proposal 
 
Special Services Rate Schedule 
   This form must be completed, signed and returned with Proposal       YES_____ 
 
Bid Form and Bid Form Signature Pages consisting of 7 pages: 
Option 1, 1-A, 2, 2-A, 3, and 3-A, and one signature page 
 These form must be completed, signed and returned with Proposal       YES_____ 
 
Addendum Acknowledgement Form 
   This form must be signed and returned with Proposal                          YES_____ 
 
Certificate of Authority  
   This form must be completed, signed, and returned with Proposal       YES_____ 
 
Insurance Requirements 
   Acknowledgement of receipt of information on the insurance for 
   this Request for Bid must be signed and returned with Proposal          YES_____ 
 
Public Entity Crime Form 
  This form must be completed, signed and returned with Proposal         YES_____ 
 
Affirmative Action Policy for Equal Employment Opportunity 
   Submit Sample                                                                                       YES_____ 
 
Non Collusive Affidavit 
   This form must be completed, signed and returned with Proposal        YES_____ 
 
Drug Free Work Place (DFW) Form 
This form must be completed, signed and returned with Proposal           YES_____ 
 
Bid Bond/Security 
   Must be included with Bid                                                                      YES_____ 
 
  
Complete Bid Proposal with all required forms and attachments.             YES_____ 

 
 

144 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 

CURRENT PROVIDER INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 

Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Franchise Agreement with Waste Pro of Florida is 
provided for informational purposes only.   
 
(See Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Franchise Agreement as included in Bid as 
Exhibit “C”).   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

145 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

                                                             
 
 
 

BID NO. 2013-002 
 
 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 
 
 

EXHIBITS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

146 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Ordinance No. 2008-09 Procurement Ordinance 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

147 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATTCHEE
GROVES, FLORIDA ENACTING A NEW SECTION OF THE
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES CODE OF
ORDINANCES ENTITLED "BID PROCEDURES; PUBLIC
FUNDS" ADOPTING PROCUREMENT REQUIREMENTS;
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR
CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING
FOR EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, Town staff recommends the enactment of a new section of the

Town of Loxahatchee Groves Code of Ordinances related to procurement procedures;

and

WHEREAS, the Town Council deems it to be in the best interests of the

citizens, residents and businesses within the Town of Loxahatchee Groves to enact a

new section of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves Code of Ordinances as provided

herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL

OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA THAT:

Section 1. The foregoing "WHEREAS" clauses are hereby ratified and

confrrmed as being true and correct and are hereby made a part of this Ordinance upon

adoption hereof.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 1 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

148 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Section 2.

ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

The Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves hereby

enacts a new section of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves,

Florida, entitled "Bid Procedures; Public Funds", to read as follows:

BID PROCEDURES; PUBLIC FUNDS.

A. Definitions.

For the purpose of this Division of the Code, the following
definitions shall apply unless the context clearly indicates or requires a
different meaning.

ADDENDA or ADDENDUM means written or graphic
instruments issued prior to the opening of bids which clarify, correct or
change the bidding documents or the contract documents.

BUSINESS LOCATION means a permanent office or other site
where the vendor operates, conducts, engages in, or carries on all, or a
portion of, its business. A post office box shall not be sufficient to
constitute a "business location".

CHANGE ORDER means changes, due to unanticipated
conditions or developments, made to an executory contract, which do not
substantially alter the character of the work contracted for, and which do
not vary so substantially from the original specifications as to constitute a
new undertaking. Such changes must reasonably and conscientiously be
viewed as being in fulfillment of the original scope of the contract rather
than as departing therefrom. Further, such changes, when viewed against
the background of the work described in the contract and the language
used in the specifications, must clearly be directed either to the
achievement of a more satisfactory result or the elimination of work not
necessary to the satisfactory completion of the contract.

CHIEF PROCUREMENT OFFICER means the Town Manager,
or his or her designee, who is responsible for the procurelnent of

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law~

Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 2 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09_Procurement_CodeREV l.doc

 
 

149 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

commodities and services as well as the management and disposal of
commodities.

TOWN STANDARD COMMODITIES, refer to those situations
where the Town has determined that a pal1icular style, brand, make, or
model is the only type that meets the Town's requirements for
performance, compatibility or other salient characteristics.

COMMODITIES means personal prope11y, including but not
limited to, goods, supplies, apparatus, equipment, material and other forms
of tangible personal property.

CONTRACTOR means any person or business entity having a
contract with the Town.

COOPERATIVE PURCHASING refers to situations where the
Town participates in joint procurement of commodities or services with
other public entities within the state, in order to obtain lower plices
through greater purchasing volume.

INVITAT/ON FOR BID means a written solicitation for
competitive sealed bids with the title, date and hour of the public bid
opening designated therein and specifically defining the commodities or
services for which bids are sought. The invitation for bid shall be used
when the Town is capable of specifically defining the scope of work for
which a service is required or when the Town is capable of establishing
precise specifications defining the actual commodities required. The
invitation for bid shall include instruction to bidders, plans, drawings and
specifications, if any, bid form and other required forms and documents to
be submitted with the bid.

QUOTATIONS means unsealed telephonic, facsimile or written
bids for commodities or services.

REQUEST FOR LETTERS OF INTEREST means a written
solicitation for offers with the title, date and hour of the submission
deadline designated. A request for letters of interests shall include but is

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 3 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09_Procurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

150 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

not limited to, general information and submission deadline. The town
shall engage in competitive negotiations with responsible offerors
determined to be reasonably susceptible of being selected for award for
the purpose of clarification to assure full understanding of and
conformance to the solicitation requirements. Offerors shall be accorded
fair and equal treatment with respect to any opportunity for discussion.

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS means a written solicitation for
competitive sealed proposals with the title, date and hour of the public
opening designated. A request for proposals shall include but is not limited
to general information, functional or general specifications, a statement of
work, proposal instruction and evaluation criteria. All requests for
proposals shall state the relative importance of price and any other
evaluation criteria. The Town may engage in competitive negotiations
with responsible proposers determined to be reasonably susceptible of
being selected for award for the pumose of clarification to assure full
understanding of and conformance to the solicitation requirements.
Proposers shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with respect to any
opportunity for discussion and revision of proposals and such revisions
may be permitted after submissions and prior to award for the purpose of
obtaining the best and final offer.

REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS means a written solicitation
for competitive sealed offers with the title, date and hour of the public
opening designated. A request for qualifications shall include but is not
limited to, general information, functional or general specifications,
statement of work, instructions for offer and evaluation criteria. All
requests for qualifications shall state the relative importance of the
evaluation criteria. The town may engage in competitive negotiations with
responsible offerors determined to be reasonably susceptible of being
selected for award for the purpose of clarification to assure full
understanding of and conformance to the solicitation requirements.
Offerors shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with respect to any
opportunity for discussion and revision of offers and such revisions may
be permitted after submissions and prior to award for the purpose of
obtaining the best and final offer.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions fi'om existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 4 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREVl.doc

 
 

151 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

RESPONSIBLE BIDDER, RESPONSIBLE OFFEROR,
RESPONSIBLE PROPOSER means a person or business entity having
the capability in all respects to perform fully the contract requirements and
sufficient experience, ability, reliability, capacity, facilities, equipment,
financial resources and credit to give the Town a reasonable expectation of
good faith performance, determined solely within the town's discretion.

RESPONSIVE BIDDER, RESPONSIVE OFFEROR, or
RESPONSIVE PROPOSER means a person who has submitted a bid,
offer, or proposal that conforms in all material respects to the Invitation
for Bid, Request for Letters of Interests, Request for Qualifications, or
Request for Proposals, determined solely within the Town's discretion.

SERVICES means the furnishing of labor, time, or effoli by a
contractor, not involving the delivery of a specific end-product other than
reports that are merely incidental to the required performance. This term
shall not include employment agreements or collective bargaining
agreements.

SOLE SOURCE means that the commodities or servIces are
available from only one (1) responsible vendor.

SURPLUS PROPERTY means any personal property belonging to
the town, that is capable of being used but is in excess of the normal
operating requirements of the Town, or which is no longer used or which
has become obsolete, worn out or scrapped.

USING AGENCY means any depmiment, agency, commISSIon,
bureau or other unit in the town government using commodities or
procuring services as provided in this Division of the Town Code of
Ordinances.

B. Compliance required.

It shall be unlawful for any town officer or employee to purchase
any commodities or services or make any contract within the purview of
this division unless there has been compliance with the requirements of

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 5 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV l.doc

 
 

152 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

this division. Any purchase made or contract executed contrary to the
provisions hereof shall be null and void, and the Town shall not be bound
thereby.

C. Competitive Bidding or Competitive Proposals
Required; Exceptions.

(l) A purchase of or contract for commodities or services that
is estimated by the Chief Procurement Officer to cost more than twenty
five thousand dollars ($25,000), shall be based on competitive bids or
competitive proposals as determined by the Chief Procurement Officer,
except as specifically provided herein.

(2) Only the following situations are exempt from the
competitive bid and competitive proposal requirements of this section:

(a) Emergency purchases. In urgent cases of
compelling emergency that require the immediate purchase of
commodities or services, the Town Manager is empowered to
waive competitive bidding or competitive proposals and authorize
the Chief Procurement Officer to secure by open market procedure
any commodities or services, notwithstanding the estimated cost of
the commodities or services.

(b) Professional services. Contracts for professional
services involving peculiar skill, ability, experience or expeliise,
which are in their nature unique and not subject to competitive
bidding or competitive proposals, are exempt from this section of
the Code; however, state laws, such as the Consultants'
Competitive Negotiation Act of the Florida Statutes, as may be
amended from time to time, to the extent applicable, shall be
followed.

(c) Town standard. commodities, single-source and
sole-source commodities or services. Town standard, single
source and sole-source commodities or services are exempt from
this section of the Code.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 6 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV1.doc

 
 

153 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



CODING:

ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

(d) Disaster preparedness. Contracts for and purchases
of commodities or services that are made in contemplation and
preparation for and in response to the occurrence of a natural or
man-made disaster or civil unrest, where time or availability rather
than price is the controlling factor, are exempt from this section of
the Code.

(e) Utilization of other governnzental agencies
contracts. Commodities or services that are the subj ect of
contracts with the state, its political subdivisions or other
governmental entities, including the United States government, are
exempt from this section, provided, however, that this subsection
shall apply only if the contract expressly penuits or if the awarding
jurisdiction and/or the vendor agree to allow the Town to purchase
therefrom, and if either: (i) the commodities or services are the
subject of a price schedule negotiated by the state or federal
government or by competitive bid by another governmental agency
and not on any preference; or (in the price offered for the
commodity or service exactly equals or is lower than the
governmental contract from vendors awarded such governmental
contract. Where an award is made pursuant to this paragraph, the
terms and conditions agreeable to the town may be used in lieu of
those tenus and conditions of the contract with the other
governmental agency.

(:0 Cooperative purchasing. Cooperative purchasing
plans are exempt from this section of the Code.

(g) The following contractual services are not subj ect to
the competitive procurement requirement:

(i) Services involving special skill, ability,
training or expeI1ise which are in their nature unIque,
original or creative.

Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 70f23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09_Procurement_CodeREV i.doc

 
 

154 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



CODING:

ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

(ii) Academic program reVIews or lectures or
seminars by individuals.

(iii) Health services involving examination,
diagnosis, treatment, prevention, medical consultation or
administration.

(iv) Artistic servIces which are original and
creative in character and skill in a recognized field of
artistic endeavor such as music, dance, drama, painting and
sculpture, photography, culinary arts, fashion design and
the like.

(v) Performing artists and entertainers hired to
provide entertainment for the benefit of the citizens of
Loxahatchee Groves and the general public at any Town
facility.

(vi) Maintenance service of equipment. When
considered to be in the best interest of the Town and
recommended by the using department and the services to
be performed are by the equipment manufacturer,
manufacturer's service representative, or a distributor of the
manufacturer's equipment the services may be procured
without following the competitive sealed bid process.

(vii) Utilities including but not limited to electric,
water and communications.

(viii) Goods and services provided by not-for
profit organizations.

(ix) The foregoing enumeration of services
deemed to be exempt from the competitive procurement
requirements is not intended to be an exhaustive or
exclusive list. The Town Manager or his or her designee
may determine if a contractual service must be procured

Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 8 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

155 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

through the competitive procurement process, if not
expressly indicated herein.

(x)

software.
copyrighted materials, except computer

(xi) Food, clothing and other prolTIotional items
purchased for resale or distribution to the public.

(h) Best interest of the Town. Purchases of, and
contracts for, commodities or services are exempt from this section
of the Code when the Town Council declares by a four-fifths (4/5)
affirmative vote that the process of competitive bidding and
competitive proposals is not in the best interest of the Town. The
Town Council shall make specific factual findings that support its
determination, and such contracts shall not be placed on the Town
Council's Consent Agenda.

(3) Any other provision of this section of the Code to the
contrary notwithstanding, Town purchasing shall be conducted in
accordance with applicable Florida law, including §§ 180.24 and 255.20,
Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time.

D, Competitive Bidding Procedure.

Procedure. The competitive bidding procedures below shall be
followed:

(1) Advertisement for bids required. Notice of the competitive
bid shall be advertised at least one (1) time in a newspaper of general
circulation within the Town, calling for sealed bids for the work to be
done under the proposed contract, at least ten (10) days before the bids are
due to be received.

(2) Surety.

(a) Bid deposits. When deemed necessary by the Chief
Procurement Officer, bid deposits or sureties shall be prescribed in

CODD\lG: Words in strike through type are deletions fi'om existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 9 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_C'odeREV l.doc

 
 

156 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

the public notice inviting bids. Unsuccessful bidders shall be
entitled to return of such deposit or surety where the Chief
Procurement Officer has required same. A successful bidder shall
forfeit any deposit or surety required by the Chief Procuren1ent
Officer upon failure on its part to enter a contract within fifteen
(15) days after the award.

(b) Sureties 011 oerformance. For all competitive bids
seeking commodities or services in excess of two hundred
thousand ($200,000) dollars the Chief Procurement Officer or
appropriate staff person, shall include as a requirement of such
advertised bids a performance bond in the total contract amount.
The Chief Procurement Office, in his or her discretion, may require
such performance bonds for bids seeking commodities or services
in an amount of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) or less.
The Town Manager shall have the discretion to waive the
performance bond requirement in the event of an undue hardship
or emergency. Any bonding company used must be listed on the
United States Department of the Treasury's Circular 570.
Additionally, the bonding company must be rated at least "A,"
Class VI, by "Best's Key Rating Guide," published by A.M. Best
Company, and be authorized to do business in Florida.

(3) Addenda. Written addenda will be issued when changes,
clarification or amendments to the invitation for bid are deemed necessary.

(4) Bid opening procedure.

(a) Bids shall be submitted sealed to the Town Clerk
and shall be identified as bids on the envelope.

(b) Bids shall be opened in public by the Town Clerk or
designee at the time and place stated in the public notice.

(c) A tabulation of all bids received shall be posted for
public inspection.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 10 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

157 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

(d) No late bids shall be accepted or opened, and, if
received after the date and time called for in the bid notice, shall be
retained unopened by the Town Clerk.

(e) Failure to properly sign bids may invalidate them
and they shall not be considered.

(D The bids opened shall contain a copy to be filed in
the Clerk's office.

(g) The Town reserves the right to waive any
irregularities in the bids, as determined by the Chief Procurement
Officer.

(5) Rejection of bids. The Town Manager and Town Council
may reject any bids, parts of all bids or all bids for anyone or more
commodities or services included in the proposed contract when the public
interest will be served thereby. The Chief Procurement Officer shall not
accept a bid from a contractor who is in default on the payment of taxes,
licenses or other moneys due the Town.

(6) Contracts shall be awarded to the lowest responsive,
responsible bidder. In determining the "lowest responsive, responsible
bidder," the Chief Procurement Officer shall consider:

(a) The prices contained in the bid.

(b) The ability, capacity and skill of the bidder to
perfOlID the contract or provide the service required.

(c) Whether the bidder can perform the contract or
provide the service promptly or within the time specified, without
delay or interference.

(d) The character, integrity, reputation, judgment,
experience and efficiency of the bidder.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law ~

Words in underlined type are additions.

Page] 1 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREVI.doc

 
 

158 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

Ce) The quality of perfonnance of previous contracts of
services, including, but not limited to, Town contracts.

CD The previous and existing compliance by the bidder
with laws and ordinances relating to the contract or service.

Cg) The sufficiency of the financial resources and
ability of the bidder to perform the contract or provide the service.

(h) The quality, availability and adaptability of the
commodities, or services to the particular use required.

0) The ability of the bidder to provide future
maintenance and service for the use of the sub;ect of the contract.

CD The number and scope of conditions attached to the

Ck) The overall cost to the Town.

(1) The best interests of the Town.

(7) Determination and Findings Statement. When the award is
not given to the most responsive, responsible bidder, a Detennination &
Findings statement shall be prepared by the Chief Procurement Officer
and filed with the other papers relating to the transaction.

(8) Tie bids.

(a) If the detennination of lowest responsive,
responsible bidder results in a tie, the contract may be split when it
is to the Town's advantage as detennined by the Chief
Procurement Officer.

(b) If the Chief Procurement Officer detennines not to
split the bid, the contract shall be awarded by first preference to

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 12 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09_Procurement_C'odeREV I.doc

 
 

159 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

businesses with drug free workplace programs as described In
hereinbelow and then by publicly drawing lots.

(9) Prohibition against subdivision. No contract of purchase
shall be subdivided to avoid the requirements of this section.

(10) Inspection of bids. Inspection of the Town's formal bids
and proposals shall be conducted in accordance with applicable Florida
law, including §l 19.07 and §120.53, Florida Statutes, as said sections may
be amended from time to time.

E. Competitive Negotiations. When the use of competitive
bidding is not in the best interest of the Town for a purchase of, or contract
for, commodities and/or services estimated to cost in excess of twenty-five
thousand dollars ($25,000), such commodities and/or services may be
purchased by competitive negotiations. A request for proposals, or a
request for qualifications, or a request for letters of interest shall be issued.
Adequate public notice of the solicitation shall be given in the same
manner as provided in Section D above. Other procedural provisions
applicable to the sealed bid process shall also apply. To assure full
understanding of and responsiveness to the solicitation requirements and
full understanding of qualified proposals or offers, discussions may be
conducted with qualified proposers or offerors who submit responses
determined to be reasonably acceptable of being selected for award for the
purpose of clarification and to assure full understanding of, and
responsiveness to, the solicitation requirements. The respondents shall be
accorded fair and equal treatment with respect to any opportunity for
discussion and revision of responses, and such revisions may be permitted
through negotiations prior to award for the purpose of obtaining best and
final proposals or otTers. The award shall be made to the responsible
proposer or offeror whose proposal or offer is determined to be the most
advantageous to the Town taking into consideration price and the
evaluation factors set forth in the solicitation. No other criteria shall be
used in the evaluation. A summmy of the basis on which the award is
made shall be included in the contract file.

F. Award of Contract.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions fi'om existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 13 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09_Procurement_CodeREV l.doc

 
 

160 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

(1) Town Council approval.

(a) An initial purchase of, or contract for, commodities
or services, in excess of ten thousand dollars ($10,000), shall
require the approval of the Town Council, regardless of whether
the competitive bidding or competitive proposal procedures were
followed. However, emergency purchases as described in Section
C, shall not require advance Town Council approval. In such
emergency situations, the Town Manager may approve the
purchase or contract, subject to later ratification by the Town
Council. Emergency purchases are to be nlade only when the
normal function and operation of the Town would be hampered to
such an extent by submittal of a requisition in the usual manner
that it may effect the life, health or convenience of citizens.

(b) Purchases exceeding the sum of thi11y thousand
dollars ($30,000.00) in the aggregate shall not be purchased from
the same person or entity during the course of any fiscal year,
unless such purchases are first authorized by the Town Council.
The above provision shall not apply to purchases of utilities or to
ongoing contracts.

(2) Town Manager approval. A purchase of, or contract for,
commodities or services in an amount of twenty-five thousand dollars
($25,000) or less, shall require the approval of the Town Manager.

G. Town Attorney to review and approve form of purchasing
contracts.

The Town Attorney shall review all contracts awarded under this
Article of the Code and shall approve said contracts as to form prior to
their execution by the appropriate Town officials. Notwithstanding the
above, the Town Attorney, in his or her discretion, may approve form
contracts bearing a pre-printed Town Attorney approval, provided that the
provisions of the form contracts are not modified.

CODING: Words in strike tlli:ough type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 14 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_('odeREV I.doc

 
 

161 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

H. Debarment and suspensions.

0) Authority and requirement to debar and suspend. After
reasonable notice to an actual or prospective contractual party, and after
reasonable opportunity to such party to be heard, the Town Manager, after
consultation with the Town Attorney, shall have the authority to debar a
person or entity for the causes listed below from consideration for award
of town contracts. The debarment shall be for a period of not fewer than
three years. The Town Manager shall also have the authority to suspend a
contractor from consideration for award of town contracts, if there is
probable cause for debarment, pending the debarment determination. The
authority to debar and suspend contractors shall be exercised in
accordance with regulations that shall be issued by the Town Manager.

(2) Causes (or debarment or suspension.
debarment or suspension include the following:

Causes for

(a) Conviction of a criminal offense incident to
obtaining or attempting to obtain a public or private contract or
subcontract, or incident to the perforn1ance of such contract or
subcontract.

(b) Conviction under state or federal statutes of
embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction
of records, receiving stolen property, or any other offense
indicating a lack of business integrity or business honesty.

(c) Conviction under state or federal antitrust statutes
arising out of the submission of bids or proposals.

(d) Violation of the Town's contract provisions, which
is regarded by the Chief Procurement Officer to be indicative of
non-responsibility. Such violation may include failure without
good cause to perform in accordance with the terms and conditions
of a Town contract or to perform within the time limits provided in
the town contract, provided that failure to perform caused by acts

CODn~G: Words in strike tlli'ough type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 15 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09_Procurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

162 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

beyond the control of a paITI shall not be considered a basis for
debarment or suspension.

(e) Debarment or suspension of the person or entity by
any federal, state or other governmental entity.

(:0 False certification pursuant to paragraph (3) below.

(g) Any other cause judged by the Town Manager to be
so serious and compelling as to affect the responsibility of the
person or entity performing town contracts.

(3) Debarment and suspension decisions. Subject to the
provisions of paragraph (1), the Town Manager shall render a written
decision stating the reasons for the debarment or suspension. A copy of
the decision shall be provided promptly to the contractual party.

I. Availability of funds.

Except in cases of emergency, Town Manager or designee shall
not issue any order for delivery on a contract or any open-market order
unless and until the Town Manager, or his designee, certifies that there are
unencumbered funds available in the using agency's budget, in excess of
all unpaid obligations, to defray the cost of such commodities or services.

J. Open Market Procedure.

A purchase of, or contract for, commodities or services that is
estimated by the Chief Procurement Officer to cost one thousand dollars
($1,000) or less, may be purchased either in the open market, without
newspaper advertisement and without observing the procedures prescribed
by Section D above, or in accordance with the competitive bidding
procedure prescribed by Section D above, as deemed appropriate by the
Chief Procurement Officer. However, all such purchases of greater than
the estimated cost of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) but less than or
equal to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) shall require at least three (3)

quotations by telephone. For purchases of an estimated cost greater than

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 16 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

163 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) but less than twenty-five thousand
dollars shall require at least three (3) quotations in written form.

(1) Notice inviting quotations. When using the open market
procedure, the Chief Procurement Officer may solicit, or oversee the
solicitation of quotations by:

(a) Direct mail requests to prospective vendors;

(b) Telephone;

(c) Public notice;

(d) Facsimile;

(e) Internet

(2) Recording. The Chief Procurement Officer shall keep a
record of all open market orders and the bids submitted in competition
thereon and such records shall also be open to public inspection.

K. Inspection, Testing of Purchased Items or Services.

The Chief Procurement Officer shall inspect, or supervise the
inspection of, all deliveries of commodities or services to determine their
conformance with the specifications set forth in the order or contract.

(1) Inspection bv using agency. The Chief Procurement
Officer shall have the authority to authorize using agencies having the
staff and facilities for adequate inspection to inspect all deliveries made to
such using agencies under rules and regulations prescribed by the Chief
Procurement Officer.

(2) Testing. The Chief Procurement Officer shall have the
authority to require chemical and physical test of samples submitted with
bids and samples of deliveries which are necessary to detern1ine their
quality and conformance with the specifications. In the perfOlmance of
such tests the Chief Procurement Officer shall have the authority to make

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 17 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

164 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

use of laboratory facilities of any agency of the Town government or of
any outside laboratOlY.

L. Disposal Of.

(1) Disposal of property. The disposal of property requires
Town Council approval.

M. Change Orders.

(1) Town Manager's authoritv. Subject to the restrictions
contained in paragraph (2) below, the Town Manager is authorized to
approve and initial work on the following types of change orders
detennined in his/her judgment, to be in the public interest, as follows:

(a) All change orders decreasing the cost of the contract
to the Town that do not materially alter the character of the work
contemplated by the contract.

(b) A change order where the net change increases the
cost of the contract to the Town by an amount less than or equal to
five percent (5%).

(c) On a unit price contract, a change order consisting
of unit quantity increases at the unit price bid, which do not exceed
ten percent (100/0) of the original unit quantity for each line item.

(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1)

above, the Town Manager is not authorized to approve a change
order without authorization of the Town Council where the sum of
all change orders issued under the contract exceeds five percent
(50/0) of the original contract amount.

N.
Contracts.

Term, Termination, Extension and Renewal of

CODING:

(1) Term.

Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 18 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV l.doc

 
 

165 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

(a) Unless otherwise provided by law, a
contract for supplies or services may be entered into for any
time period deemed to be in the best interests of the Town
provided the extension, if any, are included in the
solicitation and funds are available for the first fiscal period
at the time of contracting. Payment and performance
obligations for future fiscal periods shall be subject to the
availability of funds.

(b) Price Adjustment. Contracts may be
awarded with provisions of upward or downward price
adjustments provided this allowance is part of the original
bid solicitation and the adjustments are based on a
nationally recognized or published index or other criteria
acceptable to the Chief Procurement Officer.

(2) Termination. The Town Manager or his/her designee is
authorized to terminate any contract entered into by the Town when (s)he
determines that a party to the contract has breached or failed to perform
one or more of its obligations under the contract. Except in the case of an
emergency, where such advance notice is not possible, or where the
contract was entered into without Town Council approval, the Town
Manager or his/her designee must provide sufficient prior written notice to
the Mayor and each Council Member so that they can make any necessary
inquiries at the next Town Council meeting. When a contract is entered
into by the Town pursuant to Town Council approval and is terminable by
the town without cause, only the Town Council is authorized to telminate
the contract without cause. If the Mayor or any Town Council Member
desires that a contract be terminated without cause, he/she shall notify the
Town Manager in writing and request that the item be placed on the next
Town Council agenda.

(3) Extensions. The Town Manager or hislher designee is
authorized to extend, for operational purposes only and for a maximum of
one hundred eighty (180) days, any contract entered into by the Town
pursuant to Town Council approval. Any further extensions of such
contract require the approval of the Town Council.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 19 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

166 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

(4) Renewals.

(a) General. When a contract is entered into by the
Town pursuant to Town Council approval and provides for one or more
renewals by affirmative action of the Town, the Town Manager may
approve such renewals only with the approval of the Town Council.

(b) Automatic. When a contract is entered into by the
Town pursuant to Town Council approval and provides for one or luore
automatic renewals unless one party notifies the other of its intent not to
renew, only the Town Council is authorized to decide not to renew the
contract.

(5) Employment contracts. The provisions of this section shall
not apply to the employment contract of the Town Manager.

(6) Application to existing and (ilture contracts. The provisions
of this section shall apply to every contract in existence on the effective
date of this section and every contract entered into thereafter.

O.
Programs.

Preference to Businesses with Drug-Free Workplace

(1) The Town hereby adopts by reference §287.087, Florida
Statutes, as amended, regarding bidding preferences for businesses with
drug-free workplace programs.

(2) Whenever two (2) or more bids which are equal with
respect to price, quality and service are received by the town for the
procurement of commodities or services, a bid received from a business
that certifies that it has implemented a drug-free workplace program shall
be given a preference, provided that the dlug-free workplace program
complies with §287.087, Florida Statutes, and any other applicable state
law. An announcement of this preference may be included in the bid
documents.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions fl.·om existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 20 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV 1.doc

 
 

167 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

P. Non-Discrinlination.

Vendor shall not discriminate against any person in its operations,
activities or delivery of services. Vendor shall affitmatively comply with
all applicable provisions of federal, state and local equal employment laws
and shall not engage in or commit any discriminatory practice against any
person based on race, age, religion, color, gender, sexual orientation,
national origin, marital status, physical or mental disability, political
affiliation or any other factor which cannot be lawfully used as a basis for
service delivelY.

Q. Non-Collusion.

A Bidder shall not collude, conspire, connive or agree, directly or
indirectly, with any other Bidder, film, or person to submit a collusive or
sham Bid in connection with the Work for which the Bid has been
submitted; or to refrain from bidding in connection with such work; or
have in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by person to fix the
price or prices in the Bid or of any other Bidder, or to fix any overhead,
profit, or cost elements of the Bid price or the Bid price of any other
Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or
unlawful agreement any advantage against any other Bidder, or any person
interested in the proposed work.

Section 3. It is the intention of the Town Council of the Town of

Loxahatchee Groves, Florida that the provisions of this ordinance shall become and be

made a part of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves Code of Ordinances. The sections of

this ordinance may be renumbered or relettered and the word "ordinance" may be

changed to "section," "article," or such other appropriate word or phrase in order to

accomplish such intentions.

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 21 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09_Procurement_CodeREVl.doc

 
 

168 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



Section 4.

ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

All ordinances inconsistent or in conflict herewith shall be and

are hereby repealed insofar as there is conflict or inconsistency.

Section 5. If any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance is

held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said

holding shall in no way affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.

Section 6. This ordinance shall become effective upon its passage and

adoption by the Town Council.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF

LOXAIIAN:~~rS'FLORIDA ON THE FIRST READING THIS JJi"I
DAY OF· , 2008.

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
L010\HATCHEE GROV~, F.LORIDA ON THE SECOND READING THIS
~DAYOF ~ecenve( ,2008.

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,
FLORIDA

ATTEST:

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:

\~\ ~lf)I\) ~ .
Mayor David Browning ~

2~~~Vice M or Herzog

~
Council Member Autrey

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 22 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09 Procurement CodeREVl.doc

- -

 
 

169 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



ORDINANCE NO. 2008-09

M~ (~nA-- ;~em-b----l-er~~/-
Office of the Town Attorney

CODING: Words in strike through type are deletions from existing law;
Words in underlined type are additions.

Page 23 of23

DNT:js 10.27.08
F:\2008-09]rocurement_CodeREV I.doc

 
 

170 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT ‘B’ 
 

Interlocal Local Ageement with Palm Beach County Solid Waste Authority  
Designed SWA Facility 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

171 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

172 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

173 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

174 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

175 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

176 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

177 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

178 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

179 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

180 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 

 
 

EXHIBIT ‘C’ 
 

Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Franchise Agreement 
 Waste Pro of Florida 

 

 
 

181 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

182 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

183 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

184 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

185 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

186 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

187 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

188 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

189 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

190 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

191 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

192 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

193 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

194 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

195 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

196 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

197 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

198 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

199 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

200 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

201 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

202 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

203 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

204 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

205 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

206 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

207 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

208 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

209 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

210 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

211 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

212 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

213 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

214 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

215 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

216 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

217 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

218 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

219 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

220 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

221 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

222 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

223 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

224 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

225 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

226 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

227 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

228 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

229 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

230 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

231 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

232 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

233 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

234 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

235 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



wasteprousa.com

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES
BID NO: 2013-002

Solid Waste and Recycling Collection Services

Town Clerk's Office
14579 Southern Boulevard, Suite 2

Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470

Bid Submission Deadline: June 26, 2013 at 2:00 p.m.

WASTE PRO
 Caring For Our Communities

®
®

 
 

236 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

237 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

238 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

239 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

240 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

241 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

242 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

243 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

244 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

245 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

246 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

247 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

248 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

249 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

250 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

251 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

252 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

253 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

254 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

255 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

256 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

257 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

258 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

259 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

260 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

261 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

262 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

263 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

264 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

265 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

266 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

267 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

268 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

269 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

270 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

271 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

272 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

273 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

274 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

275 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

276 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

277 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

278 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

279 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

280 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

281 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

282 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

283 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

284 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

285 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

286 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

287 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

288 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

289 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

290 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

291 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

292 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

293 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

294 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

295 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

296 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

297 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

298 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

299 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

300 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

301 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

302 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

303 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

304 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

305 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

306 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

307 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

308 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

309 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

310 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

311 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

312 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

313 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

314 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

315 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

316 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

317 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

318 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

319 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

320 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

321 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

322 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

323 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

324 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

325 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

326 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

327 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

328 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

329 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

330 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

331 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

332 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

333 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

334 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

335 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

336 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

337 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

338 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

339 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

340 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

341 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

342 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

343 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

344 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

345 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

346 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

347 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

348 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

349 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

350 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



 
 

351 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13



wasteprousa.com

Waste Pro of Florida, Inc.
411 Tall Pines Road

West Palm Beach, Florida 33413
561-688-8912

WASTE PRO
 Caring For Our Communities

®
®

 
 

352 of 352  TC Agenda Packet 8-20-13


	Item 2.a. Revised Minutes for Approval - July 16, 2013
	  Item 10.a.  Golf Carts and Dune Buggies
	Item 10.b. - E-mail from Hart Woods
	Item 11.a. Clarification of Valley Crest Development Matter
	Item 11.b. Solid Waste Collection Agreement



